# EVALUATING ENERGY UTILIZATION IN SOME SELECTED NON-CONVENTIONAL FEED INGREDIENTS FOR BROILER CHICKENS AND PIGS

by

**Opeadura Timileyin Osunbami** 

A Thesis

Submitted to the Faculty of Purdue University In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the degree of

**Master of Science** 



Department of Animal Sciences West Lafayette, Indiana December 2021

# THE PURDUE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL STATEMENT OF COMMITTEE APPROVAL

## Dr. Olayiwola Adeola, Chair

Department of Animal Sciences

## **Dr. Brian Richert**

Department of Animal Sciences

## Dr. Darrin Karcher

Department of Animal Sciences

## Approved by:

Dr. Zoltan Machaty

Dedicated to God and my family

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to appreciate God almighty who is the author and the finisher of all things, and He has remained faithful throughout the pursuit of my Master's degree program. I would also like to direct my heartfelt appreciation to my advisor, Dr. Olayiwola Adeola, for his immense support towards me right from the day I joined his laboratory to study at Purdue University. I am thankful for his mentorship, dedication, time investment, and for his disciplined lifestyle which has inspired me throughout these past years. I would also like to appreciate my committee members: Dr. Brian Richert and Dr. Darrin Karcher for their encouragement, contributions, comments and help in correcting my thesis work.

I also use this opportunity to appreciate all members of the Adeola Lab, both the graduate students, post-doctoral fellow, and our lab manager, for their physical and intellectual contribution throughout the execution of all my research work. I appreciate Pat Jaynes for her technical support both at the farm and in the lab with analyzing samples. I am always swayed by her constant agility. I appreciate Dr. Chan Sol Park who is a current post-doctoral fellow in the lab. I also appreciate my current lab mates; Ayodeji Aderibigbe, Olufemi Babatunde, Jing Yuan, Abidemi Adekoya, Sakkariya Nalukudy Paramba, Alagbe Emmanuel, Jung Sung, Tanner Wise and Vitor Santos Haetinger, and past lab member; Dr. Saheed Osho for all their assistance during my program, for in them I have gained friendship and they all indeed rocked my world. I appreciate all animal sciences staff, including the feed mill staff, poultry and swine unit crews for without whom I would not have been able to complete my research. I also want to say a big thank you to Paul Oladele, Ifejesutobi Ogunribido, Eunice Centeno Martinez and Yuechi Fu, for you all have been good departmental friends.

I say a big thank you to all members of the African Christian Fellowship, Upper Room Christian Fellowship, Nigerian Student Association at Purdue, and other friends from various parts of the world, you all made my experience at Purdue University and West Lafayette a diverse one.

Finally, I want to specially say thank you to my ever-supporting parents and siblings. Thank you for your ceaseless labor in prayers and moral support. Your galvanizing words have carried me through, and I am grateful being the last child of the family. I have leaned on your shoulders all through the years and you have all exemplified what it means to labor in grace. I also want to thank my fiancé, Olasunkanmi. Thank you for the love, encouragement, and perseverance. I hope I have made you all proud.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	9		
ABBREVIATIONS	11		
ABSTRACT			
CHAPTER 1. LITERATURE REVIEW	16		
1.1 Introduction			
1.2 Energy as a feed component: what it supplies and its importance			
1.3 Major energy supplying feedstuffs			
1.3.1 Fat as energy source			
1.3.2 Protein as energy source			
1.3.3 Carbohydrates as energy source			
1.4 Factors affecting dietary energy utilization and deposition			
1.4.1 Environmental condition of raising animals			
1.4.2 Age and physiological state of animal			
1.4.3 Nutritional factors			
1.4.4 Species of animal			
1.5 Energy evaluation system			
1.5.1 Digestible energy			
1.5.2 Metabolizable energy			
1.5.3 Net energy			
1.6 Energy evaluation methodology			
1.7 Lesser-known energy feedstuffs for chicken and pig diets			
1.7.1 Dry fat			
1.7.2 Stabilized rice bran			
1.7.3 Hydrolyzed feather meal			
1.7.4 Flash dried poultry protein			
1.7.5 Black soldier fly larvae meal			
1.8 Summary			
1.9 Objective			
1.10 Literature Cited			

	TER 2. ENERGY VALUE OF DRY FAT AND STABILIZED RICE B		
2.1	Abstract		
2.2	Introduction		
2.3	Materials And Methods	51	
2	2.3.1 Bird management, experimental design, and diets	51	
2.3.2 Sample collection and chemical analysis			
2.3.3 Calculations and statistical analysis			
2.4	Result	53	
2.5	Discussion	54	
2.6	Literature Cited	57	
	TER 3. ENERGY VALUE OF HYDROLYZED FEATHER MEAL AND FLAS		
	TRY PROTEIN FOR BROILER CHICKENS AND PIGS		
3.1	Abstract		
3.2	Introduction		
3.3	Materials and Methods		
	3.3.1 Animal management, experimental design, and diets		
	3.3.2 Chemical Analysis		
3.3.3 Calculations and Statistical Analysis			
3.4	Results		
3.5	Discussion		
3.6	Literature Cited		
CHAPTER 4. ENERGY VALUE OF BLACK SOLDIER FLY LARVAE MEAL FOR BROILER CHICKENS AND PIGS			
4.1	Abstract		
4.2	Introduction		
4.3	Materials and Methods		
4	.3.1 Animal management, experimental design, and diets		
4	3.2 Chemical Analysis		
4	.3.3 Calculations and Statistical Analysis		
4.4	Results		
4.5	Discussion		
4.6	Literature Cited		

CHAPTER 5. SUMMARY		
5.1	Summary	
5.2	Literature Cited	
VITA		115

## LIST OF TABLES

<b>Table 2-1</b> . Analyzed chemical composition of test ingredients, on an as fed basis.       62
Table 2-2. Ingredient composition, calculated composition and analyzed composition of diets. 63
<b>Table 2-3.</b> Ileal digestibility and metabolizability of DM and gross energy of chickens fed diets containing dry fat and stabilized rice bran from d 17 to 22 post hatching in Exp. 1 and 2
<b>Table 3-1.</b> Ingredient composition, calculated composition, and analyzed composition of diets in Exp. 1, 2 and 3         81
<b>Table 3-2.</b> Proximate composition of hydrolyzed feather meal (HFM) and flash-dried poultry protein (FDPP)       83
<b>Table 3-3.</b> Growth performance, ileal digestibility and total tract retention of DM, nitrogen, andgross energy of chickens fed diets containing hydrolyzed feather meal (HFM) from d 18 to 23 posthatching, Exp. 1
<b>Table 3-4.</b> Growth performance, ileal digestibility and total tract retention of DM, nitrogen, andgross energy of chickens fed diets containing flash-dried poultry protein (FDPP) from d 17 to 22post hatching, Exp. 2
<b>Table 3-5.</b> Apparent total tract digestibility (ATTD) and metabolizability of gross energy in pigs fed diets containing hydrolyzed feather meal (HFM) and flash-dried poultry protein (FDPP) in Exp. 3 <sup>1</sup>
<b>Table 3-6</b> . Regression equations relating test ingredient-associated gross energy intake (kcal/kg) to test ingredient intake (g/kg DM) using hydrolyzed feather meal (HFM) in Exp. 1 and flash-dried poultry protein (FDPP) in Exp. 2. and the digestible and metabolizable energy in HFM and FDPP in Exp. 3
Table 4-1. Ingredient composition, calculated, and analyzed composition of experimental diets used in Exp. 1 and 2
<b>Table 4-2.</b> Proximate composition of the black soldier fly larvae meal (BSFLM)
<b>Table 4-3.</b> Growth performance, ileal digestibility and metabolizability of DM, nitrogen, and grossenergy of chickens fed diets containing black soldier fly larvae meal (BSFLM) from d 16 to 21post hatching (Exp. 1).107
<b>Table 4-4.</b> Digestibility and metabolizability of GE in experimental diets fed to pigs evaluated using total collection method (Exp. 2).       108
<b>Table 4-5</b> . Apparent total tract digestibility (ATTD) estimated with various methods and marker recovery in experimental diets fed to growing pigs (Exp. 2)
Table 4-6. Digestibility parameters expressed as a relative percentage to total collection method <sup>1</sup> (Exp. 2)       110

Table 4-7. Regression equations relating test ingredient-associated gross energy intake (kcal/kg)
to test ingredient intake (g/kg DM) using black soldier fly larvae meal (BSFLM) in Exp. 1 and 2.

## ABBREVIATIONS

AMEn	Nitrogen-corrected Apparent metabolizable energy
ATTD	Apparent total tract digestibility
BSF	Black soldier fly
BSFLM	Black soldier fly larvae meal
BW	Body weight
DE	Digestible energy
DF	Dry fat
DM	Dry matter
DMIti	Dry matter intake of test ingredient
Cr	chromium index method
Exp.	Experiment
FDPP	Flash-dried poultry protein
FHP	Fasting heat production
FI	Feed intake
G:F	Gain to feed ratio
GE	Gross energy
HFM	Hydrolyzed feather meal
HI	Heat increment
IDE	Ileal digestible energy
NE	Net energy
NSP	Non-starch polysaccharide
ME	Metabolizable energy
MEn	Nitrogen-corrected metabolizable energy
RCBD	Randomized complete block design
RD	Reference diet
RQ	Respiratory quotient
SBM	Soybean meal

SBO	Soybean oil
SCFA	Short-chain fatty acids
SRB	Stabilized rice bran
TMEn	Nitrogen-corrected true metabolizable energy
TTR	Total tract retention
TC	Total collection method
Ti	Titanium index method

### ABSTRACT

The objective of this thesis was to evaluate energy utilization in some selected nonconventional feed ingredient for broiler chickens and pigs. Three studies were carried out to evaluate this objective. All studies employed the randomized complete block design with 8 replicates.

Study 1 evaluated the ileal digestible energy (IDE), metabolizable energy (ME) and nitrogen-corrected ME (MEn) of 2 feed ingredients which included dry fat (DF) and stabilized rice bran (SRB) with broiler chickens using the regression method in 2 experiments. Chickens were fed a common broiler chicken starter diet from d 0 to 17 and experimental diets from d 17 to 22 post hatching. Three diets were prepared: a corn-soybean meal reference diet (RD) and two test diets containing either DF at 50 or 100 g/kg replacement in experiment (Exp.) 1 or SRB at 100 or 200 g/kg replacement (Exp. 2) of the energy-contributing ingredients in the RD. In each Exp., 192 chickens were randomly allocated to one of three dietary treatments. In Exp.1, the IDE, ME, and MEn linearly increased (P<0.001) as DF concentrations increased, while in Experiment 2, the IDE, ME, and MEn of the diets were not affected by dietary supplemental SRB. The regression-derived IDE concentration for DF and SRB were 6,047 and 3,556 kcal/kg DM, respectively. The respective ME and MEn estimates (kcal/kg DM) were 6,051 and 5,922 for DF; 3,437 and 3,193 for SRB. The results from this study showed that broiler chickens utilized between 77 to 79% and 68 to 76% of the gross energy (GE) in DF and SRB, respectively, and this suggested a strong potential for these ingredients as dietary energy sources for broiler chickens.

In Study 2, three experiments were conducted to evaluate the IDE, ME, and MEn of hydrolyzed feather meal (HFM) and flash-dried poultry protein (FDPP) with broiler chickens and to determine the digestible energy (DE) and ME of HFM and FDPP for pigs. The HFM or FDPP were incorporated into a reference diet either at 3 levels (0, 75, or 150 g/kg) in Exp. 1 and 2, or 2 levels (0 or 150 g/kg) in Exp. 3 by replacing the energy-yielding ingredients. In Exp. 1, the inclusion of HFM, linearly decreased (P < 0.05) the nitrogen corrected metabolizability although, the ME concentration in the diets were linearly increased (P < 0.05). In Exp. 2, a linear decrease was observed on the ileal digestibility of DM and energy (P < 0.05). It was also observed that the total tract retention (TTR) of DM and energy linearly increased (P < 0.05). Similarly, the ME and MEn concentration linearly increased with a *P*-value of < 0.001 and < 0.01, respectively. In Exp.

3, the dietary treatments significantly increased (P < 0.05) the fecal energy loss. Diet substituted with HFM had significantly higher (P < 0.001) urinary GE loss than the RD. The TTR of GE in the RD was significantly higher than those in the test diet containing 150 g/kg of HFM. The respective IDE, ME, and MEn evaluated for HFM in the current study were 4,509, 4,250, and 3745 kcal/kg DM with corresponding values of 3,221, 4,710, and 4,081 kcal/kg DM for FDPP when fed to broiler chickens. In pigs, the respective DE and ME evaluated for HFM were 4,783 and 4,405 kcal/kg DM while estimates for FDPP were 4,553 and 4,320 kcal/kg DM, respectively.

In Study 3, energy value of partially defatted black soldier fly larvae meal (BSFLM) was determined in 2 experiments with broiler chickens and growing pigs. The Exp. 1 was conducted to evaluate IDE, ME, and MEn of BSFLM with broiler chickens while Exp. 2 was conducted to evaluate the digestible energy (DE) and ME of BSFLM in growing pigs. Total collection (TC) and two index methods using either titanium dioxide (Ti) or chromium oxide (Cr) were compared. In Exp 1 and 2, three diets were prepared: a corn-soybean meal reference diet (RD) and two test diets containing BSFLM at either 100 or 200 g/kg replacement of the energy-contributing ingredients in the RD. In Exp. 1, a linear increase (P < 0.05) was observed in the IDE concentration of the diet. With increasing BSFLM, a quadratic and linear increase (P < 0.05) was also observed on the ME and MEn concentration in the diet, respectively. The regression-derived IDE, ME, and MEn concentration in BSFLM were 4,517, 4,725, and 4,238 kcal/kg DM when fed to broiler chickens. In Exp. 2, the inclusion of BSFLM resulted in linear decrease in DM digestibility and linear increase in dietary DE concentration (P < 0.05). The metabolizability of GE linearly decreased (P < 0.05) while the ME concentration quadratically increased with the increasing inclusion of BSFLM in the diet. In pigs, the regression-derived DE estimates with TC, Ti index marker, and Cr index marker were 5,010, 4,907, and 4,927 kcal/kg, respectively. The ME derived using the TC method was 4,711 kcal/kg. The result from this study is interpreted to suggest BSFLM as a potential energy feed ingredient for inclusion in diets for broiler chickens and pigs.

In summary, we could conclude that DF can be added to the list of fat source while SRB is a potential fiber source in broiler chicken diets. Also, HFM, FDPP, and partially defatted BSFLM are all potential energy sources which should be added to the list of protein sources for broiler chickens and pigs. Generally, there is a need for an overhauling of feed ingredients termed as conventional, those alternative feed ingredients that are also readily and constantly available for livestock feeding should be driven and sensitized to farmers for consideration as conventional feed ingredient.

### CHAPTER 1. LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 1.1 Introduction

World population has been predicted to grow over 9 billion people by 2050 causing the world to produce 70% more food (FAO, 2009). A direct impact of this is that livestock production especially poultry and swine will grow exponentially reaching up to double the current production. (Schiavone et al., 2018). Hence, the animal production industry is presented with the challenge to develop innovative methods that are focused to meet future environmental and economic needs (Barragan-Fonseca et al., 2017). One of the ways through which global animal scientist could combat this onus is to broaden the scope of what is acceptable as conventional feed ingredient, most importantly are those feed ingredients that are characterized to supply dietary energy. This is because animal feed is the single most expensive input in commercial livestock production, and it contributes about 50 to 70% of the total cost of production (Lawrence et al., 2008; Velayudhan et al., 2015; Alqaisi et al., 2017). Interestingly, in the United States, about 50 to 85% of the ingredients in typical swine rations are carbohydrates from cereal grains while protein contributes 15 to 20% of the total energy in the diet (Myer and Brendemuhl, 2014). This indicates that a large part of the cost of feed goes to energy contributing ingredients, thus more emphasis needs to be placed on sustainable, alternative, and novel dietary energy feedstuffs.

Dietary energy content could modulate feed efficiency via two partially dependent pathways: Firstly, as dietary energy increases, decreasing feed intake is observed, this is because animals will only eat to their energy satisfaction (Nyachoti et al., 2004; Jeffre et al., 2010). Secondly, growth rate is promoted by increasing dietary energy level (Waldroup, 1981; Plavnik et al., 1997), given that no other nutrient is limiting. For efficient monogastric production, it is therefore imperative that diets are formulated to match dietary energy supply with energy requirements for maintenance and productive functions. Hence, there are two goals to be achieved in modern monogastric production, which are efficient and sustainable production. To jointly achieve these goals while holding the world population growth in view, it is critical that the energy values of those alternative feed ingredients are precisely determined, and that the energy system that best suit the energy needs of each species are used.

For several years, many studies on nutrient digestion, partition and utilization have been conducted with growing pigs and broiler chickens providing a basis for establishing nutritional requirements under a variety of external and internal conditions (Cerniglia, 1981; Chwalibog et al., 2005). However, with progressive changes in animal production and emergence of new feed ingredients, there is still a need for continuous update on nutritional knowledge such as energy determination studies by means of animal experimentation.

#### **1.2** Energy as a feed component: what it supplies and its importance

Energy is required to fuel body processes such as metabolic processes, physiological functions, muscular activity, heat production, growth, and synthesis of new tissues (Kil et al., 2013). It is released from feed components by oxidation. The main sources of energy in animal feed are carbohydrates, proteins, and fats. The nutrients that provide energy are commonly referred to as macronutrients (Collin et al., 2003, Swennen et al., 2005, 2007). Carbohydrates and proteins provide a similar amount of energy per gram of feed. Lipids are a concentrated source of energy and provide almost twice the amount of energy than those supplied by proteins and carbohydrates. The average amount of energy released ranges from approximately 4 kcal/g for carbohydrates or protein to 9 kcal/g for fats (FAO: WHO: UNU 2004). Dietary energy is aimed to supply adenosine triphosphate (ATP) needed for maintenance and production (Emmans, 1999; Rijnen et al., 2004), which is the molecular form in which energy is stored in animal cells (El Bacha et al., 2010).

#### **1.3** Major energy supplying feedstuffs

There is a basic criterion for a feed ingredient to be classified as fat, protein, and carbohydrate source. De Groote (1974) employed a simplified net energy (NE) system to classify feed ingredients into categories depending on the crude protein, crude fat, starch, and sugar content. Feed ingredients with NE:ME ratio averaging 0.63 were classified as Protein-containing ingredients, cereals had values around 0.73 while fats and oils had values averaging at 0.90. Plavnik et al. (1997) stated that differences exist at the metabolic level when carbohydrates, fat, and protein are used as energy sources. Some of these attributed differences are discussed below.

#### **1.3.1** Fat as energy source

Fat is often added to diets to increase the dietary energy density and total energy intake (Haddad and Younis, 2004). Diets supplemented with a higher fat content has a positive effect on energy utilization as well as on metabolizable energy intake (Mateos and Sell, 1980). This effect is because of the better metabolizability of fat when compared to proteins, and fat also has longer transition time through the digestive tract (Swennen et al., 2004). There are instances when fat supplements become the least-cost source of energy and when high usage levels may be justifiable (Waldroup, 1981). Less energy is produced as heat when energy in the body is derived from dietary fat as opposed to energy from the conversion of excess dietary protein (Emmans, 1994; Gous, 2010). Since fats have a lower heat increment than proteins and carbohydrates, it has been suggested that under extreme heat stress conditions, a greater portion of the dietary energy for broiler chickens should be supplied by supplemental fats especially through vegetable fat sources (Bonnet et al., 1997). Moreover, because broiler breeders have been reported to produce more heat at the end of production phase due to additional energy required to maintain the higher body weight achieved at the end of production, it has been observed that this phenomenon causes hens to resort to using fat calories to alleviate such physiological condition as this can be inferred through an observed decline in fat tissue during this phase. (Salas et al., 2017; Caldas et al., 2018). It has also been theoretically established that the lower heat increment of fat causes an extra caloric effect which is linked to an improved utilization of metabolizable energy calories (Touchburn and Naber, 1966; Jensen et al., 1970).

#### **1.3.2** Protein as energy source

Feeding a high protein diet encourages lean meat production but, in most cases, this is not a cost-effective option as it is well known that protein-rich feed ingredients are generally more expensive. Utilization of protein as a source of energy involves more complex metabolic pathways and a higher metabolic rate. One of the implications of this higher metabolic rate can be observed through protein respiratory quotient (RQ) value. The RQ is defined as the ratio between the volume of carbon dioxide produced by an animal and the volume of oxygen used (Chepete, 2004). The RQ value for protein oxidation is known to be higher than that of fat; 0.74 and 0.71 is the respective average value reported for protein and fat especially in uricotelic animals (MacLean and Tobin, 1987; Walsberg and Wolf, 1995). Dietary protein and amino acids contents act as significant contributors to total heat production (THP) compared to other dietary nutrients (Teeter et al., 1996). MacLeod (1997) observed that body protein turn-over increased after a higher intake of lysine; a first-limiting amino acid in broiler chickens, and this resulted in greater THP which was also closely correlated with protein accretion in broiler chickens.

#### **1.3.3** Carbohydrates as energy source

Carbohydrates serve as the main energy source in the diet of monogastric species, with additional role of serving as biomaterial building blocks (Chang, 2012). Not only do carbohydrates serve as energy source but the concentration, type, and source of carbohydrate fractions in the diet could affect the balance of the gut microbiota, manipulate intestinal absorptive function, and immune response in monogastric animals (Cummings, 1981; Knudsen et al., 2017). Carbohydrates are majorly classified into monosaccharides, disaccharides, oligosaccharides, and polysaccharides. In terms of its abundance, starch is second to cellulose polysaccharide synthesized by plants and is the primary source of energy for many monogastric species (Choct and Kocher, 2000). Although, it has recently been shown by Baéza et al. (2015) that meat-type chickens are prone to adapt to dietary starch substitution with fat and fiber. Other polymeric carbohydrates such as non-starch polysaccharides (NSP) and resistant starch also play beneficial roles in animal nutrition (Slominski et al., 1994). The fermentative breakdown of NSP leads to the production of metabolites such as short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) and this could contribute up to 24% of the dietary energy in pigs and about 3% in broiler chickens (Choct and Kocher, 2000; Adebowale et al., 2019).

#### **1.4** Factors affecting dietary energy utilization and deposition

Energy deposition can be defined as the net difference between energy intake and expenditure and is controlled by multiple regulatory mechanisms (Swennen et al., 2004). Utilization rate of energy-yielding feedstuffs could be dependent on age or physiological stage of the animal, species of animal, the environmental condition of raising the animal, and nutritional factors such as diet quality and composition. These factors could significantly impact energy digestibility and metabolizability (Bakker and Jongbloed, 1994; Rijnen, 2003).

#### **1.4.1** Environmental condition of raising animals

Zootechnical performances are not only dependent on genetics, but they are also greatly affected by the environment, one of which is climatic condition (Gregory, 2010; Babinszky et al., 2011). It is well documented that poultry of different breeds respond differently to climatic variation and the interactions between genetics and environment in a specific geographic location may affect broiler chicken growth performance (Alade and Ademola, 2013; Okere, 2014). During extreme cold or hot weather, livestock can adapt and develop coping mechanisms. In hot weather, drastic reduction in feed intake has been observed (Austic, 1985; Howlider and Rose, 1987), which affects metabolism and results in reduced growth response (Quinteiro-Filho et al., 2010). Also, protein digestion is hindered during adverse heat stress, thereby resulting in low feed intake (Larbier et al., 1993). Oshi et al. (2017) and Quinteiro-Filho et al. (2010) explained that heat stress increases corticosterone which is the main glucocorticoid that manipulates metabolism via regulation of energy intake during stress conditions in broiler chickens.

On the other hand, during extremely cold temperatures, chickens can increase their body temperature. Consequently, chickens use much of the dietary energy to warm their body, therefore, diverting feed energy from growth (Oshi et al., 2017). Likewise, ambient temperature is a major factor that manipulates the maintenance energy requirements in pigs. Van Milgen and Noblet (2000) reported that the fasting heat production (FHP) of growing pigs are 16% lesser at 33°C than at 23°C, in the same manner, Close (1996) stated that pigs have 4% greater energy requirement for maintenance for each 1°C reduction of the temperature when they are kept below the lower critical temperature. This is due to a demand to increase heat production for maintaining body temperature. Contrary to broiler chickens, hot temperatures seem to have little impact on the energy requirement for maintenance in pigs (Black, 1995; Giles et al., 1998).

Another example of such environmental conditions is the animal housing. Gomez et al. (2000) reported a trend for higher digestibility of dietary energy when growing gilts were individually housed compared to group-housed growing pigs and explained that the reason why this trend was observed is due to the increased competition for feed within group-housed gilts. This competition for feed will stimulate a higher rate of feed intake, and this will consequently increase the rate of digesta passage through the gut while reducing the mean retention time resulting in a decrease exposure of digesta to digestive secretions (Metz and Dekker, 1985), hence,

the lower digestibility of dietary energy in group-housed pigs. Similarly, Rijnen (2003) reported that energy digestibility was 2.0 percentage units lower in group-housed pigs than in pigs that were contained in metabolism crates, while metabolizability was 3.7 percentage units lower. The digestive utilization of two macronutrients, protein and fat, were influenced by housing conditions (Rijnen, 2003), which could also be attributed to an increase in digesta passage rate and greater heat production caused by physical activity in group housed pigs (van Milgen and Noblet, 2000).

#### **1.4.2** Age and physiological state of animal

Metabolic patterns for energy utilization changes as an animal matures (Barzegar et al., 2020). It has been well-reported that adult poultry such as broiler chickens, layers, and turkeys utilize the energy of feedstuffs to a greater extent with less variation than growing ones (Svihus and Gullord, 2002; Cozannet et al., 2010). Some researchers reported that at 43 weeks of age, laying birds majorly oxidize fat or protein to meet the requirement for energy when compared to the beginning of their production when energy is mostly provided through carbohydrates (Choct, 2004; Caldas et al., 2018). Also, Salas et al. (2017) found that the broiler breeder uses glucose for egg lipogenesis at the beginning of production while dietary fat is mostly used for egg lipogenesis at the end of production.

Sulistiyanto et al. (1999) reported lower availability of dietary energy at 1 and/or 3 d than at 10 d after hatching when either carbohydrate, protein, or fat was fed as sole energy-yielding source to broiler chicks. The same changes were observed for total metabolizable energy values obtained in chicks fed a formulated diet (Murakami et al., 1995; Akiba et al., 1993). The age effect was attributed to the underdeveloped digestive enzyme activity (Nitsan et al. 1991b; Akiba and Murakami, 1995) and gastrointestinal function (Nitsan et al., 1991; Noy and Sklan, 1997; Pluske et al., 2003) up to 10 d post-hatch. Interestingly, no significant age-dependency was observed in metabolizability of fat sources in chicks from age 1 to 10 days (Sulistiyanto et al., 1999) which contradicts the findings that lipase activity is low during the first few days post-hatch in chicks (Nitsan et al., 1991; Akiba and Murakami, 1995). Plavnik et al. (1997) suggested that the regulation of energy intake by broiler chicks and turkey poults are not effective due to the immature digestive capabilities especially in their first week of life. Le Goff and Noblet (2001) suggested that increases in energy digestibility with stage of maturity can be attributed largely to an increased utilization of dietary fat and fiber and increased capacity for fermentation in adult sows when compared to growing pigs. Also, dietary fiber was more pronounced in reducing energy digestibility in growing pigs than in adult sows. In the same vein, Choct et al. (2010) reported that the digestibility of NSP increases with the age of animals, since grower and finisher pigs utilize dietary fiber better than young pigs.

#### **1.4.3** Nutritional factors

The composition and quality of diets formulated for livestock could be of enormous influence on how dietary energy is utilized. The ratio between macronutrients (protein, lipid, and carbohydrate) has a major impact on livestock live performance (Buyse et al., 1992; Bregendahl et al., 2002; Collin et al., 2003; Swennen et al., 2007). Changing the concentration of one macronutrient in the diet varies the level of the other macronutrients, thereby any effect observed cannot be attributed to a particular macronutrient (Buyse et al., 2001). Some studies with broiler chickens often manipulate diets by replacing one macronutrient by another macronutrient, while the third macronutrient level is maintained (Swennen et al., 2004, 2005). This paired substitution assumes that the effect of the macronutrient on dietary energy content can be isolated, allowing a precise investigation of its effect on bird performance (Buyse et al., 2001; Hada et al., 2001). Meanwhile, few studies such as Swennen et al. (2010) have aimed to investigate the influence of isoenergetic substitution between the three energy delivering macronutrients in broiler chickens pre-starter diets on performance and intermediary nutrient metabolism. Furthermore, dietary fiber is considered a diluting factor in animal diets due to their ability to reduce fecal and ileal digestibility (Yin et al., 2000). The result of Le Goff and Noblet, (2001) indicated that energy digestibility in growing pigs was reduced by approximately one percentage point for every 1% additional neutral detergent fiber in the diet. To sustain production traits such as growth or breast muscle weight, fiber-rich diets can be maintained by adding fat sources such as vegetable oils (Désert et al., 2018).

#### **1.4.4** Species of animal

There is a large difference in the energy utilization in pigs and poultry, this is commonly attributed to the difference in the gastrointestinal tract of the two species. In general, pigs are

known to better utilize energy in a feedstuff due to the larger fermentative capacity in the large intestine and a longer digesta transit time (Choct and Cadogan, 2001). In fact, an interaction between animal species and type of diet could result in significantly different utilizable energy profile for the same feed ingredient; for example, when fiber-rich diet are fed to both pigs and chickens, a large portion of NSP is digested by the large intestine microflora in the pig while the capacity of the gut microflora in the chicken is simply limited in digesting large amounts of NSP within the short transit time of the digesta (Choct et al., 2010) in the relatively shorter ceca. Also, since digestion of feed is jointly achieved by enzymes, chemical (such as acid in the stomach of pigs and crop of chickens) and microbial degradation, the stomach compartment in pigs is larger when compared to chickens' crop and this creates wider surface area for acid digestion thereby contributing to pig's ability to better utilize feed component than poultry (Choct and Cadogan, 2001; Choct et al., 2010).

#### **1.5** Energy evaluation system

One of the important decisions to be made in feeding livestock is to determine the level of energy that optimizes growth, carcass quality, and efficiency of feed utilization with profitability of production (Waldroup, 1981). An energy system can be referred to as a method for predicting the energy value of either compound feeds or single ingredients as it relates to a given type of animal. The purpose of an energy system is to describe the energy available in the feed for maintenance, growth, and for a given level of performance (Gous, 2010; Noblet et al., 2010). In compound feeds, the calculation of most energy evaluation systems assumes additivity of the contributions by carbohydrates, fats, and proteins (NRC, 1998). Meanwhile, gross energy (GE) cannot be regarded as an evaluation system, but it is the basis for the estimation of other systems used in evaluating energy. This is because GE is totally independent of the animals and provides no indication of energy available to animals (Kil et al., 2013). Gross energy represents the maximum quantity of energy present in an ingredient or compound diet and is obtained from the complete combustion of organic materials using bomb calorimetry (Velayudhan et al, 2015).

The three common energy systems employed in poultry and swine are the digestible energy system, metabolizable energy system, and the net energy system. There have been various arguments about the efficacy of one system over the other, some of which include; that the DE or

ME overestimates energy value of protein or fibrous feeds but underestimates energy value of fat or starch rich ingredients (Noblet et al.,1994) and on the other hand, that the NE system results in formulation of diets that are lower in crude protein content with a resultant reduction in N excretion, thus minimizing the environmental impact of monogastric production (Velayudhan et al., 2015). These three major systems of evaluating energy are further discussed below.

#### **1.5.1** Digestible energy

The digestible energy of a diet (or single feed ingredient) can be evaluated by taking the difference between the gross energy in the diet and the gross energy in the feces after consumption of said diet (Kil et al., 2013; De Lange and Birkett, 2005). Digestible energy is not readily achievable in the chicken, as avian species voids their waste as a combination of urine and feces except through introduction of artificial anus or ligation of urethra (Suzuki and Nishizaki, 1931; Rothchild, 1947). Digestible energy is regarded as an apparent measurement of the energy value because the endogenous losses of energy are not considered in its calculation (Reynolds, 2000; Kong and Adeola, 2013, 2014). The DE of most diets fed to pigs varies between 70 and 90% of GE in the diet (Sauvant et al., 2004; Kil, 2008). A similar variant of DE which is more commonly adopted in poultry is the apparent ileal digestibility of nutrients (Stein et al., 2007; Eklund et al., 2008). This can be used in measurement of energy; in which case it is referred to as the ileal digestible energy. The ileal digestible energy (IDE) is defined as the net disappearance of ingested energy from the digestive tract proximal to the distal ileum (Bolarinwa and Adeola, 2012; Kong and Adeola, 2016; Rho et al., 2017). The IDE is calculated from the difference between GE in the diet and GE in the digesta collected from approximately two-thirds of the distal ileum, defined as extending from Meckel's diverticulum to the ileo-cecal junction (Olukosi et al., 2007; Rezvani et al., 2008; Romero et al., 2014). In pigs, ileal cannulation is done to allow access to ileal digesta while in broiler chickens, birds are usually euthanized to collect the ileal digesta (Kong and Adeola, 2014).

#### 1.5.2 Metabolizable energy

In the metabolizable energy system, the energy loss by an animal through urine is factored in. The ME of a diet is calculated by subtracting energy excreted in feces, urine and gases from GE giving an apparent value of ME (AME). The gaseous energy losses are usually ignored in the calculation of ME because negligible quantities of gases are produced by pigs and poultry, but the correction for gaseous energy might become important when feeding a fiber-rich diet (Wenk et al., 2000; Kil et al., 2013).

Other modifications of the classical AME value are the true metabolizable energy (TME) and the nitrogen-corrected metabolizable energy (MEn; De Lange and Birkett, 2005). The TME corrects AME for endogenous losses of energy that could arise from sloughed-off cells, intestinal microbial products, and digestive enzymes (Adeola, 2001; Kong and Adeola, 2014) while MEn are used to correct AME using a respective correction factor of 7.45 or 8.22 kcal/g of N for pigs or poultry (Hill and Anderson, 1958; Harris et al., 1972; Morgan et al., 1975). This is because the energy deposited as retained protein in fast growing animals cannot be completely recovered by animals if the amino acids are degraded for energy. It is pertinent to note that the correction can also be imposed when nitrogen is lost rather than retained, in which case it is referred to as a state of negative nitrogen balance (Harris et al., 1972). To illustrate this using the pig: for each gram of nitrogen lost from the body (i.e., negative nitrogen retained in the body (i.e., positive nitrogen balance), 7.45 kcal would be subtracted from the metabolizable energy.

### 1.5.3 Net energy

Net energy is the energy available for maintenance, growth, and production. The use of NE system instead of the ME system for both feedstuff energy evaluation and diet formulation in poultry is in its early stages of development (Barzegar et al., 2020). This is contrary to what is obtainable in swine production where the NE system is more common and widely adopted because it is assumed that the NE system is more accurate in predicting the growth performance and body composition of pigs (Oresanya et al., 2008; Noblet et al., 2010). Some researchers are of the opinion that the NE system is superior to ME system because it allows the heat increment (HI) of feeding to be calculated (Gous, 2010; Liu et al., 2017; Birkett and de Lange, 2001). Zuidhof (2019) concluded that both systems are two complementary approaches of solving the same problem as NE system focuses on the efficiency of ME retention.

There are three known methodologies for the in-vivo measurements of NE value in pigs and chickens, namely, direct calorimetry, indirect calorimetry and the comparative slaughter with each method presenting their limitations (Zubair and Leeson, 1994; Chepete et al., 2004; Barzegar et al., 2020). Two major criticisms reported against the NE system by De Lange and Birkett (2005) and Barzegar et al. (2020) are the laborious nature of determining HI of ingredients especially when comparative slaughter or live animal indirect calorimetry (IC) are employed; also, an accurate calorimetry methodology requires experienced operators and a setup of flawless equipment.

#### **1.6 Energy evaluation methodology**

The fundamental procedure in an energy digestibility trial (either for compound feed or a test ingredient) often requires measuring the ingested energy and the voided energy. There are two known methods (Kong and Adeola, 2014) that can be employed for this estimation in swine and poultry diets, they are the total collection (TC) and index method (IM). To determine the difference between the energy in consumed feed and energy in the excreted components, the TC requires whole collection and record of feed intake, fecal output, and urine output while IM accommodates partial sampling but demands a precise chemical analysis of the index markers (Zhang and Adeola, 2017). In a TC for swine, pigs are usually confined to metabolic crates and adapted to feed for 4 to 6 days (Adeola, 2001). Sample collection starts and ends at the appearance of the colored markers added to the feed. The three popularly used colored markers are ferric oxide, chromic oxide, and indigo carmine (Wang and Adeola, 2018; Kong and Adeola, 2014).

Some modifications are usually introduced in poultry TC. There is usually a 48-h feed withdrawal after which only 25 to 30 g of the test ingredient is force-fed and the excreta voided during the exact 48 h post-feeding are collected quantitatively (McNab and Blair, 1988). The TC is more commonly used in swine than in poultry. In the index method, an indigestible inert marker is feed. The amount of marker feed and the amount voided in the output are expected to be uniform over equal periods of time since it can neither be digested nor absorbed (Adeola, 2001). Examples of index compounds used as marker are insoluble ash, chromic oxide, and titanium dioxide (Sales and Janssens, 2003; Wang and Adeola, 2018).

#### 1.7 Lesser-known energy feedstuffs for chicken and pig diets

Soybean and corn are the two most widely used vegetable carbohydrate, protein, and oil sources for monogastric animals. Interestingly, soybean has been named as the most prevalent legume/oil seed crop in the world (FAO, 2008). Moreover, not only are they used in feeding animals, but they are also important players in feeding the fast-growing human population, and this creates an urgent demand to diversify in the choice of ingredients used in monogastric feed formulation. Also, aside from the fact that supplementation of diets with high energy sources such as corn and soybean have become increasingly costly, the choice of the energy level in practical diets should not only be based on economic considerations but should also take sustainability of the production of the feed ingredient into consideration, given the limited world land mass used in cultivation of corn and soybeans. Hence, lesser-known feed ingredient which are either by-products or co-products that could serve as alternate sources of feed ingredients should be encouraged. For the effective use of those lesser-known feed ingredients for various species of animals, it becomes essential that the feeding value of those feed ingredients are properly evaluated. Some of those lesser known but utilizable feedstuffs are described below.

### **1.7.1 Dry fat**

Dry fat (DF) is a calcium salt of long-chain fatty acids derived from vegetable oils (Nigdi et al., 1990; Alizadeh et al., 2012). In ruminant production, DF is often categorized among other rumen-protected fats (RPF) such as prilled fat and prilled fat with lecithin (Behan et al., 2019). The RPF is widely used in ruminant nutrition to improve growth and reproductive performance, decrease fatty acid biohydrogenation within the rumen, and reduce production of methane from the rumen (Hightshoe et al., 1991; Park et al., 2010). From the name, it can be inferred that DF is an energy source from fat but in a dry granulated form. In a study conducted by Behan et al. (2019) to compare three different RPF in Dorper sheep with DF inclusive, it was reported that the different types of RPF had no unfavourable effect on the ruminal fermentation and productive parameters. Also, Haddad and Younis (2004) reported no increase in Awassi lamb performance when calcium salt of long chain fatty acids was supplemented to increase their dietary fat concentration.

Two common brands of DF used in previous studies were Megalac<sup>TM</sup> and Polyfat® (Alizadeh et al., 2012; Selim et al., 2013). Megalac<sup>TM</sup> is a calcium salt of mostly saturated fatty

acids produced by Essentiom, Church and Dwight Co. Inc., (Ewing Township, NJ, USA). Polyfat® also consists of calcium salts of 70% palm oil fatty acids, 25% sunflower plus corn oils and 5% soybean oil and is produced by Norel-Misr (Egypt; Boulos et al., 2011; Selim et al., 2013). Dry fat may be a useful feedstuff in monogastric nutrition and could serve as a credible addition to the list of lipid sources used in their diet.

#### **1.7.2** Stabilized rice bran

Rice bran (RB) is a by-product from rice milling (Sayre et al., 1988; Gallinger et al., 2004). The bid to ensure better utilization of rice bran for nutritional purposes has led to the development of stabilized rice bran (Bhosale and Vijayalakshmi, 2015). For stabilized rice bran (SRB), the lipid degrading enzymes lipases are deactivated by processing with heat and friction, hence, there is a stabilization of its lipid content, thereby ensuring shelf-life longevity of the by-product (Randall et al., 1985; Sayre et al., 1987; Tao et al., 1993). Stabilized rice bran has received increasing attention as a livestock feedstuff due to its nutritional qualities, although it is higher in fiber when compared to regular rice bran (Faria, 2012). Sayre (1987) results showed that 60 % SRB diet produced similar weight gain as the 60% corn (commercial chick starter diet), while greater gain was reported when compared to raw bran.

Moreover, the presence of fiber in the intestine of the animal is not only targeted at supplying energy but could lead to increased microbial diversity and fortification of the host mucins (Desai et al., 2016). Makki et al. (2018) stated that virtually all fiber induces specific shifts in microbiota composition due to competitive interactions thereby serving as potential prebiotics. Therefore, microbial metabolism of cereal fiber such as SRB could also release ferulic acid and SCFA which could modulate gut physiology and integrity (Koh et al., 2016; Makki et al., 2018). Moreover, in a review by Adebowale et al. (2019), fiber associated with increased growth performance could favorably modulate the intestinal health and overall health status of monogastric animals especially native fiber in cereals.

#### **1.7.3 Hydrolyzed feather meal**

Feather meal (FM) is a by-product of the poultry processing industry containing about 90% protein, although the digestibility of its protein is hindered by its non-soluble keratin content

(Hadas and Kautsky, 1994). These keratins are fibrous structural proteins stabilized by disulfide bonds (Ravindran et al., 1993). Feather meals have been explored both for their use as a component in animal's diet and as organic soil fertilizers. When feather meal is subjected to pressurized steam processing, the disulfide bonds are readily hydrolyzed, hence producing hydrolyzed feather meal (HFM). The HFM is a by-product with an improved digestion by endogenous proteolytic enzymes (Bielorai et al., 1982; Moritz and Latshaw, 2001), although, excessive hydrolytic processing could decrease concentration of amino acids (AA) in HFM (Papadopoulos et al., 1985). Aside from the hydrothermal treatment, other treatments developed to increase the digestibility of feather meal include chemical (acidic, alkalic, or catalytic) hydrolysis, enzymatic hydrolysis, and steam flash explosion (Onifade et al., 1998; Coward-Kelly et al., 2006; Daroit et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2014).

Davis et al. (1961) established the standard for pepsin digestible protein (PDP) content for feather meal and a PDP of 75% is recommended to ascertain good quality HFM. Moritz and Latshaw (2001) stated that a steam pressure of 310 kPa for 36 minutes is required to produce HFM with a bulk density of 483 kg/m<sup>3</sup> and an approximate PDP of 75%. Earlier, Latshaw et al. (1994) reported an average AA digestibility of 72% for all AA in feather meals processed at 202 or 322 kPa using continuous hydrolyzation in a study conducted with mature roosters. Feather meal protein has also been reported to be distinctly deficient in four major AA including methionine, lysine, histidine, and tryptophan, hence there is need for synthetic supplementation of these AA when HFM is used in diet formulation (Baker et al., 1981). In a study by Kikuchi et al. (1994) using juvenile Japanese flounder fish, feather meal was used as partial substitute for fish meal by feeding 0 to 50% of the diet as feather meal while reducing the fish meal content. The result of the study showed that juvenile Japanese flounder fish fed diets containing 12 to 25% feather meal did not differ from those feds on the control diet containing 80% fish meal.

#### **1.7.4** Flash dried poultry protein

Flash-dried poultry protein (FDPP) is also a poultry processing by-product with an approximate crude protein content of about 65% (Kureshy et al., 2000). It is derived when poultry by-product meals are subjected to the flash-drying procedure instead of the conventional dry-rendering method (Ravindran et al., 1993). Often, meals produced from by-products such as poultry by-product meal, poultry offal meal, meat and bone meal, are highly variable in their

biochemical composition due to variable raw material composition causing high levels of ash and low digestibility (Cruz-Suárez et al., 2007). According to Kureshy et al. (2000), flash drying is an example of the enhanced processing techniques used to improve product quality and digestibility to get less variable growth performance when poultry by-products are fed to animals. Also, the flash drying procedure enhances palatability, AA stability in products, and minimizes heat damage to the ingredient (Ravindran et al., 1993; Davis and Arnold, 2000).

The FDPP amino acid profile has been described by Moser et al. (1998) to be comparable with that of fish meal. Because plant proteins are often deficient in lysine and methionine, contain antinutrients such as trypsin inhibitors, and may have poor palatability, FDPP have been used as alternative animal protein to replace fish meal (FM) in diets of shrimp, red drum fish, and weanling pigs due to its ability to supply those indispensable AA as found in FM (Moser et al., 1998; Davis and Arnold, 2000; Kureshy et al., 2000; Cruz-Suárez et al., 2007). The result obtained in weanling pigs showed that feed efficiency was similar when either a control diet or 5% FM or 5.7% FDPP were fed (Moser et al., 1998). In a study conducted by Davis and Arnold (2000), the replacement of 40–80% of the FM in the basal diet with FDPP resulted in a significant increase in weight gain and feed efficiency of shrimp.

#### **1.7.5** Black soldier fly larvae meal

Black soldier fly larvae meal (BSFLM) is an example of insect meal derived from black soldier fly (*Hermetia illucens*). The BSFLM has shown to be an environmentally sustainable option for dietary protein due to the voracious ability of black soldier fly to convert waste to feed (Barragan-Fonseca et al., 2017; English et al., 2021). The black soldier fly has been the subject of recent attention in animal nutrition both for its fat and protein (Schiavone et al., 2018). The meal is often defatted to improve the storability of the feed and increase the protein digestibility (Surendra *et al.*, 2016). When comparing BSFLM and soybean meal for essential amino acid levels, Newton et al. (2005) reported similar lysine, leucine, phenylalanine, and threonine values for the two ingredients.

Furthermore, BSFLM is characterized with high chitin content, and this presents it peculiar advantages and disadvantages. Chitin is a nitrogen containing polysaccharide which constitutes black soldier fly exoskeleton (Ravindran et al., 1993). The reported chitin content in BSFLM ranges from 50 g/kg to 100g/kg (Diener et al., 2009; Kroeckel et al., 2012; Schiavone et al., 2017). The reason for this wide variation in chitin level has often been attributed to the substrate on which black soldier fly is grown and the stage of the larvae development (Barragan-Fonseca et al., 2017). Chitin level has been reported to negatively influence nutrient (fat and protein) digestion and absorption due to the presence of non-protein nitrogen which are nutritionally unavailable to animals (Marco et al., 2015; Marono et al., 2015; Schiavone et al., 2017). In addition, chitin found in black soldier fly is a dietary fiber that can be fermented by the microbiota in the hind gut of poultry and swine to produce SCFAs; a substrate that helps improve the compositional balance of the microbial community, hence black soldier fly meals could serve as potential prebiotics (Khempaka et al., 2011; Borrelli et al., 2017). Chitin have also been stated to exhibit anti-viral, anti-tumor, antimicrobial properties, and a bacteriostatic effect on Gram-negative bacteria, thus BSFLM could potentially serve as antibiotic feed additives (Van Huis, 2013; Piccolo et al., 2017). Higher activity of endogenous chitinase (an enzyme that hydrolyzes chitin) has been observed in some poultry (Robbins, 1997; Suzuki et al., 2002).

#### 1.8 Summary

In summary, this literature review details important factors to consider when formulating diets to meet the energy requirement of swine and poultry, especially when it relates to effective energy deposition and utilization. Energy evaluation systems were discussed. More so, the review expatiates on methodologies developed through previous energy determination studies. The review has some of the differences between swine and poultry digestibility procedures highlighted and describes the peculiarity of the three broad categories of energy source which are fat, protein, and carbohydrate. Some lesser-known feed ingredient that could be used as alternative fat, fiber, or protein sources were also introduced in the review.

### 1.9 Objective

The objective of this thesis was to evaluate energy utilization in some selected nonconventional feed ingredients for broiler chickens and pigs. Three studies were carried out to evaluate this objective.

#### **1.10** Literature Cited

- Adebowale, T. O., Yao, K. and Oso, A. O. 2019. Major cereal carbohydrates in relation to intestinal health of monogastric animals. *Anim. Nutr.* 5: 331-339. doi: 10.1016/j.aninu.2019.09.001
- Adeola O. Digestion and balance techniques in pigs 2001. In: *Swine Nutrition*. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. A.J. Lewis and L.L. Southern ed. CRC Press; Washington, DC, 903–916
- Akiba, Y. and Murakami, H. 1995. Partitioning of energy and protein during, early growth of broiler chicks and contribution of vitelline residue. *Proc. Symp. Poult. Nutr.* p. 45–52.
- Akiba, Y., Hah, T.W., Murakam I, H., Horiguchi, M. and Yamazaki, M. 1993. Metabolizable energy value and effect on amino acid availability of medium chain triglicerides in diets fed to chickens of different ages. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 43: 259–268 doi:10.1016/0377-8401(93)90081-T
- Alade, O. A. and Ademola, A. O. 2013. Perceived effect of climate variation on poultry production in Oke Ogun area of Oyo State. *J. Agric. Sci.* 5: 176. doi:10.5539/jas.v5n9p176
- Alqaisi, O., Ndambi, O. A., and Williams, R. B. 2017. Time series livestock diet optimization: cost-effective broiler feed substitution using the commodity price spread approach. *Agric. Food Econ. 5:* 1-19. doi: 10.1186/s40100-017-0094-9
- Austic, R. E. 1985. Feeding poultry in hot and cold climates. In: *Stress Physiology in Livestock*. CRC Press; Boca Raton, Florida, 123-136.
- Babinszky, L., Halas, V. and Verstegen, M. W. 2011. Impacts of climate change on animal production and quality of animal food products. In: *Climate change-socioeconomic effects*. InTech; Rijeka, Croatia, 165-190.
- Baéza, E., Gondret, F., Chartrin, P., Le Bihan-Duval, E., Berri, C., Gabriel, I., Narcy, A., Lessire, M., Métayer-Coustard, S., Collin, A. and Jégou, M., Lagarrigue, S. and Duclos, M. J. 2015. The ability of genetically lean or fat slow-growing chickens to synthesize and store lipids is not altered by the dietary energy source. *Animals.* 9: 1643-1652. doi:10.1017/S1751731115000683

- Baker, D. H., Blitenthal, R. C., Boebel, K. P., Czarnecki, G. L., Southern, L. L. and Willis, G. M. 1981. Protein-amino acid evaluation of steam-processed feather meal. *Poult. Sci.* 60:1865-1872. doi: 10.3382/ps.0601865
- Bakker, G. C. and Jongbloed, A. W. 1994. The effect of housing system on apparent digestibility in pigs, using the classical and marker (chromic oxide, acid-insoluble ash) techniques, in relation to dietary composition. J. Sci. Food Agric. 64: 107-115. doi: 10.1002/jsfa.2740640116
- Barragan-Fonseca, K. B., Dicke, M. and van Loon, J. J. 2017. Nutritional value of the black soldier fly (Hermetia illucens L.) and its suitability as animal feed–a review. J. Insects as Food Feed. 3: 105-120. doi: 10.3920/JIFF2016.0055
- Barzegar, S., Wu, S. B., Choct, M. and Swick, R. A. 2020. Factors affecting energy metabolism and evaluating net energy of poultry feed. *Poult. Sci.* 99: 487-498. doi:10.3382/ps/pez554
- Bhosale, S. and Vijayalakshmi, D. 2015. Processing and nutritional composition of rice bran. *Cur. Res. Nutr. Food Sci. 3:* 74-80. doi: 10.12944/CRNFSJ.3.1.08
- Bielorai, R., Iosif, B., Neumark, H. and Alumot, E. 1982. Low nutritional value of feather-meal protein for chicks. *J. Nutr. 112*: 249-254. doi: 10.1093/jn/112.2.249
- Birkett, S. and de Lange, K. 2001. A computational framework for a nutrient flow representation of energy utilization by growing monogastric animals. *Br. J. Nutr.* 86: 661-674. doi: 10.1079/BJN2001442
- Black, J. L. and de Lange, C. F. M. 1995. Introduction to the principles of nutrient partitioning for growth. In: Modelling Growth in the Pig (Ed. P. J. Moughan, M. W. A. Verstegen, and M. I. Visser-Reynevel). *Wageningen Press; Wageningen, The Netherlands*, 115-122
- Bolarinwa, O. A. and Adeola, O. 2012. Energy value of wheat, barley, and wheat dried distillers grains with solubles for broiler chickens determined using the regression method. *Poult. Sci. 91:* 1928-1935. doi : 10.3382/ps.2012-02261
- Bonnet, S., Geraert, P. A., Lessire, M., Carre, B. and Guillaumin, S. 1997. Effect of high ambient temperature on feed digestibility in broilers. *Poult. Sci.* 76: 857-863. doi: 10.1093/ps/76.6.857

- Borrelli, L., Coretti, L., Dipineto, L., Bovera, F., Menna, F., Chiariotti, L., Nizza, A., Lembo, F. and Fioretti, A. 2017. Insect-based diet, a promising nutritional source, modulates gut microbiota composition and SCFAs production in laying hens. *Sci. Rep.* 7: 1-11. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-16560-6
- Bregendahl, K., Sell, J. L. and Zimmerman, D. R. 2002. Effect of low-protein diets on growth performance and body composition of broiler chicks. *Poult. Sci.* 81: 1156–1167. doi: 10.1093/ps/81.8.1156
- Buyse, J., Darras, V. M., Vleurick, L., Ku" hn, E. R. and Decuypere, E. 2000. Nutritional regulation of the somatotrophic axis and intermediary metabolism on the chicken. *Int. symp. Avain Endocrinol.* p. 303–313.
- Buyse, J., Decuypere, E., Berghman, L., Ku<sup>--</sup> hn, E. R. and Vandesande, F. 1992. Effect of dietary protein content on episodic growth hormone secretion and on heat production of male broiler chickens. *Br. Poult. Sci.* 33: 1101–1109. doi: 10.1080/00071669208417552
- Caldas, J. V., Hilton, K., Boonsinchai, N., England, J. A., Mauromoustakos, A. and Coon, C. N. 2018. Dynamics of nutrient utilization, heat production, and body composition in broiler breeder hens during egg production. *Poult. Sci.* 97: 2845-2853. doi: 10.3382/ps/pey133
- Cerniglia, G. J. 1981. The Metabolisable energy determination of fats and oils in broiler chickens. Lousiana State University Historical Dissertations and Theses. 3588.
- Chang, C. F. (Ed.). 2012. Carbohydrates: In: *Comprehensive Studies on Glycobiology and Glycotechnology*. Intech; Rijeka, Croatia, 3-19 doi: 10.5772/51971
- Chepete, H. J., Xin, H., Puma, M. C. and Gates, R. S. 2004. Heat and moisture production of poultry and their housing systems: Pullets and layers. ASHRAE Transactions. 110: 286-299
- Choct, M. 2004. The net energy value for commonly used plant ingredients for poultry in Australia. *RIRDC*. 4: 58.
- Choct, M. and Cadogan, D. J. 2001. How effective are supplemental enzymes in pig diets? In: Manipulating pig production VIII. Proc. Eighth Biennial Conf. Austr. Pig Sci. Ass. p. 240-247.

- Choct, M. and Kocher, A. 2000. Non-starch carbohydrates: Digestion and its secondary effects in monogastrics. In: *Proc. Nutr. Soc. Austr.* 24: 31-38.
- Choct, M., Dersjant-Li, Y., McLeish, J. and Peisker, M. 2010. Soy oligosaccharides and soluble non-starch polysaccharides: a review of digestion, nutritive and anti-nutritive effects in pigs and poultry. *Asian-australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 23: 1386-1398. doi: 10.5713/ajas.2010.90222
- Chwalibog, A., Jakobsen, K., Tauson, A. H. and Thorbek, G. 2005. Energy metabolism and nutrient oxidation in young pigs and rats during feeding, starvation and re-feeding. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A Mol. Integr. Physiol. 140*: 299-307. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpb.2005.01.010
- Close, W. H. 1996. Modelling the growing pig: Predicting nutrient needs and responses. In: Biotechnology in the Feed Industry. The living gut: Bridging the gap between nutrition and performance (Ed. T. P. Lyons and K. A. Jacques). *Proc. Alltech's 12th Annual Symp. Nottingham University Press, Nottingham, UK.* p. 289-297.
- Collin, A., Malheiros, R. D., Moraes, V. M., Van As, P., Darras, V. M., Taouis, M., Decuypere, E. and Buyse, J. 2003. Effects of dietary macronutrient content on energy metabolism and uncoupling protein mRNA expression in broiler chickens. *Br. J. Nutr.* 90: 261-269 doi: 10.1079/BJN2003910
- Coward-Kelly, G., Chang, V. S., Agbogbo, F. K. and Holtzapple, M. T. 2006. Lime treatment of keratinous materials for the generation of highly digestible animal feed: Chicken feathers. *Bioresour. Technol.* 97: 1337-1343. doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2005.05.021
- Cozannet, P., Lessire, M., Gady, C., Metayer, J. P., Primot, Y., Skiba, F. and Noblet, J. 2010. Energy value of wheat dried distillers grains with solubles in roosters, broilers, layers, and turkeys. *Poult. Sci.* 89: 2230-2241. doi: 10.3382/ps.2010-00833
- Cruz-Suárez, L. E., Nieto-López, M., Guajardo-Barbosa, C., Tapia-Salazar, M., Scholz, U. and Ricque-Marie, D. 2007. Replacement of fish meal with poultry by-product meal in practical diets for Litopenaeus vannamei, and digestibility of the tested ingredients and diets. *Aquaculture*. 272: 466-476. doi: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2007.04.084

- Cummings, J. H. 1981. Short chain fatty acids in the human colon. *Gut.* 22 : 763. doi : 10.1136%2Fgut.22.9.763
- Daroit, D. J., Corrêa, A. P. F. and Brandelli, A. 2011. Production of keratinolytic proteases through bioconversion of feather meal by the Amazonian bacterium Bacillus sp. P45. *Int. biodeterior. biodegradation.* 65: 45-51. doi: 10.1016/j.ibiod.2010.04.014
- Davis, D. A. and Arnold, C. R. 2000. Replacement of fish meal in practical diets for the Pacific white shrimp, Litopenaeus vannamei. *Aquaculture*. 185: 291-298. doi: 10.1016/S0044-8486(99)00354-3
- Davis, J. G., Mecchi E. P. and Lineweaver H. 1961. Processing of poultry by-products and their utilization in feeds. 1. Processing of poultry by-products 2. Utilization of poultry byproducts in feeds. In: Utilization Research Report. USDA, Washington, DC. 3: 1–40
- De Groote, G. 1974. A comparison of a new net energy system with the metabolizable energy system in broiler diet formulation, performance, and profitability. *Br. Poult. Sci.* 15: 75-95. doi: 10.1080/00071667408416082
- De Lange, C. F. M. and Birkett, H. 2005. Characterization of useful energy content in swine and poultry feed ingredients. *Can. J. Anim. Sci*, 85: 269-280. doi: 10.4141/A04-057
- De Marco, M., Martínez, S., Hernandez, F., Madrid, J., Gai, F., Rotolo, L., Belforti, M., Bergero, D., Katz, H., Dabbou, S. and Kovitvadhi, A., Zoccarato, I., Gasco, L. and Schiavone, A. 2015. Nutritional value of two insect larval meals (Tenebrio molitor and Hermetia illucens) for broiler chickens: apparent nutrient digestibility, apparent ileal amino acid digestibility and apparent metabolizable energy. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 209: 211-218. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2015.08.006
- Desai, M. S., Seekatz, A. M., Koropatkin, N. M., Kamada, N., Hickey, C. A., Wolter, M., Pudlo, N.A., Kitamoto, S., Terrapon, N., Muller, A. and Young, V.B., Henrissat, B., Wilmes, P., Stappenbeck, T. S., Gabriel, N. and Martens, E. C. 2016. A dietary fiber-deprived gut microbiota degrades the colonic mucus barrier and enhances pathogen susceptibility. *Cell*. 167 :1339-1353. doi : 10.1016/j.cell.2016.10.043

- Désert, C., Baeza, E., Aite, M., Boutin, M., Le Cam, A., Montfort, J., Montfort, J., Houee-Bigot, M., Blum, Y., Roux, P.F., Hennequet-Antier, C. and Berri, C., Metayer-Coustard, S., Collin, A., Allais, S., Le Bihan, E., Causeur, D., Gondret, F., Duclos, M. J. and Lagarrigue, S. 2018. Multi-tissue transcriptomic study reveals the main role of liver in the chicken adaptive response to a switch in dietary energy source through the transcriptional regulation of lipogenesis. *Bmc Genom.* 19: 1-18. doi: 10.1186/s12864-018-4520-5
- Diener, S., Zurbrügg, C. and Tockner, K. 2009. Conversion of organic material by black soldier fly larvae: establishing optimal feeding rates. *Waste Manag. Res.* 27: 603-610. doi: 10.1177%2F0734242X09103838
- Eklund, M., Mosenthin, R., Piepho, H. P. and Rademacher, M. 2008. Effect of dietary crude protein level on basal ileal endogenous losses and standardized ileal digestibilities of crude protein and amino acids in newly weaned pigs. *J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr.* 92: 578-590. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0396.2007.00751.x
- El Bacha, T., Luz, M. and Da Poian, A. 2010. Dynamic adaptation of nutrient utilization in humans. *Nat. Edu.* 3: 8
- Emmans, G. C. 1994. Effective energy: a concept of energy utilization applied across species. *Br. J. Nutr.* 71: 801-821. doi: 10.1079/BJN19940188
- Emmans, G. C. 1999. A quantitative biology of the pig. In: Energy flows. *CAB international, Wallingford, UK.* p. 363-377.
- English, G., Wanger, G. and Colombo, S. M. 2021. A review of advancements in black soldier fly (Hermetia illucens) production for dietary inclusion in salmonid feeds. *J. Agric. Food Res.* doi: 10.1016/j.jafr.2021.100164100164.
- Faria, S. A. D. S. C., Bassinello, P. Z. and Penteado, M. D. V. C. 2012. Nutritional composition of rice bran submitted to different stabilization procedures. *Braz. J. Pharm. Sci.* 48:651-657. doi:10.1590/S1984-82502012000400008
- Food and Agricultural Organization. 2004. Report on human energy requirements. In: *Report of a Joint FAO/WHO/UNU Expert Consultation:* Rome, FAO.

- Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO). 2009. How to feed the world in 2050. In: *High-level expert forum on global agriculture towards 2050; Rome, Italy* 1-32.
- Gallinger, C. I., Suárez, D. M. and Irazusta, A. 2004. Effects of rice bran inclusion on performance and bone mineralization in broiler chicks. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 13: 183-190. doi: 10.1093/japr/13.2.183
- Giles, L. R., Lorschy, M. L., Bray, H. J. and Black, J. L. 1998. Predicting feed intake in growing pigs. In: Progress in Pig Science (Ed. J. Wiseman, M. A. Varley, and J. P. Chadwick). Nottingham University Press, Nottingham, U.K. p. 209-228
- Gomez, R. S., Lewis, A. J., Miller, P. S. and Chen, H. Y. 2000. Growth performance and digestive and metabolic responses of gilts penned individually or in groups of four. J. Anim. Sci. 78: 597-603. doi:10.2527/2000.783597x
- Gous, R. M. 2010. Utilization of metabolizable energy of feeds in pigs and poultry: interest of net energy systems. *Proc. Austr. Poult. Sci. Symp.* 21: p 36-43.
- Gregory, N. G. 2010. How climatic changes could affect meat quality. *Food Res. Int.* 43: 1866-1873. doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2009.05.018
- Hada, F. H., Malheiros, R. D., Silva, J. D. T., Marques, R. H., Gravena, R. A., Silva, V. K. and Moraes, V. M. B. 2013. Effect of protein, carbohydrate, lipid, and selenium levels on the performance, carcass yield, and blood changes in broilers. *Braz. J. Poult. Sci.* 15: 385-394. doi: 10.1590/S1516-635X2013000400014
- Hadas, A. and Kautsky, L. 1994. Feather meal, a semi-slow-release nitrogen fertilizer for organic farming. *Fert. Res.* 38: 65-170. doi: 10.1007/BF00748776
- Haddad, S. G. and Younis, H. M. 2004. The effect of adding ruminally protected fat in fattening diets on nutrient intake, digestibility and growth performance of Awassi lambs. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 113: 61-69. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2003.10.015
- Harris, L. E., Keael, L. C. and Fonnesbeck, P. V. 1972. Use of regression equations in predicting availability of energy and protein. J. Anim. Sci. 35: 658-680. doi: 10.2527/jas1972.353658x

- Hill, F. W. and Anderson, D. L. 1958. Comparison of metabolizable energy and productive energy determinations with growing chicks. *J. Nutr.* 64: 587-603.
- Howlider, M. A. R. and Rose, S. P. 1987. Temperature and the growth of broilers. *Worlds Poult*. *Sci. J.* 43: 228-237. doi: 10.1079/WPS19870015
- Jeffre D. F., Leigh, H. and Kamyab, A. 2010. Comparison of soybean oil with an Animal/vegetable blend at four energy levels in broiler rations from hatch to market. *Int. J. Poult Sci.* 9: 1027-1030 doi: 10.3923/ijps.2010.1027.1030
- Jensen, L. S., Schumaier, G. W. and Latshaw, J. D. 1970. "Extra caloric" effect of dietary fat for developing turkeys as influenced by calorie-protein ratio. *Poult. Sci.* 49: 1697-1704. doi: 10.3382/ps.0491697
- Khempaka, S., Chitsatchapong, C. and Molee, W. 2011. Effect of chitin and protein constituents in shrimp head meal on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, intestinal microbial populations, volatile fatty acids, and ammonia production in broilers. *J. Appl. Poult. Res.* 20: 1-11. doi: 10.3382/japr.2010-00162
- Kikuchi, K., Furuta, T. and Honda, H. 1994. Utilization of feather meal as a protein source in the diet of juvenile Japanese flounder. *Fish. Sci.* 60: 203-206. doi: 10.2331/fishsci.60.203
- Kil, D. Y. 2008. Digestibility and energetic utilization of lipids by pigs. *Doctoral dissertation, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.*
- Kil, D. Y., Kim, B. G. and Stein, H. H. 2013. Feed energy evaluation for growing pigs. Asian-Australas. J. Anim. Sci. 26: 1205. doi: 10.5713%2Fajas.2013.r.02
- Koh, A., De Vadder, F., Kovatcheva-Datchary, P. and Bäckhed, F. 2016. From dietary fiber to host physiology: short-chain fatty acids as key bacterial metabolites. *Cell*. 165: 1332-1345. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.041
- Kong, C. and Adeola, O. 2014. Evaluation of amino acid and energy utilization in feedstuff for swine and poultry diets. *Asian-Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 27: 917. doi: 10.5713/ajas.2014.r.02

- Kong, C. and Adeola, O. 2016. Determination of ileal digestible and apparent metabolizable energy contents of expeller-extracted and solvent-extracted canola meals for broiler chickens by the regression method. *Springerplus*. 5: 1-7. doi: 10.1186/s40064-016-2325-z
- Kroeckel, S., Harjes, A. G., Roth, I., Katz, H., Wuertz, S., Susenbeth, A. and Schulz, C. 2012.
  When a turbot catches a fly: Evaluation of a pre-pupae meal of the Black Soldier Fly (Hermetia illucens) as fish meal substitute—Growth performance and chitin degradation in juvenile turbot (Psetta maxima). *Aquaculture*. 364: 345-352. doi: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2012.08.041
- Kureshy, N., Davis, D. A. and Arnold, C. R. 2000. Partial replacement of fish meal with meatand-bone meal, flash-dried poultry by-product meal, and enzyme-digested poultry byproduct meal in practical diets for juvenile red drum. *N. Am. J. Aquac.* 62: 266-272. doi: 10.1577/1548-8454(2000)062<0266:PROFMW>2.0.CO;2
- Larbier, M., Chagneau, A. M. and Geraert, P. A. 1993. Influence of ambient temperature on true digestibility of protein and amino acids of rapeseed and soybean meals in broilers. *Poult. Sci.* 72: 289-295. doi: 10.3382/ps.0720289
- Latshaw, J. D., Musharaf, N. and Retrum, R. 1994. Processing of feather meal to maximize its nutritional value for poultry. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 47: 179-188. doi: 10.1016/0377-8401(94)90122-8
- Lawrence, J. D., Mintert, J. R., Anderson, J. D., and Anderson, D. P. 2008. Feed grains and livestock: Impacts on meat supplies and prices. *Choices*. 23: 11-15.
- Le Goff, G. and Noblet, J. 2001. Comparative total tract digestibility of dietary energy and nutrients in growing pigs and adult sows. J. Anim. Sci. 79: 2418-2427. doi: 10.2527/2001.7992418x
- Liu, W., Liu, G.H., Liao, R.B., Chang, Y.L., Huang, X.Y., Wu, Y.B., Yang, H.M., Yan, H.J. and Cai, H.Y. 2017. Apparent metabolizable and net energy values of corn and soybean meal for broiler breeding cocks. *Poult. Sci.* 96: 135-143. doi: 10.3382/ps/pew195

- MacLeod, M. G. 1997. Effects of amino acid balance and energy: protein ratio on energy and nitrogen metabolism in male broiler chickens. *Br. Poult. Sci.* 38: 405-411. doi: 10.1080/00071669708418010
- Makki, K., Deehan, E. C., Walter, J. and Bäckhed, F. 2018. The impact of dietary fiber on gut microbiota in host health and disease. *Cell Host Microbe*. 23: 705-715. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2018.05.012
- Marono, S., Piccolo, G., Loponte, R., Di Meo, C., Attia, Y. A., Nizza, A. and Bovera, F. 2015. In vitro crude protein digestibility of Tenebrio molitor and Hermetia illucens insect meals and its correlation with chemical composition traits. *Ital. J. Anim. Sci.* 14: 3889. doi: 10.4081/ijas.2015.3889
- Mateos, G. G. and Sell, J. L. 1980. Influence of carbohydrate and supplemental fat source on the metabolizable energy of the diet. *Poult. Sci.* 59: 2129-2135. doi: 10.3382/ps.0592129
- McLean, J. A. and Tobin, G. 2007. Animal and human calorimetry. *Cambridge University Press, New York, U.S.A.*
- McNab, J. M. and Blair, J. C. 1988. Modified assay for true and apparent metabolisable energy based on tube feeding. *Br. Poult. Sci.* 29: 697-707.doi: 10.1080/00071668808417098
- Metz, S. H. M. and Dekker, R. A. 1985. Effects of housing on gastrointestinal transit time and digestibility of feeds in growing pigs. *proc.* 3<sup>rd</sup> Int. Sem. Digest. Physiol. Pig. p 369-372.
- Morgan, D. J., Cole, D. J. A. and Lewis, D. 1975. Energy values in pig nutrition: I. The relationship between digestible energy, metabolizable energy and total digestible nutrient values of a range of feedstuffs. J. Agric. Sci. 84: 7-17. doi: 10.1017/S0021859600071823
- Moritz, J. S. and Latshaw, J. D. 2001. Indicators of nutritional value of hydrolyzed feather meal. *Poult. Sci.* 80: 79-86. doi: 10.1093/ps/80.1.79
- Moser, S. A., Woodworth, J. C., Grinstead, G. S., Tokach, M. D., Goodband, R. D. and Nelssen, J. L. 1998. Effects of flash-dried poultry protein and select menhaden fish meal on growth performance of weanling pigs. *KSU Agric. Exp. Station Coop.* 41-43

- Murakami, H., Akiba, Y. and Horiguchi, M. 1995. A modified bioassay for energy utilization in newly hatched chicks. 2. Determination of feed input and procedures to estimate endogenous energy loss. *Poult Sci.74*: 343–351. doi: 10.3382/ps.0740343
- Myer, R. O. and Brendemuhl, J. H. 2004. 4H Project Guide: Swine Nutrition. *EDIS publication system*.
- Newton, L. A., Sheppard, C. R., Watson, D. W., Burtle, G. A. and Dove, R. O. 2005. Using the black soldier fly, Hermetia illucens, as a value-added tool for the management of swine manure. NCSU Anim. Poult. Waste Mangmt, Cent. Raleigh, NC. 1-17.
- Nigdi, M. E., Loerch, S. C., Fluharty, F. L. and Palmiquist, D. L. 1990. Effect of calcium soaps of long chain fatty acids on feedlot performance, carcass characteristics and ruminal metabolism of steers. J. Anim. Sci. 68: 2555-2565. doi: 10.2527/1990.6882555x
- Nitsan, Z., Ben-Avraham, G., Zoref, Z. and Nir, I. 1991. Growth and development of the digestive organs and some enzymes in broiler chicks after hatching. *Br. Poult. Sci.* 32: 515–523. doi: 10.1080/00071669108417376
- Noblet, J., Fortune, H., Shi, X. S. and Dubois, S. 1994. Prediction of net energy value of feeds for growing pigs. *J. Anim. Sci.* 72: 344-354. doi: 10.2527/1994.722344x
- Noblet, J., Van Milgen, J. and Dubois, S. 2010. Utilisation of metabolisable energy of feeds in pigs and poultry: Interest of net energy systems. *Proc. Austr. Poult. Sci. Symp.* 21: p 26-35.
- Noy, Y. and Sklan, D. 1997. Post hatch development in poultry. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 6: 344-354. doi: 10.1093/japr/6.3.344
- Nyachoti, C. M., Zijlstra, R. T., De Lange, C. F. M. and Patience, J. F. 2004. Voluntary feed intake in growing-finishing pigs: A review of the main determining factors and potential approaches for accurate predictions. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 84: 549-566. doi: 10.4141/A04-001
- Okere I. 2014. Growth traits, breast meat yield and quality of broiler genotypes under hot conditions. *Iran. J. Appl. Anim. Sci.* 4:159-164.

- Olukosi, O. A., Cowieson, A. J. and Adeola, O. 2007. Age-related influence of a cocktail of xylanase, amylase, and protease or phytase individually or in combination in broilers. *Poult. Sci.* 86: 77-86. doi: 10.1093/ps/86.1.77
- Onifade, A. A., Al-Sane, N. A., Al-Musallam, A. A. and Al-Zarban, S. 1998. A review: potentials for biotechnological applications of keratin-degrading microorganisms and their enzymes for nutritional improvement of feathers and other keratins as livestock feed resources. *Bioresour. Technol.* 66: 1-11. doi: 10.1016/S0960-8524(98)00033-9
- Oresanya, T. F., Beaulieu, A. D. and Patience, J. F. 2008. Investigations of energy metabolism in weanling barrows: The interaction of dietary energy concentration and daily feed (energy) intake. J. Anim. Sci. 86: 348-363. doi: 10.2527/jas.2007-0009
- Papadopoulos, M. C., El Boushy, A. R. and Ketelaars, E. H. 1985. Effect of different processing conditions on amino acid digestibility of feather meal determined by chicken assay. *Poult. Sci.* 64: 1729-1741. doi: 10.3382/ps.0641729
- Park, B. K., Choi, N. J., Kim, H. C., Kim, T. I., Cho, Y. M., Oh, Y. K., Im, S.K., Kim, Y.J., Chang, J.S., Hwang, I.H., Jang, H.Y., Kim, J. B. and Kwon, E. G. 2010. Effects of amino acidenriched ruminally protected fatty acids on plasma metabolites, growth performance and carcass characteristics of Hanwoo steers. *Asian-Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 23: 1013-1021.
- Piccolo, G., Iaconisi, V., Marono, S., Gasco, L., Loponte, R., Nizza, S., Bobvera, F. and Parisi, G.
  2017. Effect of Tenebrio molitor larvae meal on growth performance, in vivo nutrients digestibility, somatic and marketable indexes of gilthead sea bream (Sparus aurata). *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 226: 12-20. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2017.02.007
- Plavnik, I., Wax, E., Sklan, D., Bartov, I. and Hurwitz, S. 1997. The response of broiler chickens and turkey poults to dietary energy supplied either by fat or carbohydrates. *Poult. Sci.* 76: 1000-1005. doi:10.1093/ps/76.7.1000
- Pluske, J. E. A., Kerton, D. K., Cranwell, P. D., Campbell, R. G., Mullan, B. P., King, R. H., Power, G.N., Pierzynowski, S.G., Westrom, B., Rippe, C., Peulen, O. and Dunshea, F. R. 2003. Age, sex, and weight at weaning influence organ weight and gastrointestinal development of weanling pigs. *Austr. J. Agric. Res.* 54: 515-527. doi: 10.1071/AR02156

- Quinteiro-Filho, W. M., Ribeiro, A., Ferraz-de-Paula, V., Pinheiro, M. L., Sakai, M., Sá, L. R. M. D., Ferreira, A.J.P. and Palermo-Neto, J. 2010. Heat stress impairs performance parameters, induces intestinal injury, and decreases macrophage activity in broiler chickens. *Poult. Sci.* 89: 1905-1914. doi: 10.3382/ps.2010-00812
- Randall, J. M., Sayre, R. N., Schultz, W. G., Fong, R. Y., Mossman, A. P., Tribelhorn, R. E. and Saunders, R. M. 1985. Rice bran stabilization by extrusion cooking for extraction of edible oil. *J. Food Sci.* 50: 361-364. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2621.1985.tb13402.x
- Ravindran, V. and Blair, R. 1993. Feed resources for poultry production in Asia and the Pacific.
  III. Animal protein sources. *World's Poult. Sci. J.* 49: 219-235. doi: 10.1079/WPS19930020
- Reynolds, C. K. 2000. Measurement of energy metabolism. In: Feeding Systems and Feed Evaluation Models (Ed. M. K. Theodorou, and J. France). *CAB International, Wallingford, Oxon, U.K.* p. 87-107.
- Rezvani, M., Kluth, H., Elwert, C. and Rodehutscord, M. 2008. Effect of ileum segment and protein sources on net disappearance of crude protein and amino acids in laying hens. *Br. Poult. Sci.* 49: 28-36. doi: 10.1080/00071660701812971
- Rho, Y., Zhu, C., Kiarie, E. and de Lange, C. M. 2017. Standardized ileal digestible amino acids and digestible energy contents in high-protein distiller's dried grains with solubles fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 95: 3591-3597. doi: 10.2527/jas.2017.1553
- Rijnen, M. M. J. A. 2003. Energetic utilization of dietary fiber in pigs. Ph.D. thesis. Wageningen University, *Wageningen Institute of Animal Sciences*, *Wageningen, the Netherlands*.
- Rijnen, M.M.J.A., Doorenbos, J., Mallo, J.J. and Den Hartog, L.A. 2004. The application of the net energy system for swine. Proc. *West. Nutr. Conf.* 151-168.
- Robbins, C. T. and Mathison, G. W. 1997. Wildlife Feeding and Nutrition. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 68: 367-367. doi: 10.1016/S0377-8401(97)00021-7

- Romero, L. F., Sands, J. S., Indrakumar, S. E., Plumstead, P. W., Dalsgaard, S. and Ravindran, V. 2014. Contribution of protein, starch, and fat to the apparent ileal digestible energy of cornand wheat-based broiler diets in response to exogenous xylanase and amylase without or with protease. *Poult. Sci.* 93: 2501-2513. doi: 10.3382/ps.2013-03789
- Rothchild, I. 1947. The artificial anus in the bird. Poult. Sci. 26: 157-162. doi: 10.3382/ps.0260157
- Salas, C., Ekmay, R. D., England, J. A., Cerrate, S. and Coon, C. N. 2017. Mechanisms of lipid mobilization towards egg formation in broiler breeder hens using stable isotopes. *Poult. Sci.* 96: 383-387. doi: 10.3382/ps/pew231
- Sales, J. and Janssens, G. P. J. 2003. Acid-insoluble ash as a marker in digestibility studies: a review. J. Anim. Feed Sci. 12: 383-401. doi: 10.22358/jafs/67718/2003
- Sauvant, D., Perez, J. M. and Tran, G. (Eds.). 2004. Tables of composition and nutritional value of feed materials: pigs, poultry, cattle, sheep, goats, rabbits, horses, and fish. *Wageningen Academic Publishers*.
- Sayre, R. N., Earl, L., Kratzer, F. H. and Saunders, R. M. 1987. Nutritional qualities of stabilized and raw rice bran for chicks. *Poult. Sci.* 66: 493-499. doi: 10.3382/ps.0660493
- Sayre, R. N., Earl, L., Kratzer, F. H. and Saunders, R. M. 1988. Effect of diets containing raw and extrusion-cooked rice bran on growth and efficiency of food utilization of broilers. *Br. Poult. Sci.* 29: 815-823. doi: 10.1080/00071668808417110
- Schiavone, A., Dabbou, S., De Marco, M., Cullere, M., Biasato, I., Biasibetti, E., Capucchio, M.T., Bergagna, S., Dezzutto, D., Meneguz, M. and Gai, F. and Gasco, L. 2018. Black soldier fly larvae fat inclusion in finisher broiler chicken diet as an alternative fat source. *Animals*. 12: 2032-2039. doi:10.1017/S1751731117003743
- Schiavone, A., De Marco, M., Martínez, S., Dabbou, S., Renna, M., Madrid, J., Hernandez, F., Rotolo, L., Costa, P., Gai, F. and Gasco, L. 2017. Nutritional value of a partially defatted and a highly defatted black soldier fly larvae (Hermetia illucens L.) meal for broiler chickens: apparent nutrient digestibility, apparent metabolizable energy and apparent ileal amino acid digestibility. *J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol.* 8: 1-9. doi: 10.1186/s40104-017-0181-5

- Selim, N. A., Boulos, N. Z., Abdel-Khalek, A. M., Shabaan, M. and Radwan, N. L. 2013. Determination of Metabolizable Energy of Rich Unsaturated Fatty Acids Dry-Fat in Chicken Diets Using Chemical, Biological and Mathematical Methods. *Int. J. Poult. Sci.* 12: 666 – 675.
- Slominski, B. A., Campbell, L. D. and Guenter, W. 1994. Oligosaccharides in canola meal and their effect on nonstarch polysaccharide digestibility and true metabolizable energy in poultry. *Poult Sci.* 73: 156-162. doi:10.3382/ps.0730156
- Stein, H. H., Sève, B., Fuller, M. F., Moughan, P. J. and De Lange, C. F. M. 2007. Invited review: Amino acid bioavailability and digestibility in pig feed ingredients: Terminology and application. J. Anim. Sci. 85:172-180. doi: 10.2527/jas.2005-742
- Sulistiyanto, B., Akiba, Y. and Sato, K. 1999. Energy utilisation of carbohydrate, fat and protein sources in newly hatched broiler chicks. *Br. Poult. Sci.* 40(5), 653-659.
- Suzuki, K. and Nishizaki, A. 1931. A New Method for the Estimation of Uric Acid in Poultry Excrement. *Bull. Agric.. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* 7: 59-62. doi: 10.1080/00071669987043
- Suzuki, M., Fujimoto, W., Goto, M., Morimatsu, M., Syuto, B. and Iwanaga, T. 2002. Cellular expression of gut chitinase mRNA in the gastrointestinal tract of mice and chickens. J. *Histochem. Cytochem.* 50: 1081-1089. doi: 10.1177%2F002215540205000810
- Svihus, B. and Gullord, M. 2002. Effect of chemical content and physical characteristics on nutritional value of wheat, barley, and oats for poultry. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 102: 71-92. doi: 10.1016/S0377-8401(02)00254-7
- Swennen, Q. G. P. J., Janssens, G. P. J., Decuypere, E. and Buyse, J. 2004. Effects of substitution between fat and protein on feed intake and its regulatory mechanisms in broiler chickens: energy and protein metabolism and diet-induced thermogenesis. *Poult. Sci.* 83: 1997-2004. doi:10.1093/ps/84.7.1051
- Swennen, Q., Decuypere, E. and Buyse, J. 2007. Implications of dietary macronutrients for growth and metabolism in broiler chickens. *Worlds Poult. Sci. J.* 63: 541-556. doi:10.1017/S0043933907001602

- Swennen, Q., Everaert, N., Debonne, M., Verbaeys, I., Careghi, C., Tona, K., Janssens, G.P.J., Decuypere, E., Bruggeman, V. and Buyse, J. 2010. Effect of macronutrient ratio of the prestarter diet on broiler performance and intermediary metabolism. *J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr.* 94: 375-384. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0396.2009.00918.x
- Swennen, Q., Janssens, G. P. J., Millet, S., Vansant, G., Decuypere, E. and Buyse, J. 2005. Effects of substitution between fat and protein on feed intake and its regulatory mechanisms in broiler chickens: Endocrine functioning and intermediary metabolism. *Poult. Sci.* 84: 1051-1057. doi:10.1093/ps/84.7.1051
- Tao, J., Rao, R. and Liuzzo, J. 1993. Microwave heating for rice bran stabilization. J. Microw. power Electromagn. energy, 28: 156-164. doi:10.1080/08327823.1993.11688217
- Teeter, R. G., Wiernusz, C. J. and Belay, T. 1996. Animal nutrition in the 21st century. A poultry perspective. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 58: 37-47. doi: 10.1016/0377-8401(95)00872-1
- Touchburn, S. P. and Naber, E. C. 1966. The energy value of fats for growing turkeys. In: *Proc. 13th Worlds Poult. Congr. Kiev, USSR* 190-196.
- Van Huis, A. 2013. Potential of insects as food and feed in assuring food security. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* 58: 563-583. doi: 10.1146/annurev-ento-120811-153704
- van Milgen, J. and Noblet, J. 2000. Modelling energy expenditure in pigs. Modelling nutrient utilization in farm animals, (Ed. J. P. McNamara, J. France, and D. E. Beever). *CAB International, Oxon, U. K.* 103-114.
- Velayudhan, D. E., Kim, I. H. and Nyachoti, C. M. 2015. Characterization of dietary energy in swine feed and feed ingredients: a review of recent research results. *Asian -Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 28: 1-13 doi: 10.5713/ajas.14.0001R
- Walsberg, G. and Wolf, B. 1995. Variation in the respiratory quotient of birds and implications for indirect calorimetry using measurements of carbon dioxide production. *J. Exp. Biol. 198*: 213-219. doi: 10.1242/jeb.198.1.213
- Wang, T. and Adeola, O. 2018. Digestibility index marker type, but not inclusion level affects apparent digestibility of energy and nitrogen and marker recovery in growing pigs regardless of added oat bran. *J. Anim. Sci.* 96: 2817-2825. doi: 10.1093/jas/sky153

- Wenk, C., Colombani P. C., van Milgen J. and Lemme A. 2000. Glossary: Terminology in animal and human energy metabolism. In: *Proc. 15th Symp. energy Metabol. Anim.* (Eds. A. Chwalibog and K. Jakobsen). 103: 409-421
- Zhang, Y., Yang, R. and Zhao, W. 2014. Improving digestibility of feather meal by steam flash explosion. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 62: 2745-2751. doi: 10.1021/jf405498k
- Zubair, A. K. and Leeson, S. 1994. Effect of early feed restriction and realimentation on heat production and changes in sizes of digestive organs of male broilers. *Poult. Sci.* 73: 529-538. doi: 10.3382/ps.0730529
- Zuidhof, M. 2019. A review of dietary metabolizable and net energy: Uncoupling heat production and retained energy. *J. Appl. Poult. Res.* 28: 231-241. doi: 10.3382/japr/pfx062

# CHAPTER 2. ENERGY VALUE OF DRY FAT AND STABILIZED RICE BRAN FOR BROILER CHICKENS

## 2.1 Abstract

The ileal digestible energy (IDE), metabolizable energy (ME), and nitrogen-corrected ME (MEn) of dry fat (DF) and stabilized rice bran (SRB) were determined in two experiments with broiler chickens using the regression method. Broiler chickens were fed a common starter diet from d 0 to 17 and experimental diets from d 17 to 22 post hatching. Three diets were prepared: a corn-soybean meal reference diet (RD) and two test diets containing either DF at 50 or 100 g/kg replacement in Experiment (Exp.) 1 or SRB at 100 or 200 g/kg replacement (Exp. 2) of the energycontributing ingredients in the RD. In each Exp., 192 broiler chickens were randomly allocated to one of three dietary treatments in a randomised complete block design, comprising eight replicate cages with eight birds per cage. In Exp. 1, the IDE, ME, and MEn linearly increased (P<0.001) with increasing DF concentrations, while in Exp. 2, the IDE, ME, and MEn of the diets were not affected by dietary supplemental SRB. The regression-derived IDE concentration for DF and SRB were 6,047 and 3,556 kcal/kg DM, respectively. The respective ME and MEn estimates (kcal/kg DM) were 6,051 and 5,922 for DF; 3,437 and 3,193 for SRB. In conclusion, the current data showed that broiler chickens utilized between 77 to 79% and 68 to 76% of the gross energy (GE) in DF and SRB, respectively, and this suggested a strong potential for these ingredients as dietary energy sources for broiler chickens.

Keywords: Dry fat, stabilized rice bran, digestibility, regression, metabolizability

## 2.2 Introduction

Dietary energy concentration is one of the main factors influencing feed intake in broiler chickens (Jeffre *et al.*, 2010). Dietary provision of adequate energy is important for efficient production and this adequacy is partly dependent on knowledge of the utilizable energy of feed ingredients used in diets (Bolarinwa and Adeola, 2012). However, these energy values can only be assigned using appropriate data derived from a reliable methodology. The regression method has been shown to be a reliable technique when a direct method is not applicable (Bolarinwa and

Adeola, 2016). Compared to the direct method, which involves adding a test ingredient as the sole source of the test nutrient in the experimental diet (Kong and Adeola, 2014), the regression method accommodates supplementation of only a portion of the reference diet (RD) with the test ingredient.

Dry fat (DF) is an energy source widely used in ruminant nutrition to improve growth, reproductive performance and decrease fatty acid biohydrogenation within the rumen (Hightshoe *et al.*, 1991; Behan *et al.*, 2019). A common brand is the Megalac<sup>TM</sup>, which is a bypass fat which alleviates depression in fibre digestibility associated with oils and has shown high potential in supplying energy in ruminants. Megalac<sup>TM</sup> is a calcium salt of long-chain fatty acids derived from vegetable oils with ethoxyquin added as preservative (Alizadeh *et al.*, 2012) and is highly digestible (Huang *et al.*, 2009) with the added advantage over soybean oil (SBO) of being a dry granular material. Therefore, it mixes well with all common ingredients and does not melt or freeze, irrespective of weather fluctuations. Given its potential nutritional value and ease of mixing into a complete diet, DF may be a useful feedstuff in broiler chicken nutrition and could serve as a credible addition to the list of lipid sources used in broiler chicken diet. However, the data on the energy value of DF for broiler chickens is scarce.

Stabilized rice bran (SRB) is a by-product of rice milling but, in contrast to regular rice bran, the lipases in SRB have been deactivated by heat and friction, thereby ensuring the stability of its oil content even when stored for several months (Randall *et al.*,1985; Qureshi *et al.*, 2002). Stabilized rice bran has received increasing attention as a livestock feedstuff due to its nutritional qualities, although it is relatively high in fibre and phytate. In broiler chicken diets, an inclusion level of 10–20% has been recommended to promote performance in birds (Gallinger *et al.*, 2004), possibly due to the potential prebiotic characteristics of the SRB non-starch polysaccharides in the gastrointestinal tract.

To appropriately utilize these ingredients in the diets of broiler chickens, an estimation of their energy values is necessary. Therefore, the objective of the current study was to determine the ileal digestible energy (IDE), metabolizable energy (ME) and nitrogen-corrected ME (MEn) of DF and SRB for broiler chickens using the regression method.

# 2.2.1 Materials And Methods

All experimental protocols were reviewed and approved by the Purdue University Animal Care and Use Committee (#1311000983), Indiana, USA.

# 2.2.2 Bird management, experimental design, and diets

The two experiments were conducted using the same protocol. A total of 384 male broiler chicks (Cobb 500; Siloam Spring, AR, USA) were obtained from a local hatchery at one day old. Chicks were individually tagged with identification numbers and reared in electrically heated battery cages (model SB 4 T; Alternative Design Manufacturing and Supply, Siloam Springs, AR) with temperature and lighting maintained as previously described by Aderibigbe et al. (2020a). Birds had *ad libitum* access to water and a standard broiler chicken starter diet from 0 to 17 d of age. In each Exp., on d 17, 192 male broiler chickens were individually weighed, and randomly assigned to one of the experimental diets in a complete block design, with body weight (BW) as a blocking factor. Each experimental diet comprised eight replicate cages containing eight birds each. The DF used as the fat source in Exp. 2 was Megalac<sup>TM</sup>, a calcium salt of long-chain fatty acids (Essentiom, Church and Dwight Co. Inc., Ewing Township, NJ, USA). Dietary treatments consisted of a corn-soybean meal-based reference diet (RD) and two test diets prepared by supplementing the RD with either DF at 50 or 100 g/kg (Exp. 1); or SRB at 100 or 200 g/kg (Exp. 2), at the expense of corn and soybean meal in Exp. 1 but corn, soybean meal and dry fat in Exp. 2 (Tables 1 and 2). In both experiments, titanium dioxide was included at 5 g/kg as an indigestible marker. Birds were given ad libitum access to water and experimental diets from 17 to 22 days old. All diets used were fed as mash, and vitamin-mineral premix was added to all diets according to requirement (NRC, 1994).

## 2.2.3 Sample collection and chemical analysis

On d 19 post hatching, for both experiments, the excreta collection pans were lined with waxed paper for daily sample collection from d 20 to 22. The samples were pooled within a cage over the three day and stored in a freezer at  $-20^{\circ}$ C until further analysis. The BW gain and feed intake (FI; g/bird) during the experimental periods were recorded, and the gain to feed ratio (G: F; g/kg) of each cage was calculated. On d 22, all birds were euthanized *via* carbon dioxide

asphyxiation. Ileal digesta samples were collected from the distal two-thirds of the ileum, defined as extending from Meckel's diverticulum to the ileo-caecal junction. The content in the ileum was flushed out with distilled water and pooled per cage then stored in a freezer at  $-20^{\circ}$ C until further analysis. At the end of the experiments, ileal digesta and excreta samples were thawed and placed in a forced-air oven (Precision Scientific Co., Chicago, IL, USA; method 934.01; AOAC, 2006) at 55°C for 96 h. Dried samples were ground using a mill grinder (Retsch ZM 100; Retsch GmbH and Co., Haan, Germany). Gross energy (GE) of the test ingredients, diets, excreta samples, and ileal digesta samples were determined using an isoperibol oxygen bomb calorimeter (Parr 1261; Parr Instruments Co., Moline, IL, USA) with benzoic acid as a calibration standard. Dry matter (DM) content was determined by drying samples in an oven at 105°C for 24 h (method 934.01; AOAC, 2005). Nitrogen (N) concentration was determined using the combustion method (Model FP2000; Leco Corp., St. Joseph, MI, USA) with EDTA as the calibration standard. Titanium (TI) concentrations in experimental diets, excreta, and ileal digesta samples were analyzed by spectrophotometer at 410 nm of absorption (TruMac N; LECO Corp., St. Joseph, MI, USA) as described by Short et al. (1996). Test ingredients concentrations of crude fibre, NDF, and ADF were analyzed as described in AOAC (2006 methods 978.10 and 973.18 (A, B, C, and D). Calcium (Ca) and phosphorus (P) concentration of test ingredients were determined using method previously described by Aderibigbe *et al.* (2020b). The Ca concentration was measured by flame atomic absorption spectroscopy using Varian Spectr. AA 220FS (Varian Australia Pty Ltd, Victoria, Australia) while P concentrations were estimated by spectrophotometry and the absorbance read at 630 nm (Spectronic 21D, Milton Roy Co., Rochester, NY). Free fatty acid composition and acid hydrolyzed fat of the test ingredients were analyzed by a previously described method (Horwitz, 2000).

# 2.2.4 Calculations and statistical analysis

The index method was used to calculate the apparent ileal digestibility and metabolizability of DM, N, and GE in the experimental diets (Kong and Adeola, 2014). The IDE and apparent ME contents of the experimental diets were then calculated as the product of respective coefficients and the GE of diets. Apparent MEn was calculated by correction of apparent ME to zero N retention using the factor of 8.22 kcal/g of N (Hill and Anderson, 1958). The apparent ileal

digestibility or metabolizability of nutrient or GE in DF and SRB were calculated by the following equation:

 $\mathbf{C} = [1 - (\mathbf{T}\mathbf{I}_i/\mathbf{T}\mathbf{I}_o) \times (\mathbf{E}_o/\mathbf{E}_i)];$ 

where C was the coefficient of ileal digestibility or metabolizability of nutrient or energy; TI<sub>i</sub> and TI<sub>o</sub> represented the concentration of TI (g/kg DM) in experimental diets and ileal digesta or excreta samples, respectively;  $E_i$  and  $E_o$  are the concentration of nutrient or GE (kcal/kg DM) in experimental diets and ileal digesta or excreta samples, respectively. Based on C, the coefficient of ileal digestibility or metabolizability of nutrient or energy, the IDE, ME, and MEn in experimental diets were calculated as the product of C and gross energy of the diet. The IDE (kcal/kg DM) in test ingredients, IDEti, was calculated by difference procedure suggested by Adeola (2001): IDE<sub>ti</sub> = [IDE<sub>td</sub> – (P<sub>rd</sub> × IDE<sub>rd</sub>)] / P<sub>ti</sub>,

where  $IDE_{ti}$ ,  $IDE_{td}$ , and  $IDE_{rd}$  represent the IDE in test ingredients, test diets, and reference diet, respectively;  $P_{rd}$  and  $P_{ti}$  represented the proportion of reference diet and test ingredient (kg/kg) in test diets, respectively. The ME and MEn in test ingredients were calculated by replacing IDE with ME or MEn. The test ingredient intake was the product of feed DM, feed intake, and the proportion of test ingredient in test diets. Test ingredient-associated IDE, ME, or MEn intake were calculated as product of test ingredient intake and IDE<sub>ti</sub>, ME<sub>ti</sub>, or MEn<sub>ti</sub>.

Digestibility data was analyzed as a randomised complete block design using the GLM procedure of SAS (SAS Inst. Inc., Cary, NC). The model included experimental diets and block as independent variables. Linear and quadratic contrasts were used to compare the effects of increasing levels of DF or SRB. Regression of the test ingredient associated IDE, ME, and MEn intake in kcal *vs*. the test ingredient intake for each cage of birds was conducted using multiple linear regressions as described by Bolarinwa and Adeola (2012, 2016). The solution option was used to generate intercept and slopes. Y was test ingredient-associated IDE, ME, or MEn intake in kcal while DMintake was the test ingredient in kilograms of DM.

# 2.3 Result

The analyzed nutrient composition of the test ingredients and experimental diets are shown in Tables 2-1 and 2-2, respectively. There was a linear decrease (P < 0.001) in BW gain of the chickens (Table 2-3) with increasing dietary concentration of DF. A quadratic effect (P < 0.05) was also observed in BW gain and feed intake with increasing concentration of DF whereas G: F linearly decreased (P < 0.001) with increasing dietary DF concentration. Increasing dietary concentration of DF resulted in a quadratic (P < 0.05) effect on the ileal DM digestibility but the metabolizability of nitrogen linearly increased (P < 0.001). Similarly, the concentration of IDE, ME, and MEn in the diet increased linearly (P < 0.001) as the concentration of the DF increased. When compared with the RD, the substitution of 100g/kg of DF increased IDE, ME, and MEn by 8.7%, 8.1% and 9.0% respectively. In Exp. 2, there was a linear decrease (P < 0.001) in BW gain and G:F with increasing dietary SRB concentration. The metabolizability of DM and energy decreased linearly (P < 0.05) with increasing dietary SRB concentration. The regression-derived IDE concentration for DF and SRB were 6,047 and 3,556 kcal/kg DM, respectively (Table 2-4). The respective ME and MEn concentration were 6,051 and 5,922 kcal/kg DM for DF; 3,437 and 3,193 kcal/kg DM for SRB.

## 2.4 Discussion

The increasing costs and undersupply of protein and energy ingredients are significant obstacles for animal production and the feed industry. In order to replace the very limited conventional feed resources, there is increasing interest in nutritionally adequate alternatives. However, utilization of these unconventional feed ingredients has been limited by the paucity of information on their nutrient and energy availability. The gross energy composition of DF was similar to that reported by Selim *et al.* (2013) for dry fat product. In the current study, the ether extract of DF could not be obtained, because the fatty acids were not in a free form but were rather part of a calcium salt containing long chain fatty acids, therefore acid hydrolysis was performed. The chemical composition for SRB were similar to a previous report by Pereira and Adeola (2016) for un-stabilized rice bran, except that the SRB had higher fibre and lower phosphorus content.

The current study showed that addition of up to 10% DF in the diet resulted in a quadratic decrease in growth performance indices in birds. This trend is similar to observations by Fascina et al. (2009) who evaluated inclusion of soybean oil and beef tallow in starter diet and showed that increasing soybean oil had a quadratic influence on growth performance. This observation is quite expected, as birds will eat to satisfy their energy requirement and typically reduce feed intake as dietary energy concentration increases (Jeffre et al., 2010). Another possible reason for a reduced feed intake might be due to a reduced palatability of the test diet containing the DF as it was observed that DF directly increased the dustiness and dryness of the feed (data not shown), which

might have led to the associative decrease in feed palatability and intake (Forbes, 2003). It is also possible that the excessively high Ca to P ratio in DF disrupted the overall feed intake response of the birds. A wide Ca:P ratio caused by high dietary calcium could adversely affect phosphorus metabolism and utilization through the formation of Ca-P complexes which is unavailable for birds in the gastrointestinal tract (Li et al., 2012; Han et al., 2016). Hence, a suppressed growth performance.

The digestibility and metabolizability coefficients of GE were not affected by increasing dietary DF. However, IDE, ME, and MEn concentrations increased with increasing DF concentrations in the diet. This observation was likely due to the high gross energy density of DF. Alternatively, it may have been as a result of the improved digestibility of the fatty acid in the calcium soap which resulted in a consequent increase in the concentration of fatty acids in the intestinal chime (Bhatt and Sahoo, 2017; Behan *et al.*, 2019). Furthermore, the dry nature of DF could have reduced fat susceptibility to oxidative peroxidation. The ME content of the diets followed a similar trend to a previous report by Cerniglia (1981) who examined the ME of SBO and tallow at 5% and 10% replacement. However, this was contrary to observations by Su *et al.* (2015) who reported that determined ME were not affected by inclusion level of SBO or palm oil. The increased dietary ME concentration suggests an increased efficiency of DF utilization by birds as this resulted in a decrease in the percentage of fat in the diet that was excreted

In addition, because energy utilization is affected by age, species, and protein quality of a feed (Bolarinwa and Adeola, 2012), the current study corrected ME for nitrogen retention, and the ME of the diets in Exp. 1 decreased by 5.5% to 6.5% when corrected to MEn. The regressionderived IDE, ME, MEn for DF were 6,047; 6,051; and 5,922 kcal/kg of DM respectively. These were relatively lower than values previously reported for SBO and tallow, where Bertechini *et al.* (2019) reported ME values that ranged from 8,229 to 8,824 kcal/ kg and MEn from 8,497 to 8,769 kcal/kg when SBO was fed to broiler chickens of different age group while Baião and Lara (2005) reported an AME value of 7,373 kcal/ kg for tallow fed to three-week-old broiler chickens. However, higher energy value was expected for SBO compared to DF, due to the presence of more double bonds, which released more energy upon dissociation in the gut. Also, respective lipid concentrations (DM basis) of 100, 96, or 88% for SBO, tallow, or DF, could have direct implications on the respective GE and energy utilization values. Substituting the reference diet with 100 g/kg of DF increased IDE, ME, and MEn by 8.7%, 8.1% and 9.0% respectively.

In Exp. 2, the inclusion of SRB resulted in a decrease in the final BW, BW gain, and G: F ratio. Fibre content is well known to be the causative agent for the negative effect of fibrous feed stuff on growth performance and nutrient utilization for birds and inclusion of SRB typifies one of such cases (Jørgensen et al., 1996; Sklan et al., 2003; Adeola et al., 2010). A decrease was observed for DM and GE metabolizability, with increasing SRB levels. This was partly expected due to increased dietary fibre concentration as SRB replaced the more utilizable ingredients in the test diet (Bolarinwa and Adeola, 2012). The negative effect of high dietary fibre on nutrient utilization in birds has been widely reported (Jørgensen *et al.*, 1996; Sklan *et al.*, 2003; Adeola *et al.*, 2003; Adeola *et al.*, 2010). This is because dietary fibre affects viscosity and passage rate of digesta, which affects nutrient utilization by the birds. Although dietary fibre causes increased production of volatile fatty acids (VFA) in the hindgut of the birds (Mateos *et al.*, 2012), utilization of VFA as energy source for poultry has been associated with some inefficiencies (Langhout *et al.*, 2000). Notwithstanding, the data suggested that the IDE, ME, and MEn concentration were unaffected by SRB inclusion up to 200 g/kg replacement in the diet. This demonstrated that energy utilization in the two test diets containing SRB were similar to those in the reference diet.

The regression-derived estimates for IDE, ME, MEn values for SRB were 3,556; 3,437; and 3,193 kcal/kg of DM, respectively. These values were higher than those previously reported for regular unstabilized rice bran (RURB) in broiler chickens. Conte *et al.* (2002) reported 2,553 kcal AME/kg and 2,533 kcal AMEn/kg whereas Rostagno *et al.* (2011) reported 2,522 kcal AME/kg while Pereira and Adeola, (2016) reported 2,498; 2,691; and 2,476 kcal/kg DM for IDE, ME, MEn values of RURB, respectively. The higher energy values of SRB over RURB may be explained by the increased stability of the oil in SRB due to the inactivated lipase enzymes that would otherwise degrade the rice bran oil. Interestingly, the value obtained for SRB in the current study was similar to those reported for whole rice meal (WRM) fed to broiler chickens. Junqueira *et al.* (2009) reported 2,968 kcal AME/kg and 2,804 kcal AMEn/kg for WRM. This suggested that, although a by-product of rice milling, SRB may be a good energy source for broiler chickens.

The current data shows that DF and SRB can be utilized in the diet of broiler chickens and should be considered for energy supply, although inclusion should be based on practical inclusion levels. A 5% inclusion might be preferable for DF, while further inclusion could reduce palatability

of diet leading to an associative decrease in feed intake. Moreover, SBO inclusion in practical diets are generally not more than 5% (Bolarinwa and Adeola, 2012; Rutherfurd *et al.*, 2012) because of its high energy density.

In conclusion, the current data suggested that broiler chickens were able to utilize between 77 to 79% and 68 to 76% of the GE in DF and SRB, respectively. The respective regressionderived IDE, ME, and MEn estimates (kcal/kg DM) for dry fat were 6,047, 6,051, and 5,922. Respective estimates for stabilized rice bran were 3,556, 3,437, and 3,193kcal/kg DM.

# 2.5 Literature Cited

- Adeola O. Digestion and balance techniques in pigs 2001. In: *Swine Nutrition*. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. A.J. Lewis and L.L. Southern ed. CRC Press; Washington, DC, 903–916
- Adeola, O., Jendza J. A., Southern L. L., Powell S. and Owusu- Asiedu A., 2010. Contribution of exogenous dietary carbohydrases to the metabolizable energy value of corn distillers grains for boiler chickens. *Poult. Sci.* 89:1947–1954. doi: 10.3382/ps.2010-00706
- Aderibigbe, A. S., Park, C. S., Adebiyi, A., Olukosi, O. A. and Adeola, O. 2020a. Digestibility of Amino Acids in Protein-Rich Feed Ingredients Originating from Animals, Peanut Flour, and Full-Fat Soybeans Fed to Pigs. *Animals*. 10: 2062. doi:10.3390/ani10112062
- Aderibigbe, A., Cowieson, A. J., Sorbara, J. O., Pappenberger, G. and Adeola, O. 2020b. Growth performance and amino acid digestibility responses of broiler chickens fed diets containing purified soybean trypsin inhibitor and supplemented with a mono-component protease. *Poult. Sci.* 99: 5007-5017. doi: 10.1016/j.psj.2020.06.051
- Alizadeh, A., Azizi, F., Karkoodi, K., Jalali, S. and Ghoreishi, M. 2012. Effects of calcium salts of fatty acids (Megalac) on reproductive performance and blood parameters of Kalkohi ewes. J. Anim. Poult. Sci. 1:6 – 12.
- AOAC. 2005. Official methods of analysis. 18<sup>th</sup> ed. Washington: Association of Official Analytic Chemists.
- AOAC. 2006. *Official methods of analysis*. 18th ed. Gaithersburg, MD: Association of Official Analytic Chemists.
- Baião, N. C. and Lara, L. J. C. 2005. Oil and fat in broiler nutrition. *Braz. J. Poult. Sci.* 7: 129-141. doi: 10.1590/S1516-635X2005000300001

- Behan, A. A., Loh, T. C., Fakurazi, S., Kaka, U., Kaka, A. and Samsudin, A. A. 2019. Effects of Supplementation of Rumen Protected Fats on Rumen Ecology and Digestibility of Nutrients in Sheep. *Animals*. 9: 400. doi:10.3390/ani9070400
- Bertechini, A. G., Kato, R. K., Freitas, L. F. V. B. D., Castro, R. T. D. C. and Mazzuco, H., 2019. Metabolizable energy values of soybean meals and soybean oil for broilers at different ages. *Acta Sci. Anim. Sci.* 41. doi:10.4025/actascianimsci. v41i1.44540
- Bhatt, R. S. and Sahoo, A. 2017. Effect of feeding complete feed block containing rumen protected protein, non-protein nitrogen and rumen protected fat on improving body condition and carcass traits of cull ewes. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. 101:1147–1158. doi:10.1111/jpn.12628.
- Bolarinwa, O. A. and Adeola, O. 2016. Regression and direct methods do not give different estimates of digestible and metabolizable energy values of barley, sorghum, and wheat for pigs. *J. Anim. Sci.* 94:610-618. doi:10.2527/jas2015-9766.
- Bolarinwa, O. A. and Adeola, O. 2012. Energy value of wheat, barley, and wheat dried distillers' grains with solubles for broiler chickens determined using the regression method. *Poult. Sci.* 91:1928–1935. doi: 10.3382/ps.2012-02261.
- Cerniglia, G. J. 1981. "The metabolizable energy determination of fats and oils in broiler chickens." *LSU Historical Dissertations and Theses.* 3588.
- Conte, A. J., Teixeira, A. S., Bertechini, A. G., Fialho, E. T. and Muniz, J. A. 2002. Effect of phytase and xylanase on the metabolizable energy of brown rice bran in broilers. *Cienc. e Agrotecnologia*. 26:1289–1296.
- Forbes, J. M. 2003. Wet foods for poultry. *Avian Poult. Biol. Rev.* 14:175–193. doi: 10.3184/147020603783637481.
- Fascina, V. B., Carrijo, A. S., Souza, K. M. R., Garcia, A. M. L., Kiefer, C. and Sartori, J. R. 2009. Soybean oil and beef tallow in starter broiler diet. *Braz. J. poult. Sci.* 11:249-256. doi:10.1590/S1516-635X2009000400006
- Gallinger, C. I., Suárez, D. M. and Irazusta, A. 2004. Effects of rice bran inclusion on performance and bone mineralization in broiler chicks. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 13:183–190. doi: 10.1093/japr/13.2.183.

- Han, J., Wang, J., Chen, G., Qu, H., Zhang, J., Shi, C., Yan, Y. and Cheng, Y. 2016. Effects of calcium to non-phytate phosphorus ratio and different sources of vitamin D on growth performance and bone mineralization in broiler chickens. *Rev. Bras. de Zootec.* 45: 1-7. doi: 10.1590/S1806-92902016000100001
- Hightshoe, R. B., Cochran, R. C., Corah, L. R., Kiracofe, G. H., Harmon, D. L. and Perry, R. C. 1991. Effects of calcium soaps of fatty acids on postpartum reproductive function in beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 69:4097-4103. doi:10.2527/1991.69104097x
- Hill, F. W. and Anderson D. L. 1958 "Comparison of metabolizable energy and productive energy determinations with growing chicks." *J. Nutr.* 64: 587-603.
- Horwitz, W. 2000. Official Methods of Analysis. 4.5.01, 17<sup>th</sup> edition. Crude fat or ether extract in animal feed. 41.1.33. Polymers and oxidation. *AOAC, Washington DC*.
- Huang, Y., Schoonmaker, J. P., Oren, S. L., Trenkle, A. and Beitz, D. C. 2009. Calcium salts of CLA improve availability of dietary CLA. *Livest. Sci.* 122:1–7 doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2008.07.010
- Jeffre D. F., Leigh H. and Kamyab A. 2010 Comparison of soybean oil with an Animal/vegetable blend at four energy levels in broiler rations from hatch to market. *Int. J. Poult. Sci.* 9: 1027-1030 doi: 10.3923/ijps.2010.1027.1030
- Jørgensen, H., Zhao, X. Q., Knudsen, K. E. B. and Eggum, B. O. 1996. The influence of dietary fibre source and level on the development of the gastrointestinal tract, digestibility and energy metabolism in broiler chickens. *Br. J. Nutr.* 75:379–395. doi: 10.1079/bjn19960141.
- Junqueira, O. M., Duarte, K. F., Cancherini, L. C., Araújo, L. F., de Oliveira, M. C. and Garcia, E. A. 2009. Chemical composition, metabolizable energy and digestible amino acids values of rice by-products for broilers. *Ciênc. Rural* 39: 2497 – 2503.
- Kong, C. and Adeola, O. 2014. Evaluation of amino acids and energy utilization in feedstuffs for swine and poultry diets. *Asian-Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 27: 917-925. doi: 10.5713/ajas.2014. r.02.
- Langhout, D. J., Schutte, J. B., De Jong, J., Sloetjes, H., Verstegen, W. A. and Tamminga, S. 2000. Effect of viscosity on digestion of nutrients in conventional and germ-fee chicks. *Br. J. Nutr.* 83: 533–540. doi: 10.1017/S0007114500000672.

- Li, J., Yuan, J., Guo, Y., Sun, Q. and Hu, X. 2012. The Influence of Dietary Calcium and Phosphorus Imbalance on Intestinal NaPi-IIb and Calbindin mRNA Expression and Tibia Parameters of Broilers. *Asian-Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 25: 552–558. doi: 10.5713/ajas.2011.11266
- Mateos, G. G., Jiménez-Moreno, E., Serrano, M. P. and Lázaro, R. P. 2012. Poultry response to high levels of dietary fibre sources varying in physical and chemical characteristics. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 21:156-174. doi: 10.3382/japr.2011-00477.
- NRC. 1994. Nutrient Requirements of Poultry. 9th rev. ed. Washington, DC: Natl. Acad. Press.
- Pereira, L. F. P. and Adeola, O. 2016. Energy and phosphorus values of sunflower meal and rice bran for broiler chickens using the regression method. *Poult. Sci.* 95: 2081-2089. doi: 10.3382/ps/pew089
- Qureshi, A. A., Sami, S. A. and Khan, F. A. 2002. Effects of stabilized rice bran, its soluble and fiber fractions on blood glucose levels and serum lipid parameters in humans with diabetes mellitus Types I and II. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* 1: 175-187 doi: 10.1016/S0955-2863(01)00211-x
- Randall, J. M., Sayre, R. N., Schultz, W. G., Fong, R. Y., Mossman, A. P., Tribelhorn, R. E. and Saunders, R. M. 1985. "Rice bran stabilization by extrusion cooking for extraction of edible oil." *J. Food Sci.* 50:361-364 doi:10.1111/j.1365-2621. 1985.tb13402. x.
- Rostagno, H. S., Albino, L. F. T., Donzele, J. L., Gomes, P. C., Oliveira, R. F. M., Lopes, D. C., Barreto, S. L. T. and Euclides, R.F. 2011. Brazilian Tables for Poultry and Swine—Composition of Feedstuffs and Nutritional Requirements. *3rd ed. Vi<sub>s</sub>cosa, MG, Brasil.*
- Rutherfurd, S. M., Chung, T. K., Thomas, D. V., Zou, M. L. and Moughan, P. J. 2012. "Effect of a novel phytase on growth performance, apparent metabolizable energy, and the availability of minerals and amino acids in a low-phosphorus corn-soybean meal diet for broilers." *Poult. Sci.* 91: 1118-1127. doi: 10.3382/ps.2011-01702.
- Selim, N. A., Boulos, N. Z., Abdel-Khalek, A. M., Shabaan, M. and Radwan, N. L. 2013. Determination of metabolizable energy of rich unsaturated fatty acids dry-fat in chicken diets using chemical, biological and mathematical Methods. *Int. J. Poult. Sci.* 12: 666 – 675.

- Short, F. J., Gorton, P., Wiseman, J. and Boorman, K. N. 1996. Determination of titanium dioxide added as an inert marker in chicken digestibility studies. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 59: 215– 221. doi:10.1016/0377-8401(95)00916-7.
- Sklan, D., Smirnov, A. and Plavnik, I. 2003. The effect of dietary fibre on the small intestines and apparent digestion in the turkey. *Br. Poult. Sci.* 44:735–740. doi: 10.1080/00071660310001643750.
- Su, Y., She, Y., Huang, Q., Shi, C., Li, Z., Huang, C., Piao, X. and Li, D. 2015. The effect of inclusion level of soybean oil and palm oil on their digestible and metabolizable energy content determined with the difference and regression method when fed to growing pigs. *Asian-Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 28:1751-1759. doi:10.5713/ajas.14.0498.

Composition, g/kg	Dry fat	Stabilized rice bran
Dry matter	970.0	937.0
Gross energy, kcal/kg	7,672	4,865
Crude protein	0.0	149.3
Free fatty acids	6.2	69.9
Acid hydrolyzed fat	884	210
Crude fiber	0.0	72.2
NDF	0.0	203.0
ADF	0.0	86.4
Ash	134.0	102.5
Calcium	89.6	10.0
Phosphorus	0.1	7.3

 Table 2-1. Analyzed chemical composition of test ingredients, on an as fed basis.

	]	Exp. 1			Exp. 2	
					Stabilized	d rice bran
	Dry fat, g/kg			g/kg		
Ingredient, g/kg	$RD^1$	50	100	$RD^1$	100	200
Corn	575.50	544.30	513.20	532.50	475.10	417.70
Soybean meal	360.00	341.16	322.32	360.00	322.60	285.19
Ground limestone	15.00	15.00	15.00	6.00	6.00	6.00
Monocalcium phosphate	13.00	13.00	13.00	15.00	15.00	15.00
Salt	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00
L-Lysine HCl	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
DL-Methionine	2.50	2.50	2.50	2.50	2.50	2.50
L-Threonine	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
Vitamin-mineral premix <sup>2</sup>	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.00
Titanium dioxide premix <sup>3</sup>	25.00	25.00	25.00	25.00	25.00	25.00
Dry fat	0.00	50.00	100.00	50.00	44.81	39.61
SRB	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	100.00	200.00
Calculated composition, g/	kg					
Crude protein (N $\times$ 6.25)	224	212	201	220	211	201
Ether extract	26	66	105	66	59	52
Calcium	8.9	13	18	10	10	9
Phosphorus	7	7	6	7	8	9
Non-phytate P	4.3	4.2	4.1	4.7	4.8	4.8
Analyzed nutrient, g/kg						
Gross energy, kcal/kg	3,815	3,984	4,244	4,055	4,125	4,187
Crude protein (N $\times$ 6.25)	205	194	186	208	203	190
Ether extract	20.5	45.5	39.8	44.8	52.6	56.0
Crude fiber	21.0	18.3	16.5	20.2	22.9	26.4
Neutral detergent fiber	53.3	54.8	53.2	52.8	67.9	83.6
Acid detergent fiber	19.6	17.4	16.7	16.9	20.4	34.5
Ash	47.3	55.7	60.4	55.9	62.6	69.4

Table 2-2. Ingredient composition, calculated composition and analyzed composition of diets

 $^{1}$  RD = reference diet. <sup>2</sup>Provided the following quantities per kg of complete diet: retinol, 3.29 mg; cholecalciferol, 0.13 mg; tocopherol, 14.74 mg; menadione, 8.76 mg; riboflavin, 11.0 mg; D-pantothenic acid, 22.0 mg; niacin, 88.2 mg; choline chloride, 1,542 mg; vitamin B12, 0.03 mg; biotin, 0.11 mg; thiamine mononitrate, 4.40 mg; folic acid, 1.98 mg; pyridoxine hydrochloride, 6.60 mg; I, 2.22 mg; Mn, 132 mg; Cu, 8.88 mg; Fe, 88.2 mg; Zn, 88.2 mg; Se, 0.60 mg. <sup>3</sup>1 g Titanium dioxide plus 4 g corn.

		Dry fat, g/kg			<i>P</i> -value	
Item <sup>2</sup>	$RD^1$	50	100	SEM	Linear	Quadratic
Experiment 1						
Growth performance						
Initial BW, g	548	548	548	0.2	-	_
Final BW, g	872	874	839	4.2	< 0.001	0.002
BW gain, g	324	327	292	4.0	< 0.001	0.002
Feed intake, g	471	484	462	5.7	0.283	0.023
G:F, g/kg	687	675	631	5.8	< 0.001	0.039
Ileal digestibility, coefficient						
DM	0.77	0.76	0.77	0.004	0.645	0.017
Energy	0.74	0.73	0.73	0.004	0.242	0.622
IDE, kcal/kg DM	3,181	3,277	3,456	18.9	< 0.001	0.097
Metabolizability, coefficient						
DM	0.77	0.76	0.77	0.005	0.629	0.564
Nitrogen	0.79	0.83	0.84	0.008	< 0.001	0.285
Energy	0.76	0.75	0.75	0.005	0.132	0.901
Nitrogen-corrected Energy	0.70	0.70	0.70	0.005	0.580	0.887
ME, kcal/kg DM	3,250	3,358	3,516	22.7	< 0.001	0.364
ME <sub>n</sub> , kcal/kg DM	3,040	3,148	3,315	20.8	< 0.001	0.244
		Stabilized 1	rice bran, g/kg	_		
	$RD^1$	100	200			
Experiment 2						
Growth Performance						
Initial BW, g	548	548	548	0.3	-	-
Final BW, g	910	902	874	6.1	< 0.001	0.228
BW gain, g	363	354	326	6.2	< 0.001	0.230
Feed intake, g	483	476	466	8.4	0.158	0.862
G:F, g:kg	751	745	702	9.1	< 0.001	0.448
Ileal digestibility coefficient						
DM	0.71	0.70	0.69	0.007	0.188	0.959
Energy	0.72	0.73	0.72	0.007	0.797	0.580
IDE, kcal/kg DM	3,248	3,322	3,286	29.4	0.397	0.152
Metabolizability, %	,					
DM	0.72	0.72	0.71	0.004	0.017	0.415
Nitrogen	0.72	0.74	0.75	0.015	0.279	0.783
Energy	0.76	0.75	0.75	0.004	0.038	0.818
Nitrogen-corrected Energy	0.71	0.70	0.70	0.003	0.143	0.829
ME, kcal/kg DM	3,420	3,439	3,396	15.8	0.301	0.129
$ME_n$ , kcal/kg DM	3,217	3,231	3,186	12.4	0.102	0.071

**Table 2-3.** Ileal digestibility and metabolizability of DM and gross energy of chickens fed diets containing dry fat and stabilized rice bran from d 17 to 22 post hatching in Exp. 1 and 2.

 $^{1}$ RD = Reference diet.  $^{2}$ Each mean represents eight replicate cages with eight chickens per cage; IDE = Ileal digestible energy, ME = Metabolizable energy, ME<sub>n</sub> = Nitrogen-corrected metabolizable energy.

**Table 2.4**. Regression equations relating test ingredient-associated gross energy intake (kcal/kg) to test ingredient intake (g/kg DM) using dry fat (DF) in Exp. 1 and stabilized rice bran (SRB)in Exp.  $2^1$ 

LAP. 2				
Item <sup>2</sup>	Regression equation	$\mathbb{R}^2$	SD	
Exp. 1(Dry fat)				
IDE	$Y = 6,047 (337.0) \times DF - 4.78 (9.082)$	0.94	28.2	
ME	$Y = 6,051 (319.3) \times DF - 4.78 (8.604)$	0.94	26.5	
ME <sub>n</sub>	$Y = 5,922 (293.5) \times DF - 4.78 (7.997)$	0.95	24.4	
Exp. 2 (Stabilized	rice bran)			
IDE	$Y = 3,556 (208.9) \times SRB + 7.17(11.711)$	0.93	25.8	
ME	Y = 3,437 (109.7) × SRB + 4.78 (5.975)	0.98	18.9	
ME <sub>n</sub>	$Y = 3,193 (88.43) \times SRB + 4.78 (5.019)$	0.98	15.3	

<sup>1</sup> Values in parentheses are SE; Y is in kcal, Slope is in kcal/kg DM, Intercept is in kcal. <sup>2</sup> IDE = Ileal digestible energy; ME = Metabolizable energy; ME<sub>n</sub> = Nitrogen-corrected metabolizable energy.

# CHAPTER 3. ENERGY VALUE OF HYDROLYZED FEATHER MEAL AND FLASH-DRIED POULTRY PROTEIN FOR BROILER CHICKENS AND PIGS.

### 3.1 Abstract

Three experiments were conducted to determine the ileal digestible energy (IDE), metabolizable energy (ME), and nitrogen-corrected ME (MEn) contents of hydrolyzed feather meal (HFM) and flash-dried poultry protein (FDPP) for broiler chickens and to determine the digestible energy (DE) and ME of HFM and FDPP for pigs. The HFM or FDPP were incorporated into a reference diet either at 3 levels (0, 75, or 150 g/kg) in experiments (Exp.) 1 and 2 or 2 levels (0, 150 g/kg) in Exp. 3 by replacing the energy-yielding ingredients. Each diet was randomly allocated to 8 replicate cages of broiler chickens (6 birds per cage) or barrows. In Exp. 1, the inclusion of HFM, linearly decreased (P < 0.05) the nitrogen corrected metabolizability although, the ME concentration in the diets were linearly increased (P < 0.05). In Exp. 2, a linear decrease was observed on the ileal digestibility of DM and energy (P < 0.05). It was also observed that the total tract retention (TTR) of DM and energy linearly increased (P < 0.05). Similarly, the ME and MEn concentration linearly increased with a *P*-value of < 0.001 and 0.01, respectively. In Exp. 3, the dietary treatments significantly increased (P < 0.05) the fecal energy loss. Diet substituted with HFM had significantly higher (P < 0.001) urinary GE loss than the RD. The TTR of GE in the RD was significantly higher than those in the test diet containing 150 g/kg of HFM. The respective IDE, ME, and MEn evaluated for HFM in the current study were 4,509, 4,250, and 3745 kcal/kg DM with corresponding values of 3,221, 4,710, and 4,081 kcal/kg DM for FDPP when fed to broiler chickens. In pigs, the respective DE and ME evaluated for HFM were 4,783 and 4,405 kcal/kg DM while estimates for FDPP were 4,553 and 4,320 kcal/kg DM, respectively.

**Keywords:** Broiler chickens, by-products, flash-dried poultry protein, hydrolyzed feather meal, pigs.

### 3.2 Introduction

Broiler chickens and pigs are prominent monogastric species particularly raised for their meat production. Necessary information on their nutrient and energy availability is pertinent to

precisely formulate diets that would meet their requirements and enable effective substitution of ingredients. Keen interest should be placed on dietary energy because of its importance in feed intake and its direct impact on bird growth and diet cost (Ahiwe *et al.*, 2018). Hence, there is a continual need to evaluate feedstuffs that could serve as credible addition to the list of energy supplying feed ingredients.

Hydrolyzed feather meal (HFM) is a by-product of the poultry processing industry produced by steam-hydrolyzing fresh poultry feathers (Sulabo *et al.*, 2013). Recent reports on HFM energy values are limited; for which HFM produced in recent times might be processed more efficiently due to technological advances than in the past, which might consequently affect their nutrient content. For example, in the past decade, there has been a progressive shifting away from acid or alkaline hydrolysis towards pressure cooking (Moritz S. and Latshaw., 2001) and enzymatic hydrolysis (Thazeem *et al.*, 2016) of feather with this reported to result in feather meals with 75% pepsin digestibility (Csapó, and Albert, 2018). Similarly, the flash-dried poultry protein (FDPP) is also a by-product derived from the inedible portion of the poultry meat processing industry through the flash-drying procedure rather than via dry-rendering (Ravindran *et al.*, 1993; Kureshy *et al.*, 2000). Flash dried poultry protein is a protein-rich by-product with an amino acid profile that is comparable to fish meal (Moser *et al.*, 1998). Park *et al.* (2020) reported its amino acid digestibility but information on the energy values have rarely been reported. Therefore, the objective of this study was to determine the energy value of HFM and FDPP in broiler chickens and pigs.

### **3.3** Materials and Methods

All experimental protocols were reviewed and approved by the Purdue University Animal Care and Use Committee (PACUC, West Lafayette, IN). The PACUC protocol number for the broiler chicken and pig experiments were #1311000983 and #1112000248, respectively. The HFM and FDPP used in all the experiments were provided by Darling Ingredients, Inc., Cold Spring, KY.

### **3.3.1** Animal management, experimental design, and diets

# Experiments 1 and 2: Energy value of HFM and FDPP for Broiler Chickens

Experiments (Exp.) 1 and 2 were conducted using the same protocol but at different time periods. A total of 288 male broiler chicks (Ross 708; Aviagen, Huntsville, AL) were obtained from a local hatchery at day old. Chicks were individually tagged for identification purpose and reared in electrically heated battery cages (model SB 4 T; Alternative Design Manufacturing and Supply, Siloam Springs, AR) with temperature maintained at 35, 31, and 27°C from days 0 to 7, 7 to 14, and 14 to 22 or 23, respectively. Light was provided 23 h per day throughout the study. Birds had *ad libitum* access to water throughout the duration of the experiments. A standard broiler chicken starter diet was fed from days 0 to 17 or 0 to 16 in Exp. 1 or 2, respectively. In Exp. 1 or 2, 144 male broiler chickens were individually weighed on d 18 or 17, respectively, and randomly assigned to one of the dietary treatments in a randomized complete block design, with body weight (BW) as a blocking factor. Each dietary treatment contained 8 replicate cages with 6 birds per cage. Dietary treatments consisted of a corn-soybean meal-based reference diet (RD) and two test diets prepared by supplementing the RD with either HFM at 75 or 150 g/kg (Exp. 1); or FDPP at 75 or 150 g/kg (Exp. 2), at the expense of corn, soybean meal (SBM), and dry fat (Table 1). The nutrient composition of the dry fat used in the current study were according to Osunbami et al. (2021).

All diets in both experiments were formulated to maintain the ratio of corn to SBM to dry fat at 0.63:0.32:0.05. In both experiments, titanium dioxide was included at 5 g/kg as an indigestible marker in the diets. Birds had un-restricted access to experimental diets for five days. All diets were fed in mash form, and vitamin-mineral premix was added to all diets according to requirement (NRC, 1994). Excreta collection was performed during the last 3 days of the experimental period in collection pans lined with waxed paper. After 5 days of feeding the experimental diets, all birds were euthanized by asphyxiation using CO<sub>2</sub>, weighed individually, and dissected to excise the ileum. Ileal digesta samples were collected from the distal two-thirds of the ileum, which is defined as extending from Meckel's diverticulum to the ileo-cecal junction, by flushing with distilled water. The content in the ileum were pooled per cage then stored in a freezer at  $-20^{\circ}$ C until further analysis. The BW gain and feed intake (FI; g/bird) during the

experimental periods were recorded, and the gain to feed ratio (G: F; g/kg) of each cage was calculated.

## **Experiment 3: Energy value of HFM and FDPP for Pigs**

Twenty-four barrows with initial BW of approximately 20 kg were individually housed in metabolic crates equipped with a feeder and drinker. Barrows used were crossbreed of Duroc x Yorkshire x Landrace. Pigs were assigned one of three dietary treatments in a randomized complete block design with BW as blocking factor. The reference diet was prepared to contain corn, SBM, and soybean oil (SBO) as the sole sources of energy (Table 1). The two test diets were prepared by adding HFM or FDPP at 150 g/kg at the expense of corn, SBM, and SBO in the RD. The corn: SBM: SBO ratio was kept at 0.70:0.25:0.05. Daily feed allowance was estimated as 4.5% of mean BW of pigs in each block. The daily feed allowance was portioned into 2 equal meals and fed at 0800 and 1700 h. All diets were formulated to meet or exceed the estimated vitamin and mineral requirements suggested in NRC (2012). There were 5 days of adaptation to the feed and environment. The marker-to-marker procedure was employed in sample collection (Adeola, 2001). On days 6 and 11, the first meal fed to pigs were hand mixed with approximately 3 g of chromic oxide used as a colored marker. Collection of feces started at the appearance of first marker in feces and halted at the appearance of the second marker. During the fecal collection period, urine was also quantitatively collected using plastic buckets containing 10 mL of 10% formic acid. Urine collected daily from each pig was weighed and proportionally subsampled. Feces and urine collected were immediately stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C.

# 3.3.2 Chemical Analysis

At the end of the experiments, ileal digesta, excreta, fecal, and urine samples were thawed and placed in a forced-air oven (Precision Scientific Co., Chicago, IL, USA; method 934.01; AOAC, 2006) at 55°C for 120 h. Dried ileal digesta samples were ground using a centrifugal grinder (ZM 200; Retsch GmbH, Haan, Germany) while excreta and fecal samples were ground using a mill grinder (ZM 100; Retsch GmbH, Haan, Germany). Gross energy (GE) of the test ingredients, experimental diets, ileal digesta samples, excreta samples, fecal samples, and dried urine were determined using an isoperibol oxygen bomb calorimeter (Parr 1261; Parr Instruments Co., Moline, IL, USA) with benzoic acid as a calibration standard. Dry matter (DM) content was determined by drying samples in an oven at 105°C for 24 h (method 934.01; AOAC, 2005). Nitrogen concentration was determined using the combustion method (TruMac N; LECO Corp., St. Joseph, MI, USA) with EDTA as the calibration standard. Titanium concentrations in experimental diets, excreta, and ileal digesta samples for Exp. 1 and 2 were analyzed by spectrophotometer at 410 nm of absorption (Spectronic 21D; Milton Roy Co., Rochester, NY, USA) as described by Short *et al.* (1996). In addition, test ingredients were analyzed for crude fiber (method 978.10; AOAC, 2006), ether extract (method 945.16; AOAC, 2000), and ash content (method 942.05; AOAC, 2006).

### **3.3.3** Calculations and Statistical Analysis

In Exp. 1 and 2, the index method was used to calculate the ileal digestibility and total tract retention (TTR) of DM, N, and GE in the experimental diets (Kong and Adeola, 2014). The ileal digestibility or TTR of nutrient or GE in HFM and FDPP were calculated by the following equation:

$$\mathbf{Z} = [1 - (\mathbf{T}\mathbf{C}_{i}/\mathbf{T}\mathbf{C}_{o}) \times (\mathbf{E}_{o}/\mathbf{E}_{i})].$$

where Z is the coefficient of ileal digestibility and percentage ileal digestibility was derived by multiplying Z by 100, TTR of nutrient or energy;  $TC_i$  and  $TC_o$  represent the concentration of titanium (g/kg DM) in experimental diets and ileal digesta or excreta output, respectively;  $E_i$  and  $E_o$  are the concentration of nutrient or GE (kcal/kg DM) in experimental diets and ileal digesta or excreta output, respectively.

The IDE, ME, and MEn in experimental diets were then calculated as the product of Z and gross energy of the diet. The MEn was calculated by a correction of ME to zero N retention using the factor of 8.22 kcal/g of N (Hill and Anderson, 1958). The IDE (kcal/kg DM) in test ingredients, IDEti, was calculated by difference procedure proposed by Adeola (2001):  $IDE_{ti} = [IDE_{td} - (P_{rd} \times IDE_{rd})] / P_{ti}$ , where  $IDE_{ti}$ ,  $IDE_{td}$ , and  $IDE_{rd}$  represent the IDE in test ingredients, test diets, and reference diet, respectively;  $P_{rd}$  and  $P_{ti}$  represented the proportional contribution of reference diet and test ingredient (kg/kg) in test diets, respectively. The ME and MEn in test ingredients were calculated following the same calculation steps as IDE of test ingredient. Orthogonal polynomial contrasts were performed to determine the linear and quadratic

effects of increasing levels of test ingredients. Data were analyzed using GLM procedure of SAS (SAS Inst. Inc., Cary, NC). The model included diet and block as independent variables. Statistical significance was declared at P < 0.05 while tendencies were declared at P < 0.10. The test ingredient DM intake (DMIti) was the product of feed DM, feed intake, and the proportion of test ingredient in test diets. Test ingredient-associated IDE, ME, or MEn intake were calculated as product of test ingredient intake and IDE<sub>ti</sub>, ME<sub>ti</sub>, or MEn<sub>ti</sub>. Regression analysis between the test ingredient–associated IDE, ME, or MEn intake using the GLM procedure of SAS (SAS Inst. Inc., Cary, NC) to generate a regression equation as described by Bolarinwa and Adeola (2016). In the regression equation, Y was the test ingredient-associated IDE, ME, or MEn intake in kcal while DMIti was the test ingredient in kilograms of DM.

In Exp. 3, the total collection method was used to calculate the Apparent total tract digestibility (ATTD) and metabolizability of energy following the equations suggested by Kong and Adeola, (2014):

ATTD of GE (%) = 
$$100 \times [(FI \times GE_i) - (FO \times GE_o)] / (FI \times GE_i);$$

Metabolizability of GE (%) =  $100 \times [(FI \times GE_i) - (FO \times GE_o) - (UO \times GE_u)] / (FI \times GE_i)$ ,

where FI, FO, and UO are the weight of feed intake, feces output, and urine output (kg, DM), respectively; GE<sub>i</sub>, GE<sub>o</sub>, and GE<sub>u</sub> are the concentration of GE (kcal/kg, DM) in experimental diets, feces, and urine, respectively. The ATTD of nitrogen was calculated following the same equation as ATTD of GE. Based on the ATTD of energy in reference and test diets, the digestibility of energy in the test ingredients was calculated using the following equations (Adeola and Kong, 2014).

$$(D_{rd} \times P_{rd}) + (D_{ti} \times P_{ti}) = D_{td}$$
  
 $P_{rd} = 1 - P_{ti}$   
 $D_{ti} (\%) = D_{rd} + [(D_{td} - D_{rd}) / P_{ti}]$ 

Test ingredient DE (kcal/kg) =  $D_{ti} \times GE_{ti}$ 

Where  $D_{rd}$ ,  $D_{td}$ ,  $D_{ti}$  represents ATTD of energy in RD, test diet and test ingredient, respectively;  $P_{rd}$  and  $P_{ti}$  are proportional contribution of energy in the RD and test ingredient to the test diet, respectively;  $GE_{ti}$  represents gross energy of the test ingredient. The ME contributed from HFM and FDPP was calculated by the same calculation procedure for DE. Data were analyzed using GLM procedure of SAS (SAS Inst. Inc., Cary, NC). The model included experimental diets and block as independent variables. Difference between least square means were separated by pairwise comparison with Tukey's adjustment. Experimental unit was pig and statistical significance was again declared at P < 0.05

### 3.4 Results

The ingredient composition, calculated composition, and the analyzed nutrient composition of the experimental diets used in Exp. 1, 2, and 3 are shown in Table 3-1. The analyzed nutrient composition of the test ingredients is shown in Table 3-2. In Exp. 1, as the dietary concentration of HFM increased, a linear decrease (P < 0.05) in FI was observed (Table 3-3). Similarly, the concentration of the IDE in the diets had a tendency for a linear increase (P = 0.090) as the concentration of HFM increased. The inclusion of HFM tended to decrease TTR of DM linearly (P = 0.077) and quadratically (P = 0.087). As the dietary concentration of HFM increased, the ME concentration in the diets linearly increased (P < 0.05) with a tendency for quadratic effect (P = 0.091), however the TTR of nitrogen-corrected energy was observed to linearly decrease (P < 0.05) with a tendency for quadratic effect (P = 0.081). There was also a tendency for a quadratic effect (P = 0.082) on the MEn concentrations in the diets.

In Exp. 2, there was a tendency for a linear decrease (P = 0.053) in FI (Table 3-4) with increasing concentration of FDPP. Conversely, there was a linear increase in G: F (P < 0.001) with increasing concentration of FDPP. Also, a linear decrease was observed on the ileal digestibility of DM and energy (P < 0.05). It was observed that the TTR of DM linearly increased (P < 0.05) while there was a tendency for both linear (P = 0.090) and quadratic (P = 0.078) effect on TTR of nitrogen. As the dietary concentration of FDPP increased, ME was also observed to linearly increase (P < 0.05). Similarly, MEn concentration linearly increased with a P-value of < 0.01.

In Exp. 3, there was no difference in FI of pigs fed the three experimental diets. The fecal output in RD was significantly lower (P < 0.05) than those observed in the two test diets (Table 3-5). Also, the fecal energy loss was significantly different between dietary treatments (P < 0.05). Urinary GE loss was significantly different (P < 0.001). The metabolizability of GE in the RD was significantly higher (P < 0.05) than the test diet containing 150 g/kg of HFM but not different from

the test diet containing 150 g/kg of FDPP. The DE and ME concentration were not significantly different between dietary treatments. As shown in Table 3-6, In broiler chickens, the regression-derived IDE, ME, and MEn concentrations in HFM were 4,509, 4,250, and 3,745 kcal/kg while those in FDPP were 3,221, 4,710, and 4,081 kcal/kg, respectively. In pigs, the DE and ME derived from HFM and FDPP were not significantly different (P = 0.169 and 0.659, respectively). The respective DE and ME concentration in HFM and FDPP for pigs were 4,783 and 4,405 kcal/kg DM; and 4,553 and 4,320 kcal/kg DM.

#### 3.5 Discussion

The proximate composition for DM, crude protein, ether extract, and ash in HFM were within the range of previously reported values by Cotanch *et al.* (2007) and Sulabo *et al.* (2013) where HFM from various processing plants were examined. The nutrient composition for FDPP were comparable with those reported by Park *et al.* (2020), however, the concentrations of CP in FDPP were greater than those reported by Moser *et al.* (1998). When comparing the two ingredients, HFM has a higher constituent of crude protein than FDPP, but its ash content is approximately 10 percentage points lower than that of FDPP. The ingredient composition of the reference diets used in Exp. 1 and 2 were identical but their analyzed GE were observed to be 74 kcal/g apart. The reason for the observed difference might be because diets used in the two experiments were prepared at different times and the batches of ingredient used are likely to be different. When comparing the MEn, the two reference diets were different by 169 kcal/g. This could be attributed to the disparity in their GE concentration, intrinsic bird factors, and the different time periods.

In Exp. 1, an increase in the dietary concentration of HFM could have resulted in the corresponding increase of GE concentration in test diets thereby resulting in the consequent decline in FI. Similar tendency was observed in Exp. 2. Many researchers (Waldroup, 1976; Firman *et al.*, 2010; Classen, 2017) have documented the physiological response of birds to increasing energy intake, such that birds will naturally compensate for high dietary energy with low FI, thus, creating an intrinsic energy balance. Regulation of FI by the central nervous system and peripheral tissue in poultry has been reviewed to be conveyed both by short-term and long-term systems (Kuenzel,

1994; Kuenzel *et al.*, 1999; Richards, 2003). It has been reported that the control of FI involves hormonal (which includes ghrelin, cholecystokinin, bombesin, and other peptides) and neural signals (such as leptins) that originate mainly in the gut, pancreas, and liver (Ashwell *et al.*, 1999; Jensen, 2001; Blevins *et al.*, 2002; Richards, 2003). Such satiety signals have been said to be produced in response to nutrient content such as dietary energy and the presence of feed or specific feed components in the gastrointestinal tract (Richards, 2003). The G:F had a tendency for a linear response in Exp. 1, and a significant linear response was observed for G:F in Exp. 2. Diets containing HFM and FDPP can be said to have fostered a superior efficiency of feed utilization relative to the reference diet and this is likely due to the similar BW gain between groups with lower and higher FI. In two studies conducted by Waldroup, (1976), it was reported that G:F ratios were improved as the energy density levels of the diet increased. The reason for the increase in energy density is because the decline in total FI is not at a rate commensurate with the increase in energy levels. As a result, total energy consumption of birds increased hereby allowing those additional calories to measure up with groups with higher total feed consumption.

Considering the objectives of this study was to determine the IDE, ME, and ME<sub>n</sub> contents of HFM and FDPP in broiler chicken, a combination of the difference procedure and regression method was employed to get an approximate energy value which should be closer enough to the true mean values through a fitted line. The reason for using both difference procedure and regression analysis was to reduce the standard errors (SE) since it is often speculated that using the difference procedure alone results in higher SE especially when substituted test ingredient concentration is low (Oliveira et al., 2020; Park et al., 2021). The respective IDE derived from HFM and FDPP by broiler chickens were 4,509 and 3,221 kcal/kg DM. The IDE can be defined as energy available to birds from a feed ingredient before microbial fermentation of energy substrates in the ceca and the relatively short colon (Adeola et al., 2010). The reason for the low IDE value of FDPP when compared to its ME value is not clear but might be associated to the higher ash or mineral content in addition to the numerically higher content of its crude fiber over HFM which could have resulted in bird's failure to optimally utilize nutrient at the ileal level. Adeola *et al.* (1986) commented about the higher sensitivity of ileal digestibility in evaluating protein digestibility. Also, previous work from Zanella et al. (1999) and Douglas et al. (2000) have used the ileal digestibility as a parameter to examine birds' sensitivity to dietary enzyme supplementation. In the same manner, the variation observed in the IDE value of FDPP might be an indicator for changes in the balance of mineral ions (Cowieson *et al.*, 2006) created by the higher ash content in FDPP which could possibly be adjusted for at the total tract level.

The regression-derived ME and MEn concentrations in HFM were 4,250, and 3,745 kcal/kg, respectively. According to Pesti et al. (1989), the true and apparent MEn (TMEn and AMEn respectively) values should be similar, provided birds in AMEn assays maintain FI that is above the energy requirement for maintenance. Comparing previous published TMEn and AMEn values for HFM in broiler chickens with the AMEn in the current study, Pesti et al. (1989) reported respective mean values of 3,340 and 3,420 kcal/kg for TMEn and AMEn while Dale, (1992)) reported a TMEn value of 3,454 kcal/kg which are all numerically lower than 3,745 kcal/kg DM reported for AMEn in the present study. The reason for the increased AMEn value might be attributable to the fat content of the HFM used in the current study. In the study by Dale (1992), the author correlated the ME value of feather meal to their fat content and reported an average fat content of 7.7% for 15 different sampled feather meals which is 1.42 percentage point lower than the HFM used in the current study. Although, HFM available currently may be processed more effectively than those in the past, its fat composition depends on the extra materials processed along with the feathers, such as blood and fat trims, and those could directly vary the fat content of HFM. The DE and ME of HFM determined in the present experiment for pigs were 4,783 and 4,405 kcal/kg DM. These values were within the range reported by Sulabo et al. (2013) for 4 samples of HFM obtained from four different processing plants with or without blood inclusion. Although, the ME value for HFM fed to pigs in the present study were greater than the 3,031 kcal/kg DM in NRC (2012).

To the authors' knowledge, previously published data reporting the IDE, ME, and MEn value for FDPP in broiler chickens nor its DE and ME values in pigs are scarce. Comparing the ME value for FDPP in the two species, broiler chickens were observed to have utilized a higher percentage of the GE in FDPP at the ME level than pigs. This is contrary to expectation given the higher retention time and longer gastrointestinal tract in pigs. The reason for this is unclear but it might be associated with the high pepsin digestibility of the protein content in FDPP (Kureshy *et al.*, 2000) and the mechanism of excreting nitrogen in the two species. When explaining the waste of carbon and energy in nitrogen excretion, Pilgrim (1954) expressed that urea is approximately as wasteful as uric acid although uric acid consists of four nitrogen atoms while urea consists of

two. Hence, the margin of energy waste in the two species might rather be highly attributed to the volume of urine versus the quantity of uric acid excreted while factoring the rate of protein catabolism initiated by the test ingredient (Salway, 2018). In broiler chickens, the respective IDE, ME, and MEn evaluated for FDPP are 3,221, 4,710, and 4,081 kcal/kg DM. In pigs, the respective DE and ME evaluated for FDPP were 4,553 and 4,320 kcal/kg DM.

In conclusion, the energy concentration in HFM can be said to have been progressively utilized with better efficiency over the last decades, which is probably due to improvement upon its processing techniques and management of poultry by-product. Also, FDPP is a credible energy source which should be added to the list of protein source for monogastric animals. Generally, there is a need for an overhauling of feed ingredients termed as conventional, those alternative feed ingredients that are also readily and constantly available for livestock feeding should be driven and sensitized to farmers for consideration as conventional feed ingredient.

## **3.6 Literature Cited**

- Adeola O. Digestion and balance techniques in pigs 2001. In: *Swine Nutrition*. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. A.J. Lewis and L.L. Southern ed. CRC Press; Washington, DC, 903–916
- Adeola, O. and Kong, C. 2014. Energy value of distillers dried grains with solubles and oilseed meals for pigs. *J. Anim. Sci.* 92:164-170. doi.: 10.2527/jas.2013-6662
- Adeola, O., Jendza, J. A., Southern, L. L., Powell, S. and Owusu-Asiedu, A. 2010. Contribution of exogenous dietary carbohydrases to the metabolizable energy value of corn distillers grains for broiler chickens. *Poult Sci.* 89:1947-1954. doi: 10.3382/ps.2010-00706
- Adeola, O., Young, L. G., McMillan, E. G. and Moran Jr, E. T. 1986. Comparative protein and energy value of OAC Wintri triticale and corn for pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 63:1854-1861. doi: 10.2527/jas1986.6361854x
- Ahiwe, E. U., Omede, A. A., Abdallh, M. B. and Iji, P. A. 2018. Managing dietary energy intake by broiler chickens to reduce production costs and improve product quality In: *Animal Husbandry and Nutrition*. IntechOpen's Academic Editors. 115. doi: 10.5772/intechopen.76972

AOAC. 2000. Official methods of analysis. 17th ed. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem., Arlington, VA. AOAC. 2005. Official methods of analysis. 18<sup>th</sup> ed. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem., Washington, DC

AOAC. 2006. Official methods of analysis. 18th ed. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem., Gaithersburg, MD.

- Ashwell, C. M., Czerwinski, S. M., Brocht, D. M. and McMurtry, J. P. 1999. Hormonal regulation of leptin expression in broiler chickens. *Amer. J. Physiol.* 276: 226-232. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.
- Blevins, J. E., Schwartz, M. W. and Baskin, D. G. 2002. Peptide signals regulating food intake and energy homeostasis. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 80:396-406. doi:10.1139/y02-035
- Bolarinwa, O. A. and Adeola O. 2016. Regression and direct methods do not give different estimates of digestible and metabolisable energy values of barley, sorghum, and wheat for pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 94:610-618. doi:10.2527/jas2015-9766.
- Classen, H. L. 2017. Diet energy and feed intake in chickens. *Anim. Feed. Sci. Technol.* 233:13-21. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2016.03.004
- Cotanch K.W., Grant R.J., Dann H.M. and Darrah J.W. 2007. Analysis of nutrient composition of feather meal and feather meal with blood final report. Retrieved from <u>http://www.poultryegg.com/PPFC/docs/ProjectR54.pdf</u>
- Cowieson, A. J., Acamovic, T. and Bedford, M. R. 2006. Supplementation of corn–soy-based diets with an Eschericia coli-derived phytase: effects on broiler chick performance and the digestibility of amino acids and metabolizability of minerals and energy. *Poult. Sci.* 85:1389-1397. doi: 10.1093/ps/85.8.1389
- Csapó, J. and Albert, C. 2018. Methods and procedures for the processing of feather from poultry slaughterhouses and the application of feather meal as antioxidant. *Acta. Univ. Sapientiae*. 81-96. doi: 10.2478/ausal-2018-0005
- Dale, N. 1992. True metabolizable energy of feather meal. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 1 : 331-334. doi: 10.1093/japr/1.3.331

- Douglas, M. W., Parsons, C. M. and Bedford, M. R. 2000. Effect of various soybean meal sources and Avizyme on chick growth performance and ileal digestible energy. J. Appl. Poult. Res 9: 74-80. doi: 10.1093/japr/9.1.74
- Firman, J. D., Leigh, H. and Kamyab, A. 2010. Comparison of soybean oil with an animal/vegetable blend at four energy levels in broiler rations from hatch to market. *Int. J. Poult. Sci.* 9: 1027-1030.
- Hill, F. W. and Anderson, D. L. 1958. Comparison of metabolizable energy and productive energy determinations with growing chicks. J. Nutr., 64: 587-603.
- Jensen, J. 2001. Regulatory peptides and control of food intake in non-mammalian vertebrates. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. part A Mol. Integr. Physiol. 128: 469-477. doi:10.1016/S1095-6433(00)00329-9
- Kong, C. and O. Adeola. 2014. Invited review: Evaluation of amino acid and energy utilization in feedstuff for swine and poultry diets. *Asian-Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 27: 917-925. doi: 10.5713%2Fajas.2014.r.02
- Kuenzel, W. J. 1994. Central neuroanatomical systems involved in the regulation of food intake in birds and mammals. *J. Nutr.* 124:1355-1370. doi: 10.1093/jn/124.suppl\_8.1355S
- Kuenzel, W. J., Beck, M. M. and Teruyama, R. 1999. Neural sites and pathways regulating food intake in birds: a comparative analysis to mammalian systems. J. Exp. Zool. Part A Ecol. Genet. Physiol. 283: 348-364.
- Kureshy, N., Davis, D. A. and Arnold, C. R. 2000. Partial replacement of fish meal with meat-andbone meal, flash-dried poultry by-product meal, and enzyme-digested poultry by-product meal in practical diets for juvenile red drum. *N. Am. J. Aquac. 62:* 266-272. doi: 10.1577/1548-8454(2000)062%3C0266:PROFMW%3E2.0.CO;2
- Moritz, J. S. and Latshaw, J. D., 2001. Indicators of nutritional value of hydrolyzed feather meal. *Poult. Sci.* 80: 79-86 doi: 10.1093/ps/80.1.79
- Moser, S. A., Woodworth, J. C., Grinstead, G. S., Tokach, M. D., Goodband, R. D. and Nelssen, J.
  L. 1998. Effects of flash-dried poultry protein and select menhaden fish meal on growth performance of weanling pigs. *KSU Press. Swine day*. 41-43

- National Research Council (NRC). 2012. *Nutrient requirements of swine*. 11<sup>th</sup> rev. ed. Washington, DC: National Academies press.
- Oliveira, M. S., Htoo, J. K. and Stein, H. H. 2020. The direct and difference procedures result in similar estimates for amino acid digestibility in feed ingredients fed to growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 98:1-8 doi: 10.1093/jas/skaa225
- Osunbami, O. T., Aderibigbe, A. S. and Adeola, O. 2021. Energy value of dry fat and stabilised rice bran for broiler chickens. *Br. Poult. Sci.* doi: 10.1080/00071668.2021.1940863
- Park, C. S., Aderibigbe, A. S., Ragland, D. and Adeola, O. 2021. Digestible and metabolizable energy concentrations and amino acid digestibility of dried yeast and soybean meal for growing pigs. J. Anim Sci. 99:1-10 doi: 10.1093/jas/skaa385
- Park, C. S., Naranjo, V. D., Htoo, J. K. and Adeola, O. 2020. Comparative amino acid digestibility between broiler chickens and pigs fed different poultry by-products and meat and bone meal. J. Anim. Sci. 98: 1-8 doi: 10.1093/jas/skaa223
- Pesti, G. M., Dale, N. M. and Farrell, D. J. 1989. Research note: A comparison of methods to determine the metabolizable energy of feather meal. *Poult. Sci.* 68:443-446. doi: 10.3382/ps.0680443
- Pilgrim, R. L. C. 1954. Waste of carbon and of energy in nitrogen excretion. *Nature*. 173:491. doi: 10.1038/173491a0
- Richards, M. P. 2003. Genetic regulation of feed intake and energy balance in poultry. *Poult. Sci.* 82:907-916. doi: 10.1093/ps/82.6.907
- Salway, J. G. 2018. The Krebs uric acid cycle: a forgotten Krebs cycle. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 43:847-849. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2018.04.012
- Short, F. J., Gorton, P., Wiseman, J. and Boorman, K. N. 1996. Determination of titanium dioxide added as an inert marker in chicken digestibility studies. *Anim. Feed Sci Technol.* 59:215-22 doi: 10.1016/0377-8401(95)00916-7

- Sulabo, R. C., Chiba, L. I., Almeida, F. N., Brotzge, S. D., Payne, R. L. and Stein, H. H. 2013. Amino acid and phosphorus digestibility and concentration of digestible and metabolizable energy in hydrolyzed feather meal fed to growing pigs. *J. Anim. Sci.* 91:5829-5837 doi: 10.2527/jas.2013-6267.
- Thazeem, B., Mridul, U. and Vikas, O. V. 2016. Bioconversion of poultry feather into feather meal using proteolytic Bacillus species: a comparative study. *Int. J. Adv. Sci. Res.* 1:10-12.
- Waldroup, P. W., Mitchell, R. J., Payne, J. R. and Johnson, Z. B. 1976. Characterization of the response of broiler chickens to diets varying in nutrient density content. *Poult. Sci.* 55: 130-145. doi: 10.3382/ps.0550130
- Zanella, I., Sakomura, N. K., Silversides, F. G., Fiqueirdo, A. and Pack, M. 1999. Effect of enzyme supplementation of broiler diets based on corn and soybeans. *Poult. Sci.* 78: 561-568. doi: 10.1093/ps/78.4.561

		Exp. 1			Exp. 2		Exp. 3			
		HFM	l, g/kg		FDPP	, g/kg		HFM, g/kg	FDPP, g/kg	
Ingredient g/kg	$RD^1$	75	150	$RD^1$	75	150	$RD^1$	150	150	
Corn	585.8	538.8	491.7	585.8	538.8	491.7	672.9	567.9	567.9	
Soybean meal	310.0	285.9	261.9	310.0	285.9	261.9	245.0	206.8	206.8	
Soybean oil	-	-	-	-	-	-	43.5	36.7	36.7	
Dry fat	50.0	46.1	42.2	50.0	46.1	42.2	-	-	-	
Ground limestone	4.0	4.0	4.0	4.0	4.0	4.0	12.0	12.0	12.0	
Monocalcium phosphate	14.0	14.0	14.0	14.0	14.0	14.0	13.0	13.0	13.0	
Salt	4.0	4.0	4.0	4.0	4.0	4.0	4.0	4.0	4.0	
L-Lysine HCl	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	4.2	4.2	4.2	
DL-Methionine	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	0.8	0.8	0.8	
L-Threonine	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.7	1.2	1.2	1.2	
L-Tryptophan	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.1	0.1	0.1	
Vitamin premix <sup>2</sup>	-	-	-	-	-	-	2.0	2.0	2.0	
Mineral premix <sup>3</sup>	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.8	0.8	0.8	
Selenium premix <sup>4</sup>	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.5	0.5	0.5	
Vitamin-mineral premix <sup>5</sup>	3.0	3.0	3.0	3.0	3.0	3.0	-	-	-	
Titanium dioxide premix <sup>6</sup>	25.0	25.0	25.0	25.0	25.0	25.0	-	-	_	
Hydrolyzed feather meal	0.0	75.0	150	-	-	-	0.0	150	-	
Flash-dried poultry protein	-	-	-	0.0	75.0	150	0.0	-	150	
Total	1000.0	1000.0	1000.0	1000.0	1000.0	1000.0	1000.0	1000.0	1000.0	
Calculated nutrient, g/kg										
Crude protein (N $\times$ 6.25)	201	251	302	201	238	274	178	282	255	
Ether extract	67	67	67	67	71	74	69	72	77	
Calcium	9	9	9	9	11	13	7.5	7.8	12.1	
Non-phytate P Analyzed nutrient	4.3	4.0	5.0	4.3	5.0	7.0	3.9	4.0	6.1	

**Table 3-1.** Ingredient composition, calculated composition, and analyzed composition of diets in Exp. 1, 2 and 3

# Table 3-1 continued

Gross energy, kcal/kg DM	4,578	4,709	4,846	4,649	4,688	4,732	4,709	4,878	4,790
Crude protein (N $\times$ 6.25), g/kg	184	240	299	188	239	269	180	275	252
1									

<sup>1</sup>RD- reference diet for experiment

82

<sup>2</sup>Provided the following quantities per kg of complete diet: vitamin A, 5,280 IU; vitamin D<sub>3</sub>, 528 IU; vitamin E, 35.2 IU; menadione, 1.8 mg; riboflavin, 7.0 mg;  $_{\rm D}$ -pantothenic acid, 17.6 mg; niacin, 26.4 mg; vitamin B<sub>12</sub>, 0.03 mg.

<sup>3</sup>Provided the following quantities per kg of complete diet: I, 0.29 mg; Mn, 13.7 mg; Cu, 7.23 mg; Fe, 155 mg; Zn, 119 mg. <sup>4</sup>Provided 0.3 mg Se/kg of complete diet.

<sup>5</sup>Provided the following quantities per kg of complete diet: vitamin A, 10,968 IU; vitamin D3, 5,286 IU; vitamin E, 22.0 IU; menadione, 8.76 mg; riboflavin, 11.0 mg; D-pantothenic acid, 22.0 mg; niacin, 88.2 mg; choline chloride, 1,542 mg; vitamin B12, 0.03 mg; biotin, 0.11 mg; thiamine mononitrate, 4.40 mg; folic acid, 1.98 mg; pyridoxine hydrochloride, 6.60 mg; I, 2.22 mg; Mn, 132 mg; Cu, 8.88 mg; Fe, 88.2 mg; Zn, 88.2 mg; Se, 0.60 mg.

<sup>6</sup>5 g Titanium dioxide plus 20 g corn.

Composition, (%)	HFM	FDPP
Dry matter	95.65	95.40
Gross energy, kcal/kg	5,323	5,243
Crude protein	87.8	70.00
Crude fiber	0.724	1.46
Ether extract	9.12	14.80
Ash	1.89	11.9

**Table 3-2.** Proximate composition of hydrolyzed feather meal (HFM) and flash-dried poultry protein (FDPP)

		HFM	, g/kg		P-value	
Item <sup>2</sup>	$RD^1$	75	150	SEM	Linear	Quadratic
Growth performance						
Initial BW, g	461	460	456	1.8	-	-
Final BW, g	692	695	685	14.2	0.644	0.678
BW gain, g	231	235	226	13.6	0.798	0.701
Feed intake, g	342	339	305	11.8	0.046	0.314
G:F, g/kg	677	694	743	24.9	0.183	0.596
Ileal digestibility, %						
DM	71.90	68.55	70.62	1.286	0.492	0.108
Energy	73.44	70.37	72.39	1.209	0.552	0.108
IDE, kcal/kg DM	3,361	3,313	3,508	56.8	0.090	0.104
Total tract retention, %						
DM	67.59	64.44	65.23	0.875	0.077	0.087
Nitrogen	51.31	45.42	46.22	2.072	0.104	0.209
Energy	70.58	68.18	69.50	0.853	0.384	0.096
Nitrogen-corrected Energy	67.49	64.69	65.23	0.722	0.044	0.081
ME, kcal/kg DM	3,231	3,210	3,368	40.1	0.030	0.091
ME <sub>n</sub> , kcal/kg DM	3,107	3,067	3,186	34.7	0.129	0.082

**Table 3-3.** Growth performance, ileal digestibility and total tract retention of DM, nitrogen, and gross energy of chickens fed dietscontaining hydrolyzed feather meal (HFM) from d 18 to 23 post hatching, Exp. 1

 $^{1}$ RD – Reference diet.

 $^{2}$ Each means represents 8 replicate cages with 8 chickens per cage; IDE = Ileal digestible energy, ME = Metabolizable energy, ME<sub>n</sub> = Nitrogen-corrected metabolizable energy.

84

		FDPF	P, g/kg		P-value		
Item <sup>2</sup>	$RD^1$	75	150	SEM	Linear	Quadratic	
Growth performance							
Initial BW, g	485	485	486	0.2	-	-	
Final BW, g	730	742	762	19.3	0.269	0.856	
BW gain, g	253	257	276	18.4	0.385	0.730	
Feed intake, g	386	315	318	22.8	0.053	0.207	
G:F, g/kg	651	810	884	32.9	< 0.001	0.3167	
Ileal digestibility, %							
DM	73.68	71.65	70.13	0.861	0.006	0.496	
Energy	76.02	75.08	73.56	0.841	0.025	0.798	
IDE, kcal/kg DM	3,535	3,520	3,480	48.6	0.130	0.783	
Total tract retention, %							
DM	70.60	71.78	71.93	0.413	0.038	0.325	
Nitrogen	60.00	62.71	62.00	0.776	0.090	0.078	
Energy	73.65	75.48	75.88	0.427	0.002	0.196	
Nitrogen-corrected Energy	70.01	70.73	70.70	0.394	0.234	0.453	
ME, kcal/kg DM	3,425	3,539	3,591	20.0	< 0.001	0.226	
ME <sub>n</sub> , kcal/kg DM	3,276	3,342	3,372	18.6	0.003	0.4461	

**Table 3-4.** Growth performance, ileal digestibility and total tract retention of DM, nitrogen, and gross energy of chickens fed dietscontaining flash-dried poultry protein (FDPP) from d 17 to 22 post hatching, Exp. 2

 $^{1}$ RD – Reference diet.

<sup>2</sup>Each means represents 8 replicate cages with 8 chickens per cage; IDE = Ileal digestible energy, ME = Metabolizable energy,  $ME_n = Nitrogen$ -corrected metabolizable energy.

		HFM,	FDPP,		
Item <sup>2</sup>	RD <sup>3</sup>	150 g/kg	150 g/kg	SEM	P-value
Dry matter intake, g/d	784	795	843	21.3	0.147
GE intake, kcal/d	3,691	3,877	4,039	102.3	0.088
Feces output, g/d	91 <sup>b</sup>	104 <sup>a</sup>	108 <sup>a</sup>	3.0	0.004
GE in feces, kcal/kg DM	4,830 <sup>b</sup>	5,060 <sup>a</sup>	4,779 <sup>b</sup>	33.5	< 0.001
Fecal GE output, kcal/d	440 <sup>b</sup>	527 <sup>a</sup>	514 <sup>a</sup>	14.9	0.002
DE intake, kcal/d	3,251	3,351	3,524	101.4	0.192
ATTD of GE, %	87.98	86.39	87.22	0.474	0.093
Digestibility of N, %	87.37	86.07	87.22	0.627	0.309
DE, kcal/g DM	4,143	4,214	4,180	22.5	0.121
Urine output, g/d	1,362	1,408	1,423	139.8	0.951
GE in urine, kcal/kg	56.2	81.7	80.5	9.98	0.162
Urinary GE output, kcal/d	74.3 <sup>b</sup>	108.8 <sup>a</sup>	97.6 <sup>ab</sup>	4.61	< 0.001
ME intake, kcal/d	3,177	3,242	3,427	102.7	0.238
Metabolizability of GE, %	85.94 <sup>a</sup>	83.57 <sup>b</sup>	84.84 <sup>ab</sup>	0.561	0.032
ME, kcal/kg DM	4,047	4,077	4,064	26.7	0.744

**Table 3-5.** Apparent total tract digestibility (ATTD) and metabolizability of gross energy in pigs fed diets containing hydrolyzed feather meal (HFM) and flash-dried poultry protein (FDPP) in Exp. 3<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Each least squares mean represents 8 observations.

 $^{2}DE = Digestible energy, ME = Metabolizable energy.$ 

 $^{3}$ RD – Reference diet.

<sup>a,b</sup>Means within a row without a common superscript differ at P < 0.05.

Item <sup>2</sup>		Regression equa	ation <sup>1</sup>	<b>R</b> <sup>2</sup>	SD
Exp. 1: HFM					
IDE	Y = 4,509	9 (581.5) × HFM -	- 14.40 (15.635)	0.732	48.5
ME	Y = 4,250	$0(403.0) \times \text{HFM}$	- 5.11 (10.836)	0.834	33.6
ME <sub>n</sub>	Y = 3,745	5 (349.0) × HFM -	- 4.97 (9.389)	0.839	29.1
Exp. 2: FDPP					
IDE	Y = 3,22	$1(338.2) \times \text{FDPP}$	- 2.28 (9.449)	0.805	43.0
ME	Y = 4,710	$0(226.9) \times \text{FDPP}$	- 1.83 (6.342)	0.951	20.3
$ME_n$	Y = 4,08	1 (204.3) × FDPP	- 0.63 (5.709)	0.948	18.3
Exp. 3:					
	HFM	FDPP	SEM		<i>P</i> -value
DE, kcal/kg DM	4,783	4,553	105.9		0.169
ME, kcal/kg DM	4,405	4,320	131.7		0.659

**Table 3-6**. Regression equations relating test ingredient-associated gross energy intake (kcal/kg) to test ingredient intake (g/kg DM) using hydrolyzed feather meal (HFM) in Exp. 1 and flash-dried poultry protein (FDPP) in Exp. 2. and the digestible and metabolizable energy in HFM and FDPP in Exp. 3

<sup>1</sup> Values in parentheses are SE; Y is in kcal, Slope is in kcal/kg DM, Intercept is in kcal. <sup>2</sup>IDE = Ileal digestible energy; DE = Digestible energy; ME = Metabolizable energy; MEn = Nitrogen-corrected metabolizable energy. The IDE, ME, or MEn for HFM or FDPP were estimated by the slope of the regression equation in Exp. 1 and 2.

# CHAPTER 4. ENERGY VALUE OF BLACK SOLDIER FLY LARVAE MEAL FOR BROILER CHICKENS AND PIGS.

# 4.1 Abstract

Energy value of partially defatted black soldier fly larvae meal (BSFLM) was determined in 2 experiments with broiler chickens and growing pigs. Experiment (Exp.) 1 was conducted to evaluate the ileal digestible energy (IDE), metabolizable energy (ME), and nitrogen-corrected ME (MEn) of BSFLM with broiler chickens while Exp. 2 was conducted to evaluate the digestible energy (DE) and ME of BSFLM in growing pigs. Total collection (TC) and the index method using either titanium dioxide (Ti) or chromium oxide (Cr) were compared. In Exp 1 and 2, three diets were prepared: a corn-soybean meal reference diet (RD) and two test diets containing BSFLM at either 100 or 200 g/kg replacement of the energy-contributing ingredients in the RD. Each diet was randomly allocated to 8 replicate cages of broiler chickens (6 birds per cage) or barrows. In Exp. 1, a linear increase (P < 0.05) was observed in the IDE concentration of the diet. With increasing BSFLM, a quadratic and linear increase (P < 0.05) was also observed on the ME and MEn concentration in the diet, respectively. The regression derived IDE, ME, and MEn concentration in BSFLM were 4,517, 4,725, and 4,238 kcal/kg DM when fed to broiler chickens. In Exp. 2, the inclusion of BSFLM resulted in linear decrease in DM digestibility and linear increase in dietary DE concentration (P < 0.05). The metabolizability of GE linearly decreased (P< 0.05) while the ME concentration quadratically increased (P < 0.05) with the increasing inclusion of BSFLM in the diet. In pigs, the regression-derived DE estimates with TC, Ti index marker, and Cr index marker were 5,010, 4,907, and 4,927 kcal/kg, respectively. The ME derived using the TC method was 4,711 kcal/kg. The result from this study is interpreted to suggest BSFLM as a potential energy feed ingredient for inclusion in diets for broiler chickens and pigs.

Key words: Black soldier fly larvae meal, broiler chickens, index marker, pigs, total collection

#### 4.2 Introduction

Broiler chickens and pigs are part of a few fast growing, highly efficient animals that could rapidly satisfy the impending shortage of world protein, as they can be produced within a short time compared to other meat producing animals. The publication by FAO (2013) about edible

insects have made the likes of black soldier fly (BSF) and mealworms (Janssen et al., 2017) more popular as emerging feed ingredient in livestock production. Although black soldier fly is native to the Americas, it is prevalent throughout Australia, India, Africa, and Europe due to its ability to tolerate a wide selection of environmental conditions ranging from tropical to temperate regions (Sheppard et al., 1994; Barragan-Fonseca et al., 2017). The general notion behind the use of BSF larvae in animal feed is to partly mediate the future premonition (FAO, 2009) about the shortage of nutritious and healthy food in 2050.

The rearing of BSF is still in its early stage of technological advancement and its processing involves the extraction of its proteins, fats, chitin, minerals, and vitamins components. Such extraction processes are reported (FAO, 2013) to be costly and needs to be further developed to render them profitable. The black soldier fly larvae meal (BSFLM) is the granular protein concentrate derived from BSF processing. The cost factor could arguably impact - the cost effectiveness of using BSFLM in large-scale diet formulation, but it could also be presumed that as time goes on, further research into idealistic rearing and processing procedures will reduce the cost of BSFLM, allowing for its efficient harnessing in livestock diet. In lieu of this, accurate and reliable information about the energy value in partially defatted BSFLM for broiler chickens and pigs are necessary. Experiments on energy value of full fat BSFLM in chickens and pigs have been reported by De Marco et al. (2015), Schiavone et al. (2017), and Crosbie et al. (2020). While the full fat meal could result in rapid rancidity of the meal, the partially defatted BSFLM might be more beneficial as it is known that the fat extract of BSF is rich in medium chain fatty acids such as capric acids, lauric acids and myristic acids which are known to be active against lipid coated viruses, clostridium, and many pathogenic protozoa (Moula et al., 2018). Energy value of partially defatted BSFLM in pigs are limited and no literature has determined its energy value using various digestibility evaluation methods nor concurrently report the utilization of its energy values in broiler chickens and pigs. The first objective of the current study was to determine the ileal digestible energy (IDE), metabolizable energy (ME), and nitrogen-corrected ME (MEn) of BSFLM in broiler chickens and its digestible energy (DE) and ME in pigs. Additionally, we aimed to determine the DE of BSFLM derived using 3 methods which included total collection (TC), titanium index (Ti) and chromium index (Cr) methods in pigs.

# 4.3 Materials and Methods

All experimental protocols were reviewed and approved by the Purdue University Animal Care and Use Committee (PACUC, West Lafayette, IN). The PACUC protocol number for the broiler chicken and pig experiments were #1311000983 and #1112000248, respectively. The partially defatted BSFLM used in experiments (Exp.) 1 and 2 were purchased from Enterra Feed Co. (Maple Ridge, BC, Canada).

# 4.3.1 Animal management, experimental design, and diets

# Experiments 1: Energy value of partially defatted BSFLM for Broiler Chickens

A total of 144 male broiler chicks (Cobb 500; Siloam Spring, AR, USA) were obtained from a local hatchery at one day old. Chicks were individually tagged for identification purpose and reared in electrically heated battery cages (model SB 4 T; Alternative Design Manufacturing and Supply, Siloam Springs, AR) with temperature maintained at 35, 31, and 27°C from days 0 to 7, 7 to 14, and 14 to 22 respectively. Light was provided 23 h per day throughout the study. Birds had ad libitum access to water throughout the duration of the experiments. All diets were fed in mash form, and vitamin-mineral premix was added to all diets to meet the nutrient requirements as recommended by the Cobb broiler management guide (2015). A standard broiler chicken starter diet was fed from days 0 to16. On day 16, birds were individually weighed and randomly designated to one of the dietary treatments in a randomized complete block design (RCBD), with body weight (BW) as a blocking factor. Each dietary treatment consisted of 8 replicate cages with 6 birds per cage. Dietary treatments consisted of a reference diet (RD) and two test diets (Table 1). The RD was a corn-soybean meal-based diet while the two test diets were prepared by substituting either 100 or 200g/kg of the RD with BSFLM at the expense of corn, soybean meal (SBM), and dry fat. The nutrient composition of the dry fat used in the current study were according to Osunbami et al. (2021). The 3 dietary treatments were formulated to maintain the ratio of corn to SBM to dry fat at 12.6:6.4:1. Titanium dioxide was included at 5 g/kg as an indigestible index marker in the diets.

Birds had un-restricted access to experimental diets from days 16 to 21. Excreta collection was performed during the last 3 days of the experimental period in collection pans lined with waxed paper. After 5 days of feeding the experimental diets, all birds were euthanized by

asphyxiation using CO<sub>2</sub>, weighed individually, and dissected to excise the ileum. Ileal digesta samples were collected from the distal two-thirds of the ileum defined as extending from Meckel's diverticulum to the ileocecal junction. The content in the ileum was flushed with distilled water and pooled per cage before storage in a  $-20^{\circ}$ C freezer until further analysis. The BW gain and feed intake (FI; g/bird) during the experimental periods were recorded, and the gain to feed ratio (G:F; g/kg) of each cage was calculated.

### Experiment 2: Energy value of partially defatted BSFLM for Pigs using 3 methods.

Twenty-four barrows with initial BW of approximately 20 kg were individually housed in metabolic crates furnished with a feeder and drinker. Barrows used were crossbreed of Duroc x Yorkshire x Landrace. Three methods were employed in estimation and included TC, Ti, and Cr. Pigs were assigned one of three dietary treatments in a RCBD with BW as blocking factor. The reference diet was prepared to contain corn, SBM, and soybean oil (SBO) as the sole sources of energy (Table 1). The test diets were prepared by adding BSFLM at 100 or 200 g/kg at the expense of corn, SBM, and SBO in the RD. The corn: SBM: SBO ratio was kept at 14:5:1. Titanium dioxide and  $Cr_2O_3$  were included each at 5 g/kg as an indigestible marker in the diets in order to estimate energy value of BSFLM through index methods. All diets were formulated to meet or exceed the estimated vitamin and mineral requirements suggested in NRC (2012). Daily feed allowance was estimated as 4.5 % of mean BW of pigs in each block and was portioned into 2 equal meals fed at 0800 and 1700 h. There were 5 days of adaptation to the feed and environment. The marker-tomarker procedure was employed in sample collection (Adeola, 2001). On days 6 and 11, approximately 200 g of the first meal fed to pigs were hand mixed with approximately 3 g of ferric oxide as a colored marker. Collection of feces started at the appearance of first marker in feces and stopped at the appearance of the second marker. Concurrently, during the fecal collection period, daily urine output was also quantitatively collected using plastic buckets containing 10 mL of 10 % formic acid. Urine collected daily from each pig was weighed and proportionally subsampled. Feces and urine collected were immediately stored at -20°C.

# 4.3.2 Chemical Analysis

At the end of the experiments, ileal digesta, excreta, fecal, and urine samples were thawed and placed in a forced-air oven (Precision Scientific Co., Chicago, IL, USA; method 934.01; AOAC, 2006) at 55°C for 120 h. Excreta and fecal samples were ground using a mill grinder (ZM 100; Retsch GmbH, Haan, Germany) while ileal digesta samples were ground using a centrifugal grinder (ZM 200; Retsch GmbH, Haan, Germany). Gross energy (GE) of the test ingredient, experimental diets, ileal digesta samples, excreta samples, fecal samples, and dried urine were determined using an isoperibol oxygen bomb calorimeter (Parr 1261; Parr Instruments Co., Moline, IL, USA) with benzoic acid as a calibration standard. Dry matter (DM) content was determined gravimetrically by drying samples in an oven at 105°C for 24 h (method 934.01, AOAC International, 2006). Nitrogen (N) concentration was determined using the combustion method (TruMac N; LECO Corp., St. Joseph, MI, USA) with EDTA as the calibration standard. Test ingredient was analyzed for crude fiber (method 978.10; AOAC, 2006), ether extract (method 945.16; AOAC, 2000), and ash content (method 942.05; AOAC, 2006). Titanium concentrations in experimental diets, ileal digesta, and excreta for Exp. 1, and diets and fecal samples for Exp. 2 were analyzed as described by Myers et al. (2004). Briefly, samples were weighed into 250 mL macro-Kjeldahl digestion tubes. Kjeldahl tablet which contained 3.5 g of K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and 0.4 g of CuSO<sub>4</sub> were added to each tube as catalyst, after which 13 mL of concentrated H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> were added to each tube, and digestion was done at 420°C for 2 h. After cooling for 30 minutes, 10 mL of 30 % H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> were added to each tube and allowed to cool for another 30 minutes. A blank solution was prepared alongside to help calibrate spectrophotometer (Spark 10M; Tecan Group Ltd., Männedorf, Switzerland). Finally, total liquid weight was made up to 100 g with distilled water by filtering through Whatman No. 541 ashless filter paper to remove any precipitate. Filtrates were then plated to measure spectrophotometer absorbance at 410 nm. Chromium concentration in experimental diets and fecal samples for Exp. 2 was analyzed as described by Fenton and Fenton, (1979) with slight modifications. In short, samples were digested with nitric acid and 70 % perchloric acid. The digests were allowed to stand overnight after dilution to 100 mL with distilled water before the spectrophotometry absorbance was measured at 450 nm.

# 4.3.3 Calculations and Statistical Analysis

#### Index method

The index method (Kong and Adeola, 2014) was used to calculate ileal digestibility and metabolizability of DM, N, and GE of diets in Exp 1. The apparent total tract digestibility (ATTD) of DM, N, and GE in the experimental diets from Exp. 2 was also estimated using the index method. For an illustration, to calculate the coefficient of ileal digestibility of nutrient or GE in experimental diet, the following equation was applied:

$$Z = [1 - (C_i/C_o) \times (E_o/E_i)]$$

where Z is the coefficient of ileal digestibility and the percentage ileal digestibility was derived by multiplying Z by 100;  $C_i$  and  $C_o$  represent the concentration of index marker (g/kg DM) in experimental diets and ileal digesta output, respectively;  $E_i$  and  $E_o$  are the concentration of nutrient or GE (kcal/kg DM) in experimental diets and ileal digesta nutrient diets and ileal digesta.

The product of Z and GE of the diet was used to calculate IDE, DE, ME, and MEn of diets. Correction of the ME to zero N retention using the factor of 8.22 kcal/g of N (Hill and Anderson, 1958) was used to estimate the MEn. The IDE, DE, ME, and MEn (kcal/kg DM) in test ingredient was calculated by difference procedure proposed by Adeola (2001): For an illustration, the IDE in test ingredient (IDEti) was calculated using the following equation:

$$IDE_{ti} = [IDE_{td} - (P_{rd} \times IDE_{rd})] / P_{ti}.$$

where  $IDE_{ti}$ ,  $IDE_{td}$ , and  $IDE_{rd}$  represent the IDE in test ingredient, test diets (i.e., experimental diets containing test ingredient) and reference diet, respectively;  $P_{rd}$  and  $P_{ti}$  represent the proportional contribution of reference diet and test ingredient (kg/kg) in test diets, respectively. The DE, ME, and MEn in test ingredient were calculated following the same calculation steps as IDE of test ingredient.

#### Total collection

In Exp. 2, the TC method was used to calculate the ATTD, metabolizability of DM, GE, and N (Kong and Adeola, 2014) and the index marker recovery following the equations below:

ATTD of GE (%) = 
$$100 \times [(F_i \times GE_i) - (F_o \times GE_o)] / (F_i \times GE_i);$$

Metabolizability of GE (%) =  $100 \times [(F_i \times GE_i) - (F_o \times GE_o) - (U_o \times GE_u)] / (F_i \times GE_i);$ 

Index marker recovery (%) = 
$$100 \times [(C_0 \times F_0) / (C_i \times F_i)]$$
.

where  $F_i$ ,  $F_o$ , and  $U_o$  are the weight of feed intake, feces output, and urine output (kg, DM), respectively;  $GE_i$ ,  $GE_o$ , and  $GE_u$  are the concentration of GE (kcal/kg, DM) in experimental diets, feces, and urine, respectively. The ATTD of DM and N was calculated following the same equation as ATTD of GE. The DE and ME (kcal/kg DM) in BSFLM were calculated by the same difference procedure mentioned above.

$$DEti = [DEtd - (DErd \times Prd)] /Pti;$$
$$MEti = [MEtd - (MErd \times Prd)] /Pti,$$

where DEti, DEtd, and DErd represent the DE (kcal/kg) in test ingredient, test diet, and reference diet, respectively; Prd and Pti represent the proportion of reference diet and test ingredient in the test diet, respectively; MEti, MEtd, and MErd represent the ME (kcal/kg) in test ingredient, test diet, and reference diet, respectively.

Before statistical analysis, an outlier test was carried out and no outliers were detected in the dataset. The data were analyzed by ANOVA using GLM procedure of SAS (SAS Inst. Inc., Cary, NC) with RCBD arrangement. The model included diet and block as independent variables. Orthogonal polynomial contrasts were performed to determine the linear and quadratic effects of increasing levels of test ingredient in the experimental diet. Statistical significance was declared at P < 0.05. The test ingredient DM intake (DMIti) was the product of feed DM, feed intake, and the proportion of test ingredient in test diets. Test ingredient-associated IDE, DE, ME, or MEn intake were calculated as product of test ingredient intake and IDEti, DEti, MEti, or MEnti. Regression analysis between the test ingredient–associated IDE, DE, ME, or MEn intake and DMIti was conducted using the GLM procedure of SAS (SAS Inst. Inc., Cary, NC) to generate a regression equation as described by Bolarinwa and Adeola (2016). In the regression equation, Y was the test ingredient-associated IDE, ME, or MEn intake in kcal while DMIti was the test ingredient in kilograms of DM. Finally, In Exp. 2, the TC method was used as a standard to measure the relativity of recovery such that the ATTD of DM, GE, and N from the 3 methods were expressed in relative percentage to the TC method using a split plot arrangement. The whole-plot factor (n = 24) was the dietary BSFLM level, and the split-plot factor (n = 72) was the type of methods which included TC, Ti and Cr. The full model was used for analysis. The fixed effects included BSFLM level, methods, and interaction between BSFLM level and method. The random effects were block, 2-way interactions of block and BSFLM level, 2-way interactions of block and method, and 3-way interactions of block, BSFLM level, and method. The GLMMIX procedure of SAS (SAS Inst. Inc., Cary, NC) was used for the split plot analysis. Least square means were separated by PDIFF option with the Tukey's adjustment.

#### 4.4 **Results**

The ingredient composition, calculated, and analyzed nutrient values in diets fed to broiler chickens and pigs are presented in Table 4-1 while the proximate composition of the test ingredient is shown in Table 4-2. In Exp. 1, there was no effect of the dietary treatment on final BW and BWG but there was a linear decrease (P < 0.05) in FI and a linear increase (P < 0.001) in G:F with increasing BSFLM concentration (Table 4-3). There was no effect of dietary inclusion of BSFLM on the AID of DM and energy but a linear increase (P < 0.05) in the IDE concentration of the diet was observed. With increasing BSFLM, there were quadratic decrease (P < 0.050) in DM, N, and energy metabolizability. A quadratic and linear increase (P < 0.05) was observed on the ME and MEn concentration, respectively, with the inclusion BSFLM.

In Exp. 2, the feed and GE intake were not affected by the inclusion of BSFLM in the RD (Table 4-4). Fecal output was increased (P < 0.05) by approximately 14% when BSFLM was included in the RD at 200 g/kg. The GE in urine (kcal/g) and the urinary GE output (kcal/d) were linearly increased (P < 0.05) with increasing inclusion of BSFLM in the RD. The metabolizability of GE linearly decreased (P < 0.05) while the ME concentration in diet quadratically increased (P < 0.05) with the addition of BSFLM. When the TC or Ti method was used to determine DM digestibility of diets fed to pigs, a linear decrease (P < 0.05) was observed (Table 4-5). Regardless of the method used, there was no effect of increasing inclusion of BSFLM on the digestibility of GE. Using the TC method, there was a linear decrease (P < 0.01) in N digestibility however, when the index methods were used (Ti and Cr), there was no significant difference in N digestibility with the inclusion of BSFLM in the RD. The DE in diet increased quadratically (P < 0.050) when

the TC and Ti methods were used and linearly (P < 0.01) when the Cr method was used in evaluating digestibility. There was no effect of increasing the inclusion of BSFLM on the recovery of Ti and Cr in the experimental diets

When the 3 digestibility evaluation methods were expressed relative to the TC method, there was no interaction nor BSFLM level effect on DM and GE digestibility, but a method effect (P < 0.001) was observed with the TC method returning the highest value as compared to the index methods (Table 4-6). There was a significant interaction effect (P < 0.001) between BSFLM level and method for N digestibility. The regression derived IDE, ME, and MEn concentration in BSFLM were 4,517, 4,725, and 4,238 kcal/kg DM when fed to broiler chickens (Table 4-7). The respective regression-derived DE concentration in BSFLM using the TC, Ti, and Cr method were 5,010, 4,907, and 4,927 kcal/kg DM when fed to pigs. There was no difference amongst the three methods used to derive the test ingredient DE concentration. The regression-derived ME concentration in BSFLM using the TC method was 4,711 kcal/kg DM.

## 4.5 Discussion

The proximate composition of the BSFLM used in the current study is close to those reported by Cullere et al. (2016) and Renna et al. (2017) for partially defatted BSFLM, although its crude fat content showcased to be higher than what was reported by Mwaniki et al. (2018). The proximate composition of the BSFLM used in the current study represents that of a partially defatted product, in which case extrapolation of its nutritional value to other types of BSFLM such as full-fat larvae meal (Rawski et al., 2020) should be done with caution. When BSFLM is partially defatted, the process increases the CP content (Schiavone et al., 2017) of the meal alongside minimizing oxidative peroxidation (El-Sayed et al., 2014) caused by lipids. Thus, producing a protein concentrate source with an increased shelf-life. A marked linear decline in feed intake was observed to have occurred when BSFLM was included at 200 g/kg although, the corresponding G:F was the highest among the 3 treatments group. The authors acknowledge that results from digestibility studies are not always an indication of animal growth or feed efficiency (Romero et al., 2014), as diets in Exp. 1 were formulated to achieve the objective of energy evaluation through proportional substitution of test ingredient in RD. This infers that the 3 dietary treatments are not comparable for the purpose of estimating performance although, reporting their performance

response can serve as a guide to what could be expected from individual dietary treatments. As such, performance studies are required to make general inferences about the growth performance and feed efficiency of BSFLM in the broiler chicken. However, this study provides concrete information about the energy value in BSFLM which will aid in formulating diets that meet the requirement of broiler chickens when BSFLM are included.

When comparing the 3 dietary treatments in Exp. 1 based on their digestibility responses, the diet with 100 g/kg of BSFLM consistently had the highest utilization of its GE content for IDE and metabolizability. The percentage utilization of each corresponding GE concentration in the RD, and diets containing 100 g/kg BSFLM or 200 g/kg BSFLM at the IDE level were 67.62 vs 72.79 vs 70.58 %, respectively. Similarly, the respective percentage utilization of GE concentration at the ME level were 70.09 vs 73.18 vs 72.25 % while those for MEn were 66.88 vs 68.39 vs 67.71 %. In broiler chickens, the regression derived IDE, ME, and MEn concentration in BSFLM were 4,517, 4,725, and 4,238 kcal/kg DM which shows that 78 to 86 % of the GE in partially defatted BSFLM used in the current study was utilizable. These values are quite higher than studies previously reported. De Marco et al. (2015) reported a respective AME and AMEn of 4,152 and 3,965 kcal/kg for full-fat BSFLM while Schiavone et al. (2017) reported 3,882 and 3,552 as the respective AME and AMEn value for partially defatted BSFLM. The reason for this occurrence is unclear but might be attributed to improvement in quality of recently produced BSFLM.

In Exp 2, among the 3 methods used in deriving energy value of BSFLM in pigs, it is imperative to mention that only the TC method can be employed in estimating metabolizabilty. Estimation via the TC method showed that diet with 200 g/kg of BSFLM promoted highest quantity of daily fecal output and daily urinary loss of GE, cumulating in lowest metabolizability of its GE content in pigs. The higher urinary output seen to be associated with 200 g/kg inclusion of BSFLM could ultimately result in increased N excretion to the environment. The observed result might be indicating a diminishing utilization of BSFLM beyond 100 g/kg of inclusion.

To compare the ME value of BSFLM in the two species, broiler chickens and pigs have similar utilization of the test ingredient: 4,725 vs 4,711. Higher utilization in pigs could have been expected given the higher retention time and longer gastrointestinal tract in pigs. However, this result might be partially explained by the chitin content in BSFLM. Chitin content in partially defatted BSFLM ranges from 50 to 100 g/kg (Kroeckel et al., 2012; Renna et al., 2017; Schiavone et al., 2017) while the respective AME and AMEn content of chitin reported by Hossain and Blair, (2007) were 2142 and 2116 kcal/kg in broiler chickens. Early study by Suzuki et al. (2002) showed that chickens produce gut chitinase in the proventriculus and liver while pigs' secretion of chitinase has only been identified recently in the stomach and is significantly influenced by age (Tabata et al., 2017; Kawasaki et al., 2021). Moreover, the result of Tabata et al. (2018) indicates that chicken's expression of acidic chitinase gene is about six folds higher than that of pigs. It can therefore be speculated that the presence of chitinase will invariably lead to improved digestibility of BSFLM indigestible chitin content in broiler chickens than in pigs. Recent publications have emphasized the beneficial effect of chitin found in BSFLM on cecal microbial community, health status, and it potential as a prebiotic in broiler chickens (Biasato et al., 2020; Dorper et al., 2020). However, no consensus has been reached about the BSFLM inclusion level that meets both health and growth performance needs in broiler chickens. Furthermore, insects are regarded as a natural nutrient source to poultry (Józefiak et al., 2016) especially in situations when chickens have access to free-range. This voluntary picking up of insects as feeds indicates that poultry are evolutionarily adapted to insects as a natural part of their diets.

When comparing all ATTD estimated using the 3 methods, the TC method had greater values than the 2 index methods (Ti and Cr) expect for the ATTD of N. This agrees with previous studies by Adeola et al, (1986) and Wang and Adeola (2018). The underlying principle for TC method is that the total input (FI) and total output (fecal and urinary output) should be totally accounted for. However, this is practically hard to guarantee while the underlying assumption for index method hinges on the total recovery of the index compound although, this is also hard to ascertain. This repeated observation suggests that the TC method might be more complete in respect to its substance of recovery than index methods. Hence, the TC method was used as a standard to measure relativity of the recovery. The observation for the ATTD of N followed a pattern that was inconsistent with those observed for DM and energy, such that the TC method had a pattern for linear decrease while the Ti and Cr methods were not different. The reason for this is quite unclear.

The result of the present study showed a higher numerical value for the recovery of Chromium over Titanium. This is contrary to the findings of Wang and Adeola (2018) who reported that between the two index marker types, Titanium gave a higher recovery than Chromium. The explanation for the higher recovery of one marker over the other is unclear but it might be linked to the possible interaction between index marker in a biological system especially when TiO<sub>2</sub> and Cr<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> are mixed in the same diet (Myers et al., 2004). Compared to the report of Wang and Adeola (2018), it seems the directionality of this interaction cannot be ascertained to have consistently favored a marker type due to the various factors in a biological system that could tilt the result either way. One of such factors is the characteristic squishy lining of the intestinal lumen which could be envisaged to aid the retention of the index marker. Although, irrespective of the marker type, using the recovered index concentration to calculate digestibility gave a similar estimate for the parameters. This facilitated a conclusion that the choice of marker type does not largely impact digestibility results. With an approximate range of 100 kcal/kg, the DE values for BSFLM from the 3 methods were not statistically different. The regression-derived DE estimate with TC, Ti, and Cr were 5,010, 4,907, and 4,927 kcal/kg, respectively. The ME derived using the TC method was 4,711 kcal/kg.

In conclusion, broiler chickens and pigs derived energy value which ranges from 77 to 91% on a dry matter basis. Further research that bridges the knowledge gap between the prebiotic effect of BSFLM chitin content and optimal growth performance response in broiler chickens or pigs fed diets containing BSFLM at various growth phases are necessary.

# 4.6 Literature Cited

- Adeola O. Digestion and balance techniques in pigs 2001. In: *Swine Nutrition*. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. A.J. Lewis and L.L. Southern ed. CRC Press; Washington, DC, 903–916
- Adeola, O., Young, L. G., McMillan, E. G. and Moran Jr, E. T. 1986. Comparative protein and energy value of OAC Wintri triticale and corn for pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 63:1854-1861. doi: 10.2527/jas1986.6361854x

AOAC. 2000. Official methods of analysis. 17th ed. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem., Arlington, VA.

- AOAC. 2006. Official methods of analysis. 18th ed. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem., Gaithersburg, MD.
- Barragan-Fonseca, K. B., Dicke, M. and van Loon, J. J. 2017. Nutritional value of the black soldier fly (Hermetia illucens L.) and its suitability as animal feed–a review. J. Insects as Food Feed. 3: 105-120. doi: 10.3920/JIFF2016.0055

- Biasato, I., Ferrocino, I., Dabbou, S., Evangelista, R., Gai, F., Gasco, L., Cocolin, L., Capucchio, M.T. and Schiavone, A. 2020. Black soldier fly and gut health in broiler chickens: insights into the relationship between cecal microbiota and intestinal mucin composition. *J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol.* 11: 1-12. doi: 10.1186/s40104-019-0413-y
- Bolarinwa, O. A. and Adeola O. 2016. Regression and direct methods do not give different estimates of digestible and metabolisable energy values of barley, sorghum, and wheat for pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 94:610-618. doi:10.2527/jas2015-9766.
- Bovera, F., Loponte, R., Marono, S., Piccolo, G., Parisi, G., Iaconisi, V., Gasco, L. and Nizza, A.
  2016. Use of Tenebrio molitor larvae meal as protein source in broiler diet: Effect on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, and carcass and meat traits. *J. Anim. Sci.* 94: 639-647. doi: org/10.2527/jas.2015-9201
- Cobb Broiler Management Guide. 2015. Cobb500 broiler performance and Nutrition Supplement. https://www.cobb-vantress.com/assets/5a88f2e793/Broiler-Performance-Nutrition-Supplement.pdf
- Crosbie, M., Zhu, C., Shoveller, A. K. and Huber, L. A. 2020. Standardized ileal digestible amino acids and net energy contents in full fat and defatted black soldier fly larvae meals (Hermetia illucens) fed to growing pigs. *Trans. Anim. Sci.* 4:txaa104. doi: 10.1093/tas/txaa104
- Cullere, M., Tasoniero, G., Giaccone, V., Miotti-Scapin, R., Claeys, E., De Smet, S. and Dalle Zotte, A. 2016. Black soldier fly as dietary protein source for broiler quails: apparent digestibility, excreta microbial load, feed choice, performance, carcass and meat traits. *Animals*. 10:1923-1930. doi:10.1017/S1751731116001270
- De Marco, M., Martínez, S., Hernandez, F., Madrid, J., Gai, F., Rotolo, L., Belforti, M., Bergero, D., Katz, H., Dabbou, S. and Kovitvadhi, A., Zoccarato, I., Gasco, L. and Schiavone, A. 2015. Nutritional value of two insect larval meals (Tenebrio molitor and Hermetia illucens) for broiler chickens: apparent nutrient digestibility, apparent ileal amino acid digestibility and apparent metabolizable energy. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 209: 211-218. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2015.08.006
- Dörper, A., Veldkamp, T. and Dicke, M. 2021. Use of black soldier fly and house fly in feed to promote sustainable poultry production. *J. Insects as Food Feed.* 7: 761-780. doi: 10.3920/JIFF2020.0064

- El-Sayed, M., Elsanhoty, R. and Ramadan, M. 2014. Impact of dietary oils and fats on lipid peroxidation in liver and blood of albino rats. *Asian Pac. J. Trop. Biomed.* 4: 52-58. doi: 10.1016/S2221-1691(14)60208-2
- Fenton, T. W. and M. Fenton. 1979. An improved procedure for the determination of chromic oxide in feed and feces. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 59:631–634. doi:10.4141/cjas79-081
- Food and Agriculture Organisation. 2009. How to feed the world in 2050. In: High-level expert forum on 'How to feed the world in 2050'. *FAO, Rome, Italy* 1-32.
- Hossain, S. M. and Blair, R. 2007. Chitin utilisation by broilers and its effect on body composition and blood metabolites. *Br. Poult. Sci* 48: 33-38. doi: 10.1080/00071660601156529
- Janssen, R. H., Vincken, J. P., van den Broek, L. A., Fogliano, V. and Lakemond, C. M. 2017. Nitrogen-to-protein conversion factors for three edible insects: Tenebrio molitor, Alphitobius diaperinus, and Hermetia illucens. J. Agric. Food Chem., 65: 2275-2278. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.7b00471
- Józefiak, D., Józefiak, A., Kierończyk, B., Rawski, M., Świątkiewicz, S., Długosz, J. and Engberg,
  R. M. 2016. Insects-a natural nutrient source for poultry-a review. *Ann. Anim. Sci. 16*: 297-313. doi:10.1515/aoas-2016-0010
- Kawasaki, K., Osafune, T., Tamehira, S. and Yano, K. 2021. Piglets can secrete acidic mammalian chitinase from the pre weaning stage. *Scient. Rept.* 11:1-6. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-80368-0
- Kong, C. and O. Adeola. 2014. Invited review: Evaluation of amino acid and energy utilization in feedstuff for swine and poultry diets. *Asian-Austr. J. Anim. Sci.* 27:917-925. doi: 10.5713%2Fajas.2014.r.02
- Kroeckel, S., Harjes, A. G., Roth, I., Katz, H., Wuertz, S., Susenbeth, A. and Schulz, C. 2012.
  When a turbot catches a fly: Evaluation of a pre-pupae meal of the Black Soldier Fly (Hermetia illucens) as fish meal substitute—Growth performance and chitin degradation in juvenile turbot (Psetta maxima). *Aquacul. 364*: 345-352. doi: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2012.08.041
- Moula, N., Scippo, M.L., Douny, C., Degand, G., Dawans, E., Cabaraux, J.F., Hornick, J.L., Medigo, R.C., Leroy, P., Francis, F. and Detilleux, J. 2018. Performances of local poultry breed fed black soldier fly larvae reared on horse manure. *Anim. Nutr.* 4: 73-78. doi: 10.1016/j.aninu.2017.10.002

- Mwaniki, Z., Neijat, M. and Kiarie, E. 2018. Egg production and quality responses of adding up to 7.5% defatted black soldier fly larvae meal in a corn–soybean meal diet fed to Shaver White Leghorns from wk 19 to 27 of age. *Poult. Sci.* 97:c2829-2835. doi:10.3382/ps/pey118.
- Myers, W. D., Ludden, P. A., Nayigihugu, V. and Hess, B. W. 2004. A procedure for the preparation and quantitative analysis of samples for titanium dioxide. *J. Anim. Sci.*, 82(1), 179-183.
- Osunbami, O. T., Aderibigbe, A. S. and Adeola, O. 2021. Energy value of dry fat and stabilised rice bran for broiler chickens. *Br. Poult. Sci.* doi: 10.1080/00071668.2021.1940863
- Protano, C., Astolfi, M. L., Canepari, S. and Vitali, M. 2016. Urinary levels of trace elements among primary school-aged children from Italy: The contribution of smoking habits of family members. *Sci. Total Envr.* 557:378-385. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.03.073
- Rawski, M., Mazurkiewicz, J., Kierończyk, B. and Józefiak, D. 2020. Black soldier fly full-fat larvae meal as an alternative to fish meal and fish oil in Siberian sturgeon nutrition: The effects on physical properties of the feed, animal growth performance, and feed acceptance and utilization. *Animals*. 10: 2119. doi:10.3390/ani10112119
- Renna, M., Schiavone, A., Gai, F., Dabbou, S., Lussiana, C., Malfatto, V., Prearo, M., Capucchio, M.T., Biasato, I., Biasibetti, E. and De Marco, M., Brugiapaglia, A., Zoccarato, I. and Gasco, L. 2017. Evaluation of the suitability of a partially defatted black soldier fly (Hermetia illucens L.) larvae meal as ingredient for rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss Walbaum) diets. *J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol.* 8:1-13. doi:10.1186/s40104-017-0191-3
- Romero, L. F., Sands, J. S., Indrakumar, S. E., Plumstead, P. W., Dalsgaard, S. and Ravindran, V. 2014. Contribution of protein, starch, and fat to the apparent ileal digestible energy of cornand wheat-based broiler diets in response to exogenous xylanase and amylase without or with protease. *Poult. Sci.* 93: 2501-2513. doi: 10.3382/ps.2013-03789
- Schiavone, A., De Marco, M., Martínez, S., Dabbou, S., Renna, M., Madrid, J., Hernandez, F., Rotolo, L., Costa, P., Gai, F. and Gasco, L. 2017. Nutritional value of a partially defatted and a highly defatted black soldier fly larvae (Hermetia illucens L.) meal for broiler chickens: apparent nutrient digestibility, apparent metabolizable energy and apparent ileal amino acid digestibility. *J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol.* 8:1-9. doi: 10.1186/s40104-017-0181-5

- Sheppard, D. C., Newton, G. L., Thompson, S. A. and Savage, S. 1994. A value-added manure management system using the black soldier fly. *Bioresource technol.* 50:275-279.
- Suzuki, M., Fujimoto, W., Goto, M., Morimatsu, M., Syuto, B. and Iwanaga, T. 2002. Cellular expression of gut chitinase mRNA in the gastrointestinal tract of mice and chickens. J. of *Histochem. Cytochem.* 50: 1081-1089. doi: 10.1177%2F002215540205000810
- Tabata, E., Kashimura, A., Kikuchi, A., Masuda, H., Miyahara, R., Hiruma, Y., Wakita, S., Ohno,
  M., Sakaguchi, M., Sugahara, Y. and Matoska, V., Bauer, P. O. and Oyama, F. 2018. Chitin digestibility is dependent on feeding behaviors, which determine acidic chitinase mRNA levels in mammalian and poultry stomachs. *Scient. Rept.* 8:1-11. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-19940-8
- Tabata, E., Kashimura, A., Wakita, S., Ohno, M., Sakaguchi, M., Sugahara, Y., Imamura, Y., Seki,
  S., Ueda, H., Matoska, V. and Bauer, P.O. and Oyama, F. 2017. Protease resistance of porcine acidic mammalian chitinase under gastrointestinal conditions implies that chitin-containing organisms can be sustainable dietary resources. *Scient. Rept.* 7: 1-11. | doi:10.1038/s41598-017-13526-6
- Van Huis, A., Van Itterbeeck, J., Klunder, H., Mertens, E., Halloran, A., Muir, G. and Vantomme,
  P. 2013. Edible insects: future prospects for food and feed security. In: *Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations*. (No. 171).
- Wang, T. and Adeola, O. 2018. Digestibility index marker type, but not inclusion level affects apparent digestibility of energy and nitrogen and marker recovery in growing pigs regardless of added oat bran. J. Anim. Sci. 96: 2817-2825. doi: 10.1093/jas/sky153

		Exp. 1			Exp. 2	
		BSF	LM, g/kg	g/kg		M, g/kg
Ingredient g/kg	$RD^1$	100	200	$RD^1$	100	200
Corn	585.80	523.10	460.30	622.90	553.22	483.55
Soybean meal	310.00	277.90	245.80	245.00	219.25	193.50
BSFLM	0.00	100.00	200.00	0.00	100.00	200.00
Soybean oil	-	-	-	43.50	38.93	34.36
Dry fat	50.00	44.82	39.65	-	-	-
Ground limestone	4.00	4.00	4.00	12.00	12.00	12.00
Monocalcium phosphate	14.00	14.00	14.00	13.00	13.00	13.00
Salt	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00
L-Lysine HCl	1.50	1.50	1.50	4.20	4.20	4.20
DL-Methionine	2.00	2.00	2.00	0.80	0.80	0.80
L-Threonine	0.7	0.7	0.7	1.20	1.20	1.20
L-Tryptophan	-	-	-	0.10	0.10	0.10
Vitamin premix <sup>2</sup>	-	-	-	2.00	2.00	2.00
Mineral premix <sup>3</sup>	-	-	-	0.80	0.80	0.80
Selenium premix <sup>4</sup>	-	-	-	0.50	0.50	0.50
Vitamin-mineral premix <sup>5</sup>	3.00	3.00	3.00	-	_	-
Titanium dioxide premix <sup>6</sup>	25.00	25.00	25.00	25.00	25.00	25.00
Chromic oxide premix <sup>7</sup>	-	-	-	25.00	25.00	25.00
Total	1000.0	1000.0	1000.0	1000.0	1000.0	1000.0
Calculated nutrient, g/kg						
Crude protein (N $\times$ 6.25)	201	235	270	177	212	247
Ether extract	67	77	87	69	79	88
Calcium	7.0	7.0	8.0	7.0	9.0	10.0
Non-phytate P Analyzed nutrient	4.3	5.0	6.0	4.0	5.0	5.0

**Table 4-1.** Ingredient composition, calculated, and analyzed composition of experimental diets used in Exp. 1 and 2.

#### Table 4-1 continued

Gross energy, kcal/kg DM	4,564	4,671	4,793	4,642	4,770	4,827
Crude protein (N $\times$ 6.25), g/kg	204	259	288	179	223	255
1						

<sup>1</sup>RD- reference diet for experiment

<sup>2</sup>Provided the following quantities per kg of complete diet: vitamin A, 5,280 IU; vitamin D<sub>3</sub>, 528 IU; vitamin E, 35.2 IU; menadione, 1.8 mg; riboflavin, 7.0 mg; <sub>D</sub>-pantothenic acid, 17.6 mg; niacin, 26.4 mg; vitamin B<sub>12</sub>, 0.03 mg.

<sup>3</sup>Provided the following quantities per kg of complete diet: I, 0.29 mg; Mn, 13.7 mg; Cu, 7.23 mg; Fe, 155 mg; Zn, 119 mg. <sup>4</sup>Provided 0.3 mg Se/kg of complete diet.

<sup>5</sup>Provided the following quantities per kg of complete diet: vitamin A, 10,968 IU; vitamin D3, 5,286 IU; vitamin E, 22.0 IU; menadione, 8.76 mg; riboflavin, 11.0 mg; D-pantothenic acid, 22.0 mg; niacin, 88.2 mg; choline chloride, 1,542 mg; vitamin B12, 0.03 mg; biotin, 0.11 mg; thiamine mononitrate, 4.40 mg; folic acid, 1.98 mg; pyridoxine hydrochloride, 6.60 mg; I, 2.22 mg; Mn, 132 mg; Cu, 8.88 mg; Fe, 88.2 mg; Zn, 88.2 mg; Se, 0.60 mg.

<sup>6</sup>5 g Titanium dioxide plus 20 g corn.

<sup>7</sup>5 g chromium oxide plus 20 g corn.

**Table 4-2.** Proximate composition of the black soldier fly larvae meal (BSFLM)

Composition <sup>1</sup> , (%)	BSFLM
Dry matter	93.90
Gross energy, kcal/kg	5,146
Nitrogen-free extracts <sup>2</sup>	8.29
Crude protein	55.11
Crude fiber	6.85
Crude fat	14.82
Ash	7.83

<sup>1</sup>Analyzed. <sup>2</sup>Calculated: 100 – (water + crude protein + crude fiber + crude fat + ash).

		BSFL	M, g/kg		<i>P</i> -value	
Item <sup>2</sup>	$RD^1$	100	200	SEM	Linear	Quadratic
Growth performance						
Initial BW, g	548	548	548	0.6	-	-
Final BW, g	821	863	821	17.2	0.992	0.066
BW gain, g	273	315	275	17.0	0.947	0.070
Feed intake, g	409	412	348	19.9	0.049	0.186
G:F, g/kg	666	765	790	18.5	< 0.001	0.129
Ileal digestibility, %						
DM	67.23	69.56	68.37	1.746	0.633	0.402
Energy	67.62	72.79	70.58	1.934	0.298	0.142
Ileal digestible energy, kcal/kg DM	3,086	3,400	3,383	90.4	0.036	0.157
Metabolizability, %						
DM	65.21	68.03	66.27	0.718	0.315	0.021
Nitrogen	48.04	58.51	51.42	2.477	0.352	0.012
Energy	70.09	73.18	72.25	0.661	0.036	0.026
Nitrogen-corrected Energy	66.88	68.39	67.71	0.484	0.242	0.086
ME, kcal/kg DM	3,199	3,419	3,463	30.6	< 0.001	0.035
ME <sub>n</sub> , kcal/kg DM	3,070	3,219	3,268	23.2	< 0.001	0.099

**Table 4-3.** Growth performance, ileal digestibility and metabolizability of DM, nitrogen, and gross energy of chickens fed dietscontaining black soldier fly larvae meal (BSFLM) from d 16 to 21 post hatching (Exp. 1).

 ${}^{1}$ RD – reference diet in experiment 1.

<sup>2</sup>Each means represents 8 replicate cages with 8 chickens per cage; IDE = ileal digestible energy, ME = metabolizable energy,  $ME_n =$  nitrogen-corrected metabolizable energy.

					P-v	alue
Items <sup>2</sup>	$RD^1$	100	200	SEM	Linear	Quadratic
Feed intake, g/d	767	746	780	25.9	0.740	0.406
GE intake, kcal/d	3,562	3,561	3,764	123.1	0.266	0.510
Feces output, g/d	94	95	107	3.8	0.033	0.279
GE in feces, kcal/kg DM	4,579	4,405	4,386	69.0	0.067	0.370
DE intake, kcal/d	3,133	3,142	3,297	112.0	0.317	0.604
Digestibility of GE, %	87.96	88.30	87.59	0.361	0.477	0.254
DE in diet, kcal/kg DM	4,084	4,212	4,228	17.0	< 0.001	0.017
Urine output, g/d	1,520	1,464	1,360	140.0	0.433	0.891
GE in urine, kcal/kg	54	63	87	6.0	0.003	0.343
Urinary GE output, kcal/d	76	87	109	3.4	< 0.001	0.214
ME intake, kcal/d	3,057	3,055	3,188	112.2	0.422	0.632
Metabolizability of GE, %	85.83	85.78	84.69	0.366	0.046	0.267
ME in diet, kcal/kg DM	3,985	4,092	4,088	17.0	0.001	0.020

**Table 4-4.** Digestibility and metabolizability of GE in experimental diets fed to pigs evaluatedusing total collection method (Exp. 2).

 $^{1}$ RD – reference diet in experiment 2.

<sup>2</sup>Each means represents 8 observations; DE = digestible energy, ME = metabolizable energy.

		BSFLM, g/kg				<i>P</i> -value		
Items <sup>1</sup> , %	Method <sup>2</sup>	$RD^3$	100	200	SEM	Linear	Quadratic	
DM digestibility	TC	87.81	87.33	86.34	0.360	0.012	0.575	
	Ti	85.22	84.56	83.70	0.323	0.005	0.800	
	Cr	85.94	85.44	84.41	0.523	0.057	0.687	
Digestibility of GE	TC	87.96	88.30	87.59	0.361	0.477	0.254	
	Ti	85.41	85.75	85.17	0.338	0.625	0.281	
	Cr	86.15	86.58	85.80	0.608	0.687	0.429	
Digestibility of N	TC	86.79	84.56	82.09	0.869	0.002	0.914	
	Ti	83.92	84.77	84.65	0.861	0.555	0.650	
	Cr	84.75	85.65	85.27	1.010	0.721	0.613	
DE in diet, kcal/kg DM	TC	4,084	4,212	4,228	17.0	<.0001	0.017	
	Ti	3,965	4,091	4,111	15.9	<.0001	0.018	
	Cr	3,999	4,130	4,141	29.0	0.004	0.117	
Titanium recovery	Ti	82.95	82.44	84.09	2.209	0.721	0.695	
Chromium recovery	Cr	87.09	87.52	88.33	3.132	0.783	0.962	

**Table 4-5**. Apparent total tract digestibility (ATTD) estimated with various methods and marker recovery in experimental diets fed to growing pigs (Exp. 2).

 $^{1}\text{DE}$  = digestible energy. Titanium or Chromium recovery was calculated as concentration of titanium or chromium in DM weight of total fecal output divided by the concentration of titanium or chromium in DM weight of total Feed intake.

 $^{2}TC$ = total collection method; Ti = titanium dioxide index method; Cr = chromic oxide index method.

 $^{3}$ RD – reference diet in experiment 2.

			Digestibility parameters, relative % to TC method			
BSFLM level, g/kg	<sup>2</sup> Method	No of replicates	DM	GE	Nitrogen	
0	TC	8	100.00	100.00	100.00 <sup>cd</sup>	
0	Ti	8	97.07	97.12	96.70 <sup>e</sup>	
0	Cr	8	97.89	97.97	97.68 <sup>de</sup>	
100	TC	8	100.00	100.00	100.00 <sup>cd</sup>	
100	Ti	8	96.85	97.13	100.29 <sup>cd</sup>	
100	Cr	8	97.84	98.06	101.32 <sup>bc</sup>	
200	TC	8	100.00	100.00	$100.00^{cd}$	
200	Ti	8	96.96	97.25	103.15 <sup>ab</sup>	
200	Cr	8	97.78	97.96	103.88 <sup>a</sup>	
0		24	98.32	98.36	98.12	
100		24	98.23	98.40	100.54	
200		24	98.25	98.40	102.34	
	TC	24	100.00 <sup>a</sup>	$100.00^{a}$	100.00	
	Ti	24	96.96 <sup>b</sup>	97.17 <sup>b</sup>	100.04	
	Cr	24	97.83 <sup>b</sup>	$98.00^{b}$	100.96	
<sup>3</sup> SEM			0.573	0.537	0.692	
P value						
BSFLM level			0.970	0.993	< 0.001	
Method level			< 0.001	< 0.001	0.279	
BSFLM level*Method			0.999	0.999	< 0.001	

 Table 4-6. Digestibility parameters expressed as a relative percentage to total collection method<sup>1</sup> (Exp. 2)

<sup>1</sup>BSFLM = black soldier fly larvae meal. Each least squares mean represents 8 observations.

 $^{2}$ TC= total collection method; Ti = titanium dioxide index method; Cr = chromic oxide index method.

 $^{3}$ SEM = standard error of mean for simple effects.

<sup>a,b,c,d,e</sup>Means within a column without a common superscript differ at P < 0.05.

Item <sup>2</sup>		Regression equation <sup>1</sup>	R-square	SD
Exp. 1				
IDE		Y = 4,517 (676.7) × BSFLM + 22.17 (28.633)	0.669	87.3
ME		Y = 4,725 (308.1) × BSFLM + 8.27 (13.036)	0.914	39.7
ME <sub>n</sub>		Y = 4,238 (240.9) × BSFLM + 4.46 (10.191)	0.933	31.1
Exp. 2				
	Method <sup>3</sup>			
DE	TC	Y = 5,010 (0.187) × BSFLM + 66.70 (93.736)	0.970	293.9
DE	Ti	$Y = 4,907 (0.176) \times BSFLM + 67.21 (88.389)$	0.972	277.1
DE	Cr	$Y = 4,927 (0.206) \times BSFLM + 71.35 (102.925)$	0.963	322.7
ME	TC	$Y = 4,711 (0.188) \times BSFLM + 66.46 (94.063)$	0.966	294.9
	P values			
$DE_{TC}$ vs $DE_{Ti}$	0.690			
$DE_{TC}$ vs $DE_{Cr}$	0.766			
$DE_{Ti} vs DE_{Cr}$	0.941			

**Table 4-7.** Regression equations relating test ingredient-associated gross energy intake (kcal/kg) to test ingredient intake (g/kg DM) using black soldier fly larvae meal (BSFLM) in Exp. 1 and 2.

<sup>1</sup> Values in parentheses are SE; Y is in kcal, Slope is in kcal/kg DM, Intercept is in kcal. <sup>2</sup>IDE = ileal digestible energy; DE = digestible energy; ME = metabolizable Energy; ME<sub>n</sub> = nitrogen-

DE = near digestible energy, DE = digestible energy, ME = introduction and Energy,  $ME_n =$  introgencorrected metabolizable energy. The IDE, DE, ME, or MEn in BSFLM were estimated by the slope of the regression equation.

 ${}^{3}TC$  = total collection method; Ti = titanium dioxide index method; Cr = chromic oxide index method.

# CHAPTER 5. SUMMARY

# 5.1 Summary

The importance of adequate supply of dietary energy cannot be overemphasised as dietary energy content could modulate feed efficiency. All the studies conducted in this thesis further reinforced that as dietary energy increases, decreasing feed intake is observed, this is because animals will only eat to their energy satisfaction (Nyachoti et al., 2004; Jeffre et al., 2010). The effect of this feed intake adjustment is observed to impact other physiological functions such as growth and synthesis of new tissues (Kil et al., 2013). In order to prevent the shortcomings related to disproportionate energy concentration in diets, modern monogastric production needs to match dietary energy supply with energy requirements for maintenance and productive functions. This thesis work adds to the information pool regarding feed ingredient's energy values, specifically when the examined non-conventional ingredients are formulated into the diet of broiler chickens and pigs.

In Chapter 1, important factors to consider when formulating diets to meet the energy requirement of swine and poultry, especially when it relates to effective energy deposition and utilization were reviewed. Subsequently, the chapter highlighted some of the peculiarities associated with the use of fat, protein, and carbohydrates as energy sources. Most literature revealed that protein generates more heat increment than fat or carbohydrates, and that the lower heat increment of fat causes an extra caloric effect which is linked to an improved utilization of metabolizable energy calories. Furthermore, some lesser-known feed ingredient that could be used as alternative fat, fiber, or protein source were introduced.

In Chapter 2, the objective was to investigate utilization of energy in dry fat (DF) and stabilized rice bran (SRB) by broiler chickens. Two experiments were conducted. Three diets were prepared: a corn-soybean meal reference diet (RD) and two test diets containing either DF at 50 or 100 g/kg replacement in Experiment (Exp.) 1 or SRB at 100 or 200 g/kg replacement (Exp. 2) of the energy-contributing ingredients in the RD. The experimental diets were fed from d 17 through d 22 post hatching. Results obtained from this study revealed that ether extract of DF could not be obtained, this was because the fatty acids in DF were not in a free form but were part of a calcium salt containing long chain fatty acids, therefore acid hydrolysis was performed. It was also inferred

that excessive inclusion DF could shift the Ca:P balance leading to deleterious effect on growth performance. For this reason and possible palatability tolerance level, an inclusion level of about 5% was recommended for DF in broiler chicken's diet. It was also observed that birds fed on diets with SRB inclusion had similar ileal digestible energy (IDE), metabolizable energy (ME) and nitrogen-corrected ME (MEn) with birds fed RD although a decline was observed in feed efficiency. From the results, we concluded that broiler chickens were able to utilize between 77 to 79% and 68 to 76% of the GE in DF and SRB, respectively. The respective regression-derived IDE, ME, and MEn estimates (kcal/kg DM) for DF were 6,047, 6,051, and 5,922. Respective estimates for SRB were 3,556, 3,437, and 3,193kcal/kg DM.

Chapter 3 included three experiments with the common objective of determining the energy value of hydrolyzed feather meal (HFM) and flash-dried poultry protein (FDPP) in broiler chickens and pigs. The HFM or FDPP were incorporated into a reference diet either at 3 levels (0, 75, or 150 g/kg) in Exp. 1 and 2 or 2 levels (0, 150 g/kg) in Exp. 3 by replacing the energy-yielding ingredients. The results from these experiments showed that HFM has a higher constituent of crude protein than FDPP, but its ash content is approximately 10 percentage points lower than that of FDPP. Energy values derived for HFM in chickens and pigs in this study were observed to be higher than previously reported in literatures (Pesti et al., 1989; Dale, 1992; and NRC, 2012). This suggested that energy concentration in HFM could be said to have been progressively utilized with better efficiency over the last decades and this might be due to improvement in processing techniques and management of poultry by-product. Also, results showed that broiler chickens utilize higher percentage of FDPP than pigs at the ME level. The regression-derived IDE, ME, and MEn concentrations in HFM were 4,509, 4,250, and 3,745 kcal/kg while those in FDPP were 3,221, 4,710, and 4,081 kcal/kg, respectively. In pigs, the DE and ME derived for HFM and FDPP were not different. Evaluated DE and ME concentration in HFM for pigs were 4,783 and 4,405 kcal/kg, respectively while those for FDPP were 4,553 and 4,320 kcal/kg, respectively.

The main objective of Chapter 4 was to determine the IDE, ME, and MEn of BSFLM in broiler chickens and its DE and ME in pigs. Additionally, the chapter reported the DE of BSFLM derived using 3 methods which included total collection (TC), titanium index (Ti), and chromium index (Cr) methods in pigs. In Exp 1 and 2, three diets were prepared: a corn-soybean meal reference diet (RD) and two test diets containing BSFLM at either 100 or 200 g/kg replacement of the energy-contributing ingredients in the RD. Results suggest a diminishing utilization of the test ingredient at a point beyond 100 g/kg of inclusion, and that broiler chickens and pigs have similar utilization of the test ingredient especially at the ME level. Also, the comparison of the DE in BSFLM using three methods indicated no difference although the recovery of chromium index marker was numerically higher than that of titanium. It was concluded that the choice of marker type does not largely impact digestibility results. Results from this thesis could help broiler chicken and swine farmers expand the scope of their feed ingredient as this thesis provides information that aids with ease of formulating these non-conventional feed ingredients into diets. Further research may be needed to properly investigate the growth performance of chickens and pigs feed on FDPP and BSFLM at various growth phases. This could better promote the credibility of these non-conventional feed ingredients to farmers. Further research that bridges the knowledge gap between the prebiotic effect of BSFLM chitin content and optimal growth performance response in broiler chickens or pigs is also needed to guide against the possible deleterious effect of over inclusion of chitin as a result of its significant presence in BSFLM.

#### 5.2 Literature Cited

- Dale, N. 1992. True metabolizable energy of feather meal. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 1 : 331-334. doi: 10.1093/japr/1.3.331
- Jeffre D. F., H. Leigh and A. Kamyab. 2010. Comparison of soybean oil with an Animal/vegetable blend at four energy levels in broiler rations from hatch to market. *Int. J. Poult Sci. 9:* 1027-1030 doi: 10.3923/ijps.2010.1027.1030
- Kil, D. Y., Kim, B. G., and Stein, H. H. 2013. Feed energy evaluation for growing pigs. *Asian-Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 26: 1205. doi: 10.5713%2Fajas.2013.r.02
- Nyachoti, C. M., Zijlstra, R. T., De Lange, C. F. M., and Patience, J. F. 2004. Voluntary feed intake in growing-finishing pigs: A review of the main determining factors and potential approaches for accurate predictions. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 84: 549-566. doi: 10.4141/A04-001
- National Research Council (NRC). 2012. *Nutrient requirements of swine*. 11<sup>th</sup> rev. ed. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Pesti, G. M., Dale, N. M., and Farrell, D. J. 1989. Research note: A comparison of methods to determine the metabolizable energy of feather meal. *Poult. Sci.* 68: 443-446. doi: 10.3382/ps.0680443

# VITA

# Opeadura Timileyin Osunbami Graduate School, Purdue University

# **Education**

B. Agric., Animal Sciences, 2017, Obafemi Awolowo University, Ile-Ife, Osun-state, NigeriaM.S., Animal Sciences, 2021, Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana, USA

# **Publication**

Osunbami, O. T., Aderibigbe, A. S., and Adeola, O. 2021. Energy value of dry fat and stabilized rice bran for broiler chickens. *British Poultry Science*. Doi: 10.1080/00071668.2021.1940863 <u>Research Interests:</u> Energy Utilization in Feed ingredients for Monogastric Animals. Amino Acids Utilization and Metabolism.